

This item was submitted to Loughborough's Institutional Repository by the author and is made available under the following Creative Commons Licence conditions.

COMMONS DEED
Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 2.5
You are free:
 to copy, distribute, display, and perform the work
Under the following conditions:
Attribution . You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author or licensor.
Noncommercial. You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
No Derivative Works. You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.
 For any reuse or distribution, you must make clear to others the license terms of this work
 Any of these conditions can be waived if you get permission from the copyright holder.
Your fair use and other rights are in no way affected by the above.
This is a human-readable summary of the Legal Code (the full license).
Disclaimer 🖵

For the full text of this licence, please go to: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/





Analysis of Steep Sided Landfill Lining Systems

Gary John Fowmes

Golder Associates (UK) Ltd Attenborough House Browns Lane Business Park Stanton-on-the-Wolds Nottinghamshire NG12 5BL Centre for Innovative Construction Engineering (CICE) Department of Civil and Building Engineering Loughborough University Loughborough Leics, LE11 3TU

ANALYSIS OF STEEP SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEMS

By Gary Fowmes

A Dissertation Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Engineering Doctorate (EngD) of Loughborough University

[November 2007]

© Gary John Fowmes [2007]

Golder Associates (UK) Ltd Attenborough House Browns Lane Business Park Stanton-on-the-Wolds Nottinghamshire NG12 5BL Centre for Innovative Construction Engineering (CICE) Department of Civil and Building Engineering Loughborough University Loughborough Leics, LE11 3TU

Abstract

The EC Landfill Directive (1999), which is enforced in England and Wales through the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations (2002), has increased the technical challenge associated with the design and construction of landfill containment systems, in particular those on steep side slopes. Increased numbers of lining system components, varied configurations, and complex loading scenarios require advanced analysis tools to facilitate design.

This project involved the development of advanced numerical modelling techniques, based on the FLAC finite difference modelling code. The analysis toolbox can be used to predict the behaviour of multilayered geosynthetic and soil lining systems, during and after staged construction. The model can include non-linear interface and geosynthetic axial properties, represent complex loading, including downdrag from the waste mass, whilst retaining the flexibility to represent varied geometries and include engineered support structures.

Whilst numerical modelling is becoming increasingly commonplace in commercial design, there is little evidence of the validation of numerical models with field or experimental data. Validation of the analysis toolbox described in this document was conducted by back analysis of published data, modelling of landfill failure mechanisms, and comparisons to large scale laboratory testing. Design of field scale instrumentation has also been carried out as part of this project.

The influence of interface shear strength variability has been assessed through the compilation of a comprehensive database, and the effect of this variability on lining system behaviour assessed through reliability based analyses. This has shown probability of failures may be higher than proposed limiting values when adopting traditional accepted factors of safety.

A key area of interest identified during the project was the requirement for support, potentially through reinforcement, of the geological barrier. The inclusion of randomly reinforced fibres in bentonite enhanced soil has shown the potential for increased strength, without adverse effects on hydraulic barrier performance.

Additionally, the influence of geomembrane seams on lining system integrity has been investigated, showing that fusion welded seams can result in stress concentration and extruded seams can cause significant stress concentration.

Key Words

- Landfill engineering,
- Landfill design,
- Landfill directive,
- Steep sided lining systems,
- Steepwall lining systems,
- Geosynthetics, waste barrier interaction,
- Numerical modelling,
- Interface shear strength variability,
- Reliability based design,
- Randomly reinforced soil,
- Geomembrane seams.

Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to express my gratitude to the EPSRC, Loughborough University and Golder Associates (UK) Ltd. for providing funding, equipment and facilities that made this project possible.

I would like to thank my supervisors Neil Dixon, at Loughborough University, and Russell Jones, at Golder Associates, for their support, advice and time throughout the course of the project. Without their commitment to the project and extensive knowledge about the subject area, this project could not have succeeded. Equally they have both been good friends over the last four years, making it also extremely enjoyable.

All of the staff at Loughborough University have always been encouraging and helpful, and I would particularly like to acknowledge, Jo Brewin, Colette Bujdoso, Sara Cowin, Matthew Frost, Paul Fleming, Ashraf El-Hamalawi. Similarly the staff at Golder Associates have been very supportive, informative, and remained interested throughout the project. I would particularly like to acknowledge Julian Jones, Bryan Willan, Jeremy Lightfoot, Adrian Needham, Karen Walton and Caroline Bateman.

Many thanks to the examiners, Matthew Frost, Stephanie Glendinning and Steve Corbet for their time in reading the manuscript and their comments on the research.

To all of my friends, thank you for the laughter.

Finally, by no means least, I would like to thank my fiancée, Victoria, and my parents, Valerie and John, for the support, encouragement and enthusiasm, without which this project could not have been possible.

Table of Contents

ABST	RACT	Ι
KEY WORDS		II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS TABLE OF CONTENTS		
LIST OF TABLES		
LIST	OF FIGURES	VI VI
ABBI	REVIATIONS	VIII
APPE	NDICES	IX
1.0		1
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	RESEARCH CONTEXT	1
1.2	LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY WASTE RESEARCH GROUP	5
1.3	INDUSTRIAL SPONSOR: GOLDER ASSOCIATES	6
1.4	REQUIREMENTS OF SPONSORING ORGANISATION	7
1.5	AIM	7
1.6	OBJECTIVES	7
1.7	JUSTIFICATION OF OBJECTIVES	8
2.0	BACKGROUND TO RESEARCH AREA	9
2.1	LANDFILL DESIGN PRACTICE	9
2.2	KEY LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM COMPONENTS	9
2.	2.1 Geological barrier	9
2.	2.2 Artificial sealing liners	10
2.3	STEEP SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEMS	11
2.4	RELIABILITY BASED LANDFILL DESIGN	14
2.5	NUMERICAL MODELLING OF LANDFILL LINING SYSTEMS	15
3.0	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND TASK BREAKDOWN	19
3.1	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	19
3.2	RESEARCH TASK BREAKDOWN	19
3.3	RESEARCH OVERVIEW	23
3.4	Methodology Summary	23
4.0	RESEARCH SUMMARY	24
4.1	REVIEW OF LANDFILL DESIGN PHILOSOPHY	24
4.2	CONTROLLING FAILURE MECHANISMS	25
4.3	INTERFACE SHEAR STRENGTH VARIABILITY	25
4.4	NUMERICAL ANALYSIS IN LANDFILL ENGINEERING	31
4.	4.1 Selection of numerical modelling code	31
4.	4.2 FLAC Numerical modelling terminology and features	34
4.	4.3 FLAC interface logic	35
	4.4.3.1 Interface stiffness	36 27
1	4.4.5.2 Interface interpenetration. 4.4 Parameter acquisition	37
7.	4441 Waste properties	38
	4.4.4.2 Geosynthetic tensile properties	38
	4.4.3 Interface testing	39
	4.4.4.4 Soil strength and stiffness	39
4.	4.5 FISH programming language	40
1 5	4.4.5.1 Linked list data structure	40
4.5	DEVELOPMENT OF FLAC ANALYSIS TOOLBOX	41
4. 1	 J.1 SUBSEU CONSTRUCTION 5.2 Modelling multiple layer geosynthetic lining systems 	42 12
4. 1	5.2 Intouching multiple layer geosynthetic uning systems 5.3 Strain dependent multiple layered interfaces	43 12
4. 1	5.4 Arial response of geosynthetics	45 16
4. 1	5.5 Influence of waste stiffness	40 10
7. 1	5.6 Waste constitutive behaviour	52
4. 4	5.7 Geosynthetic anchorage	.53
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

4. 4.	5.8 Reinforced soil 5.9 Compacted clav liners	54 54
4.	5.10 Subgrade and waste fluid pressures	55
4.	5.11 Data acquisition and management	55
4.6	DESIGN TOOLBOX DOCUMENT	56
4.7	VALIDATION OF NUMERICAL ANALYSIS TOOLBOX	58
4.	7.1 Comparisons with Villard et al. (1999)	58
4.	7.2 Back analysis of a steep wall geosynthetic integrity failure 7.2 Field instrumentation	01 64
4.	4731 Landfill "A" Instrumentation	65
	4.7.3.2 Landfill "B" Instrumentation	66
4.	7.4 Fibre optic instrumentation	67
4.8	VALIDATION OF FLAC USING A LARGE SCALE LABORATORY MODEL	68
4.	8.1 Laboratory testing apparatus	69
4.	8.2 Instrumentation	72
	4.8.2.1 Synthetic waste settlement 4.8.2.2 Geomembrane displacement	72
	4.8.2.3 Geomembrane tension	73
4.	8.3 Selection of synthetic waste	73
4.	8.4 Preliminary testing	74
4.	8.5 Numerical modelling of 1m ³ laboratory model	75
4.	8.6 Laboratory and FLAC results	77
4.9	KEINFORCEMENT OF MINERAL LINING SYSTEMS	/9 70
4. 4	9.1 Requirements for reinforcement 9.2 Randomly reinforced fibres theory	80
4. 4	9.3 Rentonite enhanced soil reinforcement	82
4.	9.4 Results	82
4.10	CONSTRUCTION CONSIDERATIONS: GEOMEMBRANE SEAMS	83
5.0	DISCUSSION	87
5.1	INTERFACE SHEAR STRENGTH VARIABILITY	87
5.2	NUMERICAL ANALYSIS TOOLBOX	90
5.3	VALIDATION OF LANDFILL LINING ANALYSIS TOOLS	94
5.4	REINFORCEMENT OF THE GEOLOGICAL BARRIER	96
3.5	STEEP SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM DESIGN CONCEPTS	9/
5.	5.1 Luteral support 5.2 Three dimensional design considerations	97
5.	5.3 Inclusion of the geological barrier	98
5.	5.4 Drainage layer placement and integrity	98
5.6	STEEP SIDED LANDFILL CONSTRUCTION	99
5.	6.1 Seam inclusions	99
5.	6.2 Placement of the geological barrier	99
5.	6.3 Construction plant	100
). 57	D.4 Health and safety D ECONDUCTION FOR FUTURE REGEARCH	100
5.7	KECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	101
5.	7.2 Waste creen and degradation model	101
5.	7.3 Mineral barrier reinforcement	102
5.	7.4 Mineral barrier permeability-deformation relationships	102
6.0	IMPLICATIONS FOR INDUSTRY	104
6.1	THE KEY FINDINGS OF THE RESEARCH	104
6.2	IMPLICATIONS FOR GOLDER ASSOCIATES	104
6.3	IMPLICATIONS FOR WIDER INDUSTRY	105
6.4	CRITICAL EVALUATION OF THE RESEARCH	106
7.0	CONCLUSIONS	107
8.0	REFERENCES	109
9.0 WITH	FULL LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND TECHNICAL REPORTS ASSOCIATED THIS PROJECT	116

10.0 APPENDICES

List of Tables

21
AL.
61
63
65
72
74
84

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1 TYPICAL LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM COMPONENTS (REPRODUCED FROM PAPER 1)	2
FIGURE 1.2 LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY LANDFILL ENGINEERING RESEARCH GROUP ACTIVITIES	6
FIGURE 2.1 STEEP SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM LOADING FAILURE MECHANISMS (REPRODUCED FR	OM
PAPER 1)	12
FIGURE 2.2 STEEP SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM FAILURE MECHANISMS	12
FIGURE 2.3 REINFORCED SOIL MINERAL LINER SUPPORT SYSTEM	13
FIGURE 2.4 "CHRISTMAS TREE" LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM (AFTER JONES AND DIXON 2003)	14
FIGURE 3.1 RESEARCH MAP	22
FIGURE 4.1 CAUTIOUS ESTIMATE INTERFACE SHEAR STRENGTHS FOR GEOMEMBRANE TENSILE STRESS	
ANALYSIS	26
FIGURE 4.2 CALCULATION CYCLE IN FLAC (ITASCA 2002)	32
FIGURE 4.3 CONTINUUM INTERFACE ELEMENTS IN PLAXIS (ATTACHED TO 15 NODE SOIL ELEMENTS)	33
FIGURE 4.4 AN EXAMPLE FLAC MODELLING GRID, SHOWN IN X,Y SPACE.	35
FIGURE 4.5 AN EXAMPLE FLAC MODELLING GRID (USING THE SAME MODEL AS IN FIGURE 4.4), SHOW	N
IN I,J SPACE.	35
FIGURE 4.6 INFLUENCE OF INTERFACE SHEAR STIFFNESS	37
FIGURE 4.7 INTERFACE INTERPENETRATION	38
FIGURE 4.8 SSINT.FIS FISH CODE CYCLE	45
FIGURE 4.9 SCHEMATIC NON-LINEAR GEOMEMBRANE AXIAL RESPONSE	48
FIGURE 4.10 SCHEMATIC DEFINITION OF A "PIECEWISE" STRESS-STRAIN RELATIONSHIP	49
FIGURE 4.11 INFLUENCE OF WASTE STIFFNESS ON DEFORMATIONS IN A SIDED LANDFILL LINING SYSTEM	М
FOR (A) A 55° and (b) A 75° steep sided landfill lining system.	50
FIGURE 4.12 DESIGN FLOWCHART (AFTER FOWMES, 2007B)	57
FIGURE 4.13 FLAC MODELLING GRID FOR COMPARISON WITH RESULTS FROM VILLARD <i>ET AL.</i> (1999)	60
FIGURE 4.14 COMPARISON BETWEEN FLAC MODEL AND VILLARD ET AL. (1999) FOR STAGE I (LC 1 TO)
6M)	60
FIGURE 4.15 SCHEMATIC OF THE LINING SYSTEM AT A SOUTHEAST ASIAN LANDFILL (AFTER FOWMES .	ET
<i>AL</i> . 2006B)	62
FIGURE 4.16 LANDFILL INTEGRITY FAILURE (FOLLOWING EXHUMATION)	62
FIGURE 4.17 GEOMEMBRANE STRESS STRAIN DISTRIBUTION (AFTER FOWMES <i>et al.</i> 2006B)	64
FIGURE 4.18 STEEP SIDED LINING SYSTEM USED AT "SITE B" LANDFILL (AFTER GOLDER ASSOCIATES,	
2006)	67
FIGURE 4.19 SCHEMATIC DRAWING OF LABORATORY TEST CHAMBER (REPRODUCED FROM PAPER 5)	70
FIGURE 4.20 PHOTOGRAPH OF LABORATORY TEST CHAMBER	71
FIGURE 4.21 AXIAL FORCE IN THE GEOMEMBRANE AS A FUNCTION OF COMPRESSIVE MODULUS	
REDUCTION	77
FIGURE 4.22 FIBRE REINFORCEMENT THEORY	81
FIGURE 4.23 (A) A CROSS SECTION THROUGH AN EXTRUSION WELDED SEAM AND (B) A TAB FROM FUSIO	ON
WELDED SEAM.	83

FIGURE 4.24 TENSION IN LLDPE GEOMEMBRANE WITH AND WITHOUT WELDED SEAMS	84
FIGURE 4.25 Folding of the geotextile approximately 500 mm above the base of the sampl	E IN
TEST WITH EXTRUSION WELDED SEAM.	85
FIGURE 4.26 Folding of the geotextile approximately 500 mm above the base of the sampl	E IN
TEST WITH FUSION WELDED SEAM.	86
FIGURE 5.1 INTERACTION BETWEEN THIS RESEARCH AND OTHER LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY	
LANDFILL ENGINEERING RESEARCH GROUP ACTIVITIES	94

Abbreviations

BES	Bentonite enhanced soil
COV	Coefficient of variation
CQA	Construction Quality Assurance
DSA	Direct shear apparatus
FEM	Finite element model
FDM	Finite difference model
FISH	FLACish (FLAC inbuilt subroutine compiler)
FLAC	Fast Lagrangian Analysis of Continua (numerical modelling code)
GCL	Geosynthetic clay liner
GM	Geomembrane
GT	Geotextile
HDPE	High density polyethylene
LLDPE	Linear-low density polyethylene
MSW	Municipal solid waste
OMC	Optimum moisture content
PPC	Pollution prevention and control
RRBES	Randomly reinforced bentonite enhanced soil
RSA	Ring shear apparatus

Appendices

- Appendix 1 Paper 1 Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007b).
 Landfill stability and integrity: the UK design approach. *ICE* J. of Waste and Resource Management. May 2007, WR2, 51–61.
- Appendix 2 Paper 2 Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Fowmes, G.J. (2006). Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. *Geosynthetics International*. Vol. 13, No1. p 1.
- Appendix 3 Paper 3 Fowmes, G.J., Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005c).
 Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. *Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium*, Sardinia. pp369.
- Appendix 4 Paper 4 Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. (2006a) Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems. *Proc. 5th International Congress on Environmental Geotechnics*, Cardiff, UK, June 2006. 709 716.
- Appendix 5Paper 5Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007c)Validation of a numerical modelling technique for
multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems. *Geotextiles
and Geomembranes* 26 (2008) 109–121.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Research Context

Despite the increasing reuse and recycling of waste materials, there is, and will be, for the foreseeable future, a requirement to dispose of waste and waste processing end product to landfill. Landfills must be engineered to protect the environment from the harmful and hazardous compounds in the waste materials, such that the materials are separated from the environment until they reach a stable state at which they will no longer pollute. As sites available for landfill become increasingly scarce, and despite the greater technical challenges associated with the design and construction of lining systems for steep sided quarries, the use of such sites is becoming increasingly commercially viable.

A typical landfill lining system is shown in Figure 1.1 and comprises of a geological barrier (typically in the UK a low permeability fine grained soil) overlain by a geomembrane, thus forming a "composite barrier". The geomembrane provides a very low permeability layer, however, geomembranes are susceptible to damage during placement and compaction of subsequent layers. Therefore, the underlying clay, when placed with good contact with the geomembrane, prevents migration of fluids which pass through defects in the geomembrane. A geotextile is typically used to protect the geomembrane from the overlying drainage layer to avoid puncturing and reduce strains in the liner induced by the overlying drainage material. Many configurations of the lining systems exist, whereby additional geosynthetic clay liners (GCL) may be included and geocomposite drainage layers used in addition to or *in lieu* of granular drainage (Jones and Dixon, 2003).



Figure 1.1 Typical landfill lining system components (reproduced from Paper 1)

In 1999 the EC Landfill directive was published, which is enforced in England and Wales through the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations (2002). The Environment Agency Landfill Regulatory Guidance Note 6 (RGN6) gives an interpretation of the engineering requirements of the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations (2002). This provides requirements of lining system construction and components, and has significant implications for steep sided landfill design with the *requirement* for inclusion of a geological barrier; usually in the UK this is compacted clay, along the base and up the side slope. Steep sided lining systems present a particular challenge as a geological barrier, granular drainage layers, geosynthetic and soil interfaces will exist at angles at which they are not naturally stable in the long term, and, therefore, support is required. Support can be provided by the waste mass, engineered fill buttresses, reinforced soil, or other engineered structures.

Under the EC landfill directive, waste is classified as hazardous, non-hazardous or inert. This project is primarily focused on municipal soil waste (MSW) landfill which is typically classified as non-hazardous, and references to waste and the waste body refer to MSW. MSW typically experiences large primary, secondary and creep settlements, thus making analysis of MSW landfill lining systems challenging. The

tools developed in this project can also be applied to hazardous and inert landfill lining systems.

There is often poor use of terminology surrounding steep sided lining systems, and there is often an assumption that steep sided landfill lining systems are near vertical. Other definitions of a steep sided landfill suggest slope angles in excess of 30° are "steep" (Jones and Dixon, 2003). It is suggested that a classification of steep sided landfill be based on the stability of the internal components and the following definition of steep slope is suggested:

"A steep slope lining system is a side slope lining system placed at an angle, at, or greater than the limiting value at which the geological barrier, drainage layer, or artificial sealing liners are naturally stable without application of additional loads from the waste mass, anchorage or engineered support structures." (Fowmes, 2007b)

Jones and Dixon (2003 and 2005) state that lining systems should be considered in terms of stability and integrity. Stability failure is considered as the ultimate limit state, where large scale movements occur with complete loss of function of the lining system, whilst integrity, the serviceability limit state, may involve small scale movements, resulting in overstressing, and hence loss of function in lining system elements such as geosynthetics and the geological barrier.

As landfill design has advanced, particularly in response to the EC Landfill Directive (1999), more complex multicomponent lining systems are being designed and constructed, particularly for steep sided lining systems. Analysis of multicomponent lining systems exposed to complex loads requires more sophisticated analysis tools than traditional limit equilibrium analyses.

One of the aims of this project is to develop and validate analysis tools for assessing landfill lining system behaviour, both in terms of stability and integrity, before, during and after construction. The analysis tools consider individual components and the behaviour of interfaces between them. The analyses also consider complex loading scenarios arising from staged construction, waste mass loadings and waste settlement induced downdrag forces.

Input parameter variability is considered, in particular interface shear strength variability. This is of importance as typical design practice is to obtain only limited, if any, site specific parameters to justify designs. Additionally, the project also addresses areas of concern within typical designs and considers innovative materials to improve barrier response. The project can be divided in to sub-projects as listed below:

- Review of current state-of-the-art landfill stability and integrity analyses;
- Interface shear strength variability: Compilation of a large interface shear strength database and use of the derived values in probabilistic design;
- Development of numerical analysis tools for use in the design of steep sided landfill lining systems;
- Investigation into the use of fibre reinforced soil to reduce strains in mineral lining systems; and
- Validation of numerical modelling techniques using literature field data, site observations, and large scale field instrumentation.

Limit equilibrium techniques are typically used for lining system stability and integrity analyses, however, these do not take into account the complex loading conditions that can occur adjacent to a settling waste mass. Limit equilibrium analysis does not consider movements and strains required to mobilise strength in lining system components or at interfaces.

Section 2.0 introduced briefly models that can be used to assess stability and integrity of landfill lining systems, most of which have concentrated on particular aspects of the design. Whilst advances in interface modelling allow large displacements and consideration of individual geosynthetics (Villard *et al.* 1999), a modelling approach is required which can assess both stability and integrity for both geosynthetic and mineral lining systems, whilst also considering complex loading from waste weight,

waste lateral loading, and down drag. In addition, to model steep sided landfill lining system, additional engineering support structures need to be considered and the model needs be able to take this into account.

Villard *et al.* (1999) attempted to validate his model of lining system behaviour, however, this was only carried out for the unconfined state, (see section 4.7.1). This project is required to develop and to validate numerical modelling techniques, particularly, but not exclusively, with respect to shear strains and displacements in multiple layered geosynthetic lining systems. Further validation of numerical modelling is required to allow commercial application with confidence.

Whilst previous modelling using the FLAC code has considered a single strain dependent interface, to assess strain in geosynthetics, this project must include each geosynthetic as a separate layer, with an interface above and below.

1.2 Loughborough University waste research group

This project was conducted concurrently with three other research projects which researched the engineering behaviour of landfills. Figure 1.2 shows the areas of research carried out by the waste research group and the areas addressed by this project. The nature of the Engineering Doctorate programme allowed a broader spectrum of areas to be addressed than a typical PhD, and also allowed commercial application of developed techniques.



Primary consideration of this project

Primarily addressed by other researchers but considered in this project



1.3 Industrial Sponsor: Golder Associates

Golder Associates (Golder) is a consultancy specialising in a wide range of ground engineering and environmental market sectors. Golder was formed in 1960 and now has in excess of 6100 employees, 147 offices, operating from 28 countries globally (figures accurate as of 27th November 2007).

Golder is employee owned, and only permanent employees are able to purchase shares in the company. Share ownership is recognised at two levels, whereby,

combined with technical and managerial abilities, employees can be awarded Associate and then Principal status within of the company.

Golder was commissioned by the Environment Agency to produce the landfill engineering literature review and *de facto* guidance documents, R&D P1-385 TR 1 and TR2. (Jones and Dixon, 2003; Dixon and Jones, 2003), and Golder has a strong ethos for technical development and progress, not only in landfill engineering, but across the geotechnical and geoenvironmental engineering sectors.

1.4 Requirements of sponsoring organisation

Golder required the development of commercially applicable analysis techniques for use in landfill stability and integrity risk assessments of landfill containment systems. Analysis tools were required to assess both stability and integrity of multilayered lining systems, containing both mineral and geosynthetic lining components, and subject to complex loading conditions as a result of the adjacent waste material.

1.5 Aim

The aim is to improve and develop analysis tools and methodologies to be used for the assessment, in terms of stability and integrity, of landfill containment systems, particularly those involving steep side slope lining systems.

1.6 Objectives

The objectives of this project are:

- To review current design state of the art and state of practice and to identify the critical controlling factors in the design of steep sided landfill lining systems;
- To collate an interface shear strength database from all available internal (company and university) and published sources and to use the data to assess the variability, and the influence of this variability, on reliability of stability analyses;

- To develop analysis tools for multicomponent landfill lining systems exposed to complex forces;
- To investigate the use of innovative barrier materials for use on steep side slopes; and
- 5. To validate multilayered lining system design tools against laboratory and field data.

1.7 Justification of Objectives

The requirements for assessment of stability and integrity in UK design practice have increased since the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations (2002) and the Environment Agency *de facto* guidance, P1-385/TR2, Dixon and Jones (2003) was introduced. Assessment of stability can usually be completed using conventional limit equilibrium analysis techniques, however, integrity was previously often ignored. This project, therefore, was required to develop an analysis framework for stability and integrity of landfill lining systems, and to identify, develop and validate tools for the assessment of integrity of the lining system.

The objectives were derived as a balance between the direct requirements of development by Golder and academic requirements to develop an integrated understanding of the behaviour of multiple layer steep sided landfill lining systems. Golder's primary requirement from the project was to develop a design toolbox to allow the analysis of steep sided landfill lining systems to be conducted. Work by Jones (1999) had demonstrated the capabilities of the FLAC numerical modelling code to analyse large displacement problems involving landfills, however, further development was required to produce commercially applicable design methodologies using the numerical code that allowed geosynthetic lining systems to be included and hence strains in lining system components to be assessed.

2.0 Background to research area

2.1 Landfill design practice

The Environment Agency has published a literature review (Jones and Dixon, 2003) on the stability and integrity of landfill lining systems, and a landfill design guidance document (Dixon and Jones, 2003). Paper 1 gives an outline of current UK design guidance for landfill containment systems, including steep sided landfill lining systems. This research updates the literature review by Jones and Dixon (2003) with additional literature published subsequent to the guidance. The paper is intended to provide a design framework identifying the factors that should be considered when assessing the stability and integrity of a landfill containment system.

2.2 Key landfill lining system components

Figure 1.1 shows a typical UK landfill lining system adopted on a shallow side slope. Jones and Dixon (2003) summarise alternative combinations which can include Geosynthetic Clay Liners (GCLs), Bentonite Enhanced Soils (BES) and geocomposite drainage layers *in lieu* of, or in addition to, the mineral barrier, geosynthetic barrier layer or drainage gravel. The barrier design will depend on the hydrogeological and gas migration requirements of the barrier and also the availability of local materials, however, the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002, now requires specific components of the lining system to be included.

2.2.1 Geological barrier

The Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002 state that:

"(4) The landfill base and sides shall consist of a mineral layer which provides protection of soil, groundwater and surface water at least equivalent to that resulting from the following permeability and thickness requirements:

(a) in a landfill for hazardous waste: k <= 1.0 × 10⁻⁹ metre/second: thickness ≥ 5 metres;
(b) in a landfill for non-hazardous waste: k <= 1.0 × 10⁻⁹ metre/second: thickness ≥ 1 metres;

(c) in a landfill for inert waste: $k \le 1.0 \times 10^{-7}$ metre/second: thickness ≥ 1 metres.

(5) Where the geological barrier does not meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (4) naturally, it may be completed artificially and reinforced by other means providing equivalent protection; but in any such case a geological barrier established by artificial means must be at least 0.5 metres thick."

Whilst the requirements are for a geological barrier measuring 1m minimum thickness, paragraph (5) allows the reduction in this thickness with adequate risk assessment, of equivalent barrier protection. Although it may be possible to achieve the permeability and cation exchange requirements using geosynthetic clay liners (GCLs), the requirement for the barrier to be 0.5m minimum thickness precludes the use of these alone to represent the mineral liner. This is primarily due to concerns about puncturing and deformation of a < 500 mm thick layer. Paragraph (5) allows the inclusion of other barrier layers to account for the equivalent protection if the mineral layer is less than 1m thick and has a permeability in excess of 1.0×10^{-9} ms⁻¹.

Reinforcement may be considered to provide support to the geological barrier, however, reinforcements which pass through the clay barrier can not be considered as there are concerns that a continuous foreign element may provide a preferential flow path for contaminant migration, either through the reinforcement material or at the interface between the reinforcement and the clay. Whilst the use of expansive clay materials, e.g. bentonite, could provide a seal between the reinforcement and the geological barrier, they would also provide a preferential slip surface, thus potentially compromising stability.

2.2.2 Artificial sealing liners

It is generally perceived that the artificial sealing liner will be represented by a low permeability geosynthetic layer. However, an artificially established barrier layer can, in fact, be an additional 500 mm of artificially established compacted clay (Jones, 2006, Pers. Com.). In steep sided landfill lining systems the requirement for an artificial sealing liner is usually met by a geomembrane, which is hung from temporary or final anchorage points during construction, and must be protected from puncturing and overstressing due to waste downdrag and lateral stress imposed by the waste mass.

2.3 Steep sided landfill lining systems

Paper 1, Section 3.4 summarises the design issues associated with steep sided lining system behaviour. The following section addresses challenges in the design.

Two types of lining system are identified: self supported, which can be constructed to full height prior to waste placement, and waste supported, which rely on the horizontal support of the waste mass. Waste supported systems typically result in increase in void space and are cheaper to construct, although quantifying the horizontal support can be difficult.

Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2 show the complex loading process and failure mechanisms that are typically associated with steep sided landfill lining systems, and show the key failure mechanisms that can occur. Figure 2.1 shows a generic post-Landfill Directive steep sided landfill on a benched quarry. Whilst Figure 2.2 shows a design that was adopted before the Landfill Directive, due to the absence of the geological barrier it is no longer acceptable design practice in the UK. Figure 2.2 shows the inclusion of a protection layer, in this case bulk sacks, filled with quarry fines, which are favoured to buffer the lining system from the waste.

The lining system is subject to loadings from the weight of the waste; however, steep sided landfill lining systems are also dependent on the waste for horizontal support. In addition, waste settlement applies frictional downdrag which is similar to the effect of negative skin friction on a pile. The designer must consider the stability of the structure as a whole, including the requirements for the support structure, and also the stability and integrity of individual lining system components.

Waste settlement comprises three main components: primary settlement due to the overburden of subsequent waste placement, creep settlement, and degradation induced volume loss settlement. The primary compression of MSW is can be significant, however, as these occur during waste placement, it is not observed at the surface as further waste placement conceals the settlement of the previously placed material.

This project focuses on the primary settlement during placement of waste in lifts, and subsequent overfilling of additional lifts to account for the settlement of previously placed material. Analysis of creep and degradation induced settlement are beyond the scope of this project.



Figure 2.1 Steep sided landfill lining system loading failure mechanisms (reproduced from Paper 1)



Figure 2.2 Steep sided landfill lining system failure mechanisms

With the introduction of the requirement for a geological barrier, support for the barrier is typically provided by engineered fill support buttress systems. The support buttress can contain reinforced soil which comprises horizontal reinforcing elements that allow construction of near vertical systems several metres ahead of the waste.

Reinforced soil designs such as that shown in Figure 2.3 are becoming more common, however, mineral only "Christmas tree" (see Figure 2.4) and vertical clay barrier lining systems have been implemented, as these systems include a geological barrier and are cheap to construct. However, stability is of major concern as the clay overhanging the waste in a Christmas tree lining system tends to induce rotation as waste settlement occurs under it, and vertical clay barriers are prone to toppling failures due to insufficient waste support. Dixon *et al.* (2004) instrumented a mineral only vertical clay barrier lining system and showed that, despite the high short term undrained strength of the clay and the waste support, the barrier experienced significant strains.



Figure 2.3 Reinforced soil mineral liner support system



Figure 2.4 "Christmas tree" landfill lining system (after Jones and Dixon 2003)

2.4 Reliability based landfill design

Traditional design practice only requires a single lumped factor of safety value, and it is the responsibility of the engineer to make an assessment of the overall uncertainty in the model and input parameters. This responsibility is often overlooked, and generic lumped factors of safety used irrespective of the input parameter variability.

Reliability based design aims to quantify the actual variability of individual input parameters. In BS EN ISO 1997-1:2004 (Eurocode 7) this is addressed through the application of partial factors representing the perceived variability in the input values. Interface shear strength variability is beyond the scope of BS EN ISO 1997-1:2004, and hence typical lumped factors are used in design.

An alternative to partial factors is to prescribe a statistical variation function (usually a standard deviation) to each input parameter and apply this in a reliability based design. Landfill reliability analyses were carried by McCartney *et al.* (2004) and Koerner and Koerner (2001), who considered variability on shear strength and its influence on veneer stability, and Sabatini *et al.* (2002) who considered waste mass stability behaviour, and show that lumped factors of safety are not appropriate to represent the variability associated with interface shear strength.

2.5 Numerical modelling of landfill lining systems

Limit equilibrium analyses for landfill liner stability are still typically adopted in UK design practice, however, Reddy *et al.* (1996) identifies that limit equilibrium techniques lack the capability to compute displacements along critical shear planes and the resulting strain levels, and, therefore, numerical analyses are required.

Jones and Dixon (2005) stated that the design of landfills must consider stability both within and between elements of the lining system. To address this they used the limit equilibrium techniques and the explicit finite difference modelling code, FLAC, to assess the stability of a waste mass with a single strain dependent interface between lining elements representing the weakest layer of the system. In addition, comparisons between measured and predicted direct shear box behaviour were included to validate the modelled response of a single interface. Jones and Dixon (2005) stated that integrity should consider the loss of protection and geomembrane overstressing, however, with only a single interface, tensile response of the geosynthetics could not be assessed.

A survey of a sample of submitted Pollution Prevention and Control (PPC) applications in England was carried out as part of this project following Tranche 1 to 4 of PPC submissions, to identify the steep sided landfill lining systems, and analysis methods applied by a range of consultants. Whilst this study was not intended as a comprehensive study of current practice, it showed that numerical analyses were applied in a limited number of cases, and that where numerical analysis was applied, FLAC and PLAXIS were the primary codes used. A similar study carried out by Terry (2006) indicated that FLAC was the most commonly used numerical analysis technique for steep sided landfill lining systems. Limit equilibrium analyses were standard practice, as they are well suited to the stability analyses generally required in the PPC analysis. However, it has been observed, particularly for steep sided landfill lining systems, that numerical modelling is becoming increasingly common place.

Several attempts to analyse landfill stability and integrity using numerical techniques have been reported. These are summarised below.

Byrne (1994) carried out back analysis of Kettleman Hills landfill failure, with FLAC, and demonstrated that numerical techniques could be used to represent the progressive failure mechanism. Filz *et al.* (2001) also back analysed the translational failure at Kettleman Hills landfill and showed, using limit equilibrium analyses, that the maximum height using residual interface shear strength parameters was only 10% lower than the actual height, and using peak interface shear strength parameters the maximum height achievable was 35% greater than actually constructed, thus concluding that large post peak interface shear strength reduction had occurred. Numerical techniques with strain softening interface were used to show the progressive failure mechanisms, involving post peak shear strength reductions. These analyses concentrated on landfill stability failure and not integrity failure as a function of such strain softening behaviour.

Meißner and Abel (2000) used numerical techniques to consider geomembrane tensile forces from time dependent waste degradation. However, this model did not consider strain dependent interface behaviour.

Integrity analyses combined with strain softening interfaces were considered by Long *et al.* (1995) who used finite difference modelling to assess the integrity of a landfill lining system due to waste settlement loading. Complex waste loadings were simplified into applied loads and displacements imposed as boundary conditions at the upper surface of the lining system, thus limiting application in design practice.

Villard (1996) presented a model capable of representing large displacements at noninterpenetrating interfaces. Individual lining system elements were considered in this model and both stability and lining system integrity could be considered. Villard *et al.* (1999) used field data to attempt to validate this model; this is discussed in greater detail in Section 4.7.1.

Interface behaviour and formulation is summarised by Villard (1996), who considers three methods of interface formulation: (1) Penalisation or stiffness methods, where thin or zero thickness spring elements are used to define normal and shear stiffness; (2) Nodal compatibility methods, where contact at an interface is satisfied by force displacement compatibility equations; and (3) Hybrid interfaces, which are a combination of (1) and (2) where the two parts are modelled separately and linked through constraint equations. Villard (1996) proposed a hybrid method that allows large displacements to occur with no interpenetration. Jones (1999) considers the interface methodology in FLAC where large displacements are also possible, although unlike Villard *et al.* (1999), only a single interface was considered so geosynthetic strain could not be assessed.

A variety of constitutive models for MSW have been considered: Meißner and Abel (2002) use a linear isotropic elastic model, Byrne (1994) and Jones and Dixon (2005) use a Mohr-Coulomb model and a hyperbolic model is adopted by Reddy *et al.* (1996). Machardo *et al.* (2002) and Krasse and Dinkler (2005) consider model behaviour of waste in terms of multiphase components where reinforcing elements and paste are considered separately, thus allowing improved representation of waste behaviour. Zhang (2007) included the influence of reinforcing elements and has also considered the influence of compressible particles.

Whilst modelling of multiple layered lining systems and waste mass stability has provided significant advances in analyses, the ability to include the complex components of steep sided landfill lining systems are not included in these models.

Byrne (1994) and Jones (1999) considered the use of FLAC to model slippage along a strain softening interface under a waste slope. Mohr Coulomb failure criterion was defined for the waste and for the interfaces, with displacement dependent failure envelope defined for the interface behaviour.

Connell (2002) used FLAC to model simple steep sided landfill lining systems and Connell (2005, pers. corr.) has considered complex loading acting on mineral steep sided lining systems, however, this work does not consider multiple layer geosynthetic interfaces, with strain dependent behaviour.

Chugh *et al.* (2007) use FLAC to reanalyse the slope stability failure near Cincinnati, Ohio, USA. Two and three dimensional continuum modelling was used to study the onset of instability, the failure surface location and geometry and the displacements that occurred. This study did not include geosynthetic integrity analysis. Whilst the current state of practice allows individual aspects of multilayered lining system behaviour to be modelled, the requirement for this project was to develop an analysis technique that can include multilayer geosynthetic and mineral lining systems, and have the flexibility to consider real world landfill geometry. For steep sided lining systems the numerical modelling approach should also have the ability to model waste lateral support and the behaviour of engineered support structures.

3.0 Research methodology and task breakdown

This chapter identifies the research philosophy adopted during this project and summarises the individual task breakdown and places the tasks in relative context with one another and with the wider industry. A summary of the research tasks is presented in Table 3.1 and the context is addressed in Section 3.3.

3.1 Research methodology

Neuman (1997) describes a typical multi step research process taking the planning, choosing the topic, focussing on the research question, developing and designing the study, collecting information, analysing, and interpreting the data and finally moving to informing others. In practice this research method is far more of an interactive process in which the steps blend into each other, not linear but flowing in several directions. Research is an on-going process that can stimulate new thinking and fresh questions developing more issues than it actually answers.

There is often a tendency to distinguish between quantitative and qualitative research. However, it is believed to be inappropriate to make a hard distinction between qualitative and quantitative studies as they can often be used in combination with great effect. It would be inappropriate for a researcher to become so convinced of the paradigm they are using that they deny other methods. Engineering research, by its nature concentrates around data acquisition and verification analysis and validation, and, therefore, typically falls into a qualitative categorisation; however, an attempt has been made to also include subjective techniques, based around experience of practice and observation of and discussion with practitioners in order to direct the qualitative research.

3.2 Research task breakdown

In order to address the objectives identified in Section 1.6, the research required quantitative review and analysis of collected data. This was followed by experimental research using laboratory testing and numerical methods. Iterative development of numerical techniques was carried out using quantitative data gathered from both published and experimental sources. Whilst qualitative methods were adopted in eliciting the opinions of experts during the project, the primary focus was production

of a numerical analysis tool, which, by necessity, requires the use of quantitative experimental research techniques.

The objectives were approached through a series of individual research tasks, which are described in Table 3.1. The applied research methodology and the associated deliverables, in terms of published papers and technical reports are also given in Table 3.1. The research methodologies applied can be summarised into the following:

• Literature review.

Collecting information and data from published literature, internal company sources, internal university sources and personal correspondence and expert elicitation.

• Experimental research

Objective research, development of analysis tools, quantitative interrogation of hypothesis and validation of findings.

• Commercial Application

The application of developed techniques and tools in a commercial context to test performance, relevance, usability.

Research task	Research methodology	Objective	Technical Report	Paper
Review state of the art UK design philosophy	Literature review.	1	Analysis Toolbox report (Fowmes 2007b)	Paper 1
Develop an interface shear strength testing database from all available interface shear strength data	Literature review.	2	Variability of Shear Strength Data Report	Paper 2
Consider the effect of the variability on the on the reliability of design	2 Data Report (Fowmes 200	(Fowmes 2004a)		
Development of FLAC modelling to include multiple layer lining systems	Experimental	3		Paper 3, Paper
Code production using FLAC to develop strain dependent interface	ion using FLAC to a dependent FLAC to research. 3 FLAC modelling reports 1 and 2 Fowmes 2004b		reports 1 and 2 Fowmes 2004b	5, Fowmes <i>et al.</i> (2006b) and Fowmes <i>et al.</i>
FLAC modelling of multilayered steep sided landfill lining system		5	and 2005b)	(2007a)
Randomly Reinforced Soil (RRS) literature review	Literature review.	4	RRS Literature Review (Fowmes 2005a)	
RRS laboratory testing programme	Experimental .research	4		Paper 4
Commercial application of developed modelling techniques	Commercial application.	3	Analysis Toolbox report (Fowmes 2007b)	
Analysis of South East Asian landfill failure using these techniques	-	5		Fowmes <i>et al.</i> (2006b)
Back analysis of reported lining system interface behaviour using FLAC		5	FLAC modelling report 2 (Fowmes, 2005b)	
Design of instrumentation for validation of numerical analyses, field and laboratory analysis		5		
Laboratory testing of multilayered landfill lining systems	Experimental research.	5	Validation of numerical	D. C.
Validation of FLAC model against laboratory testing results	tion of FLAC model t laboratory testing sment of the influence of ntal welded mbrane seams waste behaviour models rain dependent nthetics	5	methods report (Fowmes 2007a)	Paper 5
Assessment of the influence of horizontal welded geomembrane seams		Additional		Fowmes et al. (accepted for publication, 2008,)
FLAC waste behaviour models and strain dependent geosynthetics		3	Analysis Toolbox	
Development of analysis toolbox for the analysis of landfill stability and integrity	ExperimentalAdditionalreport (Fow 2007b)research and commercial application.2007b)		report (Fowmes 2007b)	

Table 3.1 Research tasks and associated publications



Figure 3.1 Research map

3.3 Research overview

The first stages of the research concentrated around identifying both state of the art and state of practice. It was identified during this stage that the interface shear strength behaviour was a controlling factor for steep sided landfill lining system integrity and stability (objective 1). At this stage of the development the requirement for experimental research into the interface shear strength variability (objective 2) and the requirement for development of a numerical analysis tool (objective 3) were identified. Following the development of a numerical analysis tool (objective 3), high shear strains in the lining system were also identified as a potential problem, thus resulting in the requirement for investigation into the use of high strength, high plasticity geological barrier layers (objective 4). "The numerical analysis tool allowed analysis lining systems exposed to complex loading scenarios, however, the commercial application required greater confidence in the response of the model, and hence validation against measured data was required (objective 5).

3.4 Methodology Summary

The research methods have been identified for each of the objectives in Table 3.1 and the inter-relationships identified in Figure 3.1. By the nature of engineering research, the main focus has been on literature based understanding followed by quantitative experimental research. In addition, the EngD programme has allowed commercial application of the developed tools, allowing iterative refinements to be made.

4.0 Research Summary

This section, in addition to the papers in Appendices 1 to 5, details the work that has been undertaken and the key findings and developments of this research project. This is not intended to provide a complete report on the research, but to provide a commentary to the published papers included in the appendices.

4.1 Review of landfill design philosophy

A review of current design methodologies and practice, including current legislation and technical state of the art has been carried out. Paper 1 details the current UK design approach, in terms of stability and integrity, for landfill containment systems, addressing the analysis considerations for 6 main components of landfill containment system (see Paper 1, Figure 2):

- Subgrade;
- Basal lining system;
- Side slope lining system;
- Steep side slope lining systems;
- Waste mass; and
- Capping lining system.

Each section is considered in terms of the design detail which must be satisfied prior to construction of the lining system. Paper 1 Figure 3 identifies the primary design considerations for each aspect of design and these are considered in greater detail in Paper 1, Section 3 and Figures 4 to 9.

Although each aspect of design should be considered, this does not imply that a calculation must be done in every case. A logical argument can be put forward as to why a particular failure mechanism is not considered to be likely. Where analyses are required, the complexity of the analysis will depend on the lining system components and configuration. This will then control the skills, effort and information required to conduct the analyses.
4.2 Controlling failure mechanisms

Bergado *et al.* (2006) and Koerner and Soong (2000) identified interface sliding as a major cause of landfill failure. Jones and Dixon (2003) conducted a survey of UK landfill failures and showed interface shear strength to be a critical controlling factor, yet with the greatest uncertainty associated with it. Other controlling mechanisms involved the waste strength, and the construction quality. There is a dearth of information on the mechanical behaviour of municipal solid waste, and it is beyond the scope of this research to quantitatively assess the uncertainty surrounding waste behaviour, however, attempts to improve commercially applicable constitutive models have been made. Recent improvements in regulation have been made, and it is believed that the requirements for construction quality assurance (CQA) will reduce failures caused by substandard construction practice.

4.3 Interface shear strength variability

BS EN 1997-1: 2004 (Eurocode 7) states that characteristic values should be selected as "a cautious estimate of the value affecting the limit state design". Current practice is to carry out a limited number of site specific tests, however, this provides insufficient information on the variability of the parameter to allow such a cautious estimate to be made. The work presented in Paper 2 has been carried out to provide a global database of interface shear strength parameters and an assessment of variability thus aiding the designer in selection of a 'cautious estimate'.

Jones and Dixon (1998) presented interface shear strength summary plots for use in preliminary design, however, there is evidence that these have been used *in lieu* of site specific testing. In such practice, global variability will apply and the associated probability of failure values may be unacceptably high, even with an apparently acceptable global factor of safety.

It is worth noting that a cautious estimate of a value affecting the limit state is not always lower than the average. In stability analysis, values of interface shear strength lower than the average will typically result in lower factors of safety, however, in terms of integrity, higher values of interface shear strength may result in greater transferred stress and hence greater tension in the geosynthetics, therefore, a higher value would be cautious. An example is shown in Figure 4.1, where for a stability analysis low values would be selected for all interfaces, however, when assessing tension in a geosynthetics element all interfaces above the geomembrane should be assigned cautiously high values and those interfaces below the geomembrane should be assigned cautiously low values.



Figure 4.1 Cautious estimate interface shear strengths for geomembrane tensile stress analysis

The objectives of this research were to develop a database of interface shear strength data for interfaces between commonly used geosynthetic and soil materials, and to define the distribution at a range of normal stresses. In addition, this data could be used to provide information on the statistical variability of interface shear strength and its impact on the design process.

It had been identified in previous studies (e.g. Dixon *et al.*, 2002; Dixon and Jones 1998) that significant variability was present in the data for interface shear strengths thus a comprehensive literature search was conducted. The literature search covered journals and conference proceedings along with in-house data from Golder Associates and Loughborough University. European inter-laboratory comparison tests were also included in the analysis. The full reference list for the database is given following Paper 2. The data was divided into categories dependent on the interface material (e.g. polymer type and textured/smooth surface) to give a database of interface shear tests for 22 generic interfaces, which has been compiled consisting of over 4200 data points each representing the measured peak or residual shear stress at a given normal

stress. The data for 7 of these interfaces was included in Paper 2 to analyse probability of failure. The appendix to Paper 2 also includes the full reference list for the database, which was not included in the published paper.

A similar database has been produced by Koerner and Narejo (2005) which again demonstrated the large variability associated with interface shear strength literature and inter-laboratory testing programmes values. Following publication of Paper 2, the Fowmes (2004a) and Koerner and Narejo (2005) databases have been combined by Sia and Dixon (2007), with care to remove double counting of references) to produce a combined dataset against which values can be compared.

The global data set contains several sources of variability, which include (Stoewahse *et al.*, 2002):

- Differing material types
 - o Polymer types and additive
 - o Age and previous UV/stress exposure of samples
 - Types of texturing (blown film, impinged, etc...)
 - Soils type and moisture content
- Laboratory equipment
 - o Shear apparatus (e.g. DSA, RSA)
 - Shear box design and size
- Test conditions
 - o Shearing rate
 - o Temperature
- Different equipment operators

Statistical analyses were carried out for data within each of the categories (where there were > 5 data points at a given normal stress \pm 5%). The first and second order statistical moments were obtained for the input and equations derived for the statistical variability as a function of normal stress. Table 1 in Paper 2 details the mean interface shear strength parameters in terms of interface friction angle, δ , and apparent adhesion (y-intercept), α , and also gives slopes for the standard deviation in peak and residual shear strength as a function of normal stress. Normal distributions were assumed for the interface shear strength. Sia and Dixon (2007) carried out subjective and objective statistical tests and showed that the normal distribution is appropriate for interface shear strength parameters.

To avoid the need for consideration of linked pairs in the statistical analyses (i.e. α and δ) the interface shear strength is considered in terms of shear stress at a given normal stress, with values for standard deviation derived at each normal stress level.

Several methods of considering variability are used in design:

- Use a single lumped factor of safety;
- Use partial factors of safety; or
- Reliability analysis based on the measured statistical variability of the input parameters.

A single lumped factor of safety is typically applied in UK landfill design, however, the introduction of BS EN 1997-1:2004 (Eurocode 7) will require the use of partial factors of safety. A more statically robust method, which is also applicable under BS EN 1997-1:2004 is to define the statistical variability of each input parameter to determine the probability of failure of the system. Reliability analyses were carried out in this project, and were a progression from those by McCartney *et al.* (2004) and Koerner and Koerner (2001), who considered variability on shear strength and its influence on veneer stability, and Sabatini *et al.* (2002) who considered waste mass stability behaviour.

The coefficient of variation (COV) of the measured shear strengths was calculated at given normal stresses, using:

$$COV = \frac{\sigma_{\rm m}}{X_{\rm m}} = \frac{\text{standard deviation}}{\text{mean}}$$
 Equation 4.1

Probability of failure is calculated as a function of the COV of the factor of safety and the FS_{MLV} (most likely factor of safety). Tables in Koerner and Koerner (2001) were

used to calculate the factor of safety. These are based on a lognormal distribution for factor of safety which is considered appropriate by Duncan (2000) who states that FS is log-normal, however, this does not imply that the values of individual variables must be distributed in this way. Appendix 1 of Paper 2 identifies the analysis methodology used in assessment of the Probability of Failure. The Table of probability values from Koerner and Koerner (2001) is also included as an appendix to Paper 2.

Negative 'y-intercepts' have been allowed for best fit lines for both mean shear strength parameters and standard deviation parameters. In the cases where negative values occur they are produced by best fit lines through a number of the data sets included in this paper, and these demonstrate limitation of data sets in terms of number of points and their distribution, hence they should not be forced through the origin.

Variability due to different testing laboratories conducting tests on the material from the same source has been shown to be as high as the variability in the total data set including different material types. This implies that the testing procedures need to be standardised. An electronic database of the interface testing has been compiled which allows the designer to compare values from testing to the database showing variability, thus allowing an assessment of the confidence in the magnitude of the measured value to be made.

Additional complications such as pore fluid pressure and temperature may also influence interface behaviour. Jones and Dixon (1998) identified that the interpretation of interface shear strength results can depend on the pore pressure conditions at the interface, and interpretation can be challenging if these are not recorded. Sharma *et al.* (2007) used a miniature pore pressure transducer to measure pore pressure at a soil – geomembrane interface and showed that soil suctions contributed to increased shear strength at low normal stress, however, at higher normal stress the strength appears to be governed only by the total normal stress.

Criley and Saint-John (1997) presented repeatability testing for geosynthetic interfaces, and this data showed significantly reduced variability when compared to

the global dataset, as these were carried out by the same user, in the same laboratory on the same material types.

Dixon *et al.* (2002) identify that the typical variability of test data for a particular interface may be used to derive a characteristic value. However, the derived probabilities of failure from the datasets are very high even with factors of safety in excess of 1.5 (see Paper 2 Figure 15 and 16). Whilst failures do occur in practice, the probability of failures suggested using global datasets are unrepresentatively high, and suggestions that a factor of safety nearing 2 would result in over conservative designs. This does, however, highlight the dangers associated with the selection of literature values with no site specific information and without an appreciation of variability as vastly different design parameters can be selected depending on the source. Paper 2 allows the designer to compare site specific testing to a large global dataset, and identify the position of obtained results relative to the data.

Sia and Dixon (2007) compared the datasets assimilated as part of this research to repeatability testing of interface shear strength and found that variability using global databases was 3 to 5 times (sometimes up to 8 times) higher than variability when repeatability tests were carried out. Sia and Dixon (2007) concluded that variability and uncertainty computed using global and inter-laboratory datasets yield overly conservative outcomes when adopted in design.

Whilst preliminary designs can be carried out based on literature values, site specific testing must be carried out prior to construction to develop rigorous designs. It is not recommended that the variability associated with the global database, reported in Paper 2, is used in conjunction with site specific testing, however, it would be prudent to compare the site specific results to a global database to avoid the use of erroneous results in design (Dixon *et al.*, 2002). Koerner and Koerner (2007) discuss the adoption of interface shear strength parameters derived from interface shear strength testing (in accordance with ASTM D5321-02), whilst no discussion of variability is given, this document describes state of practice. The role of the designer to subjectively select 'conservative' design parameters is relied upon. In reliability based designs under Eurocode 7, designers must be confident in justifying the parameters

that they have selected and comparison to global databases and previous experience will aid the designer to carry out this task.

4.4 Numerical analysis in landfill engineering

A primary aim of this project was to develop analysis tools for multicomponent landfill lining systems exposed to complex forces during and post construction. An internal research and development report has been produced for Golder Associates detailing the methodologies used in the design process and how these are applied. This section gives details of the analysis tools that have been developed, the development process and when and how they can be applied.

Section 2.4 summarises the state of the art in numerical modelling of landfill lining systems, and identifies the requirement for a model which can include multiple layer geosynthetic lining systems *and* mineral lining systems, whilst including the engineered support structures and complex geometries typically found in steep sided lining systems.

4.4.1 Selection of numerical modelling code

The need for the direct applicability to industry required the selection of a commercially available, proven and widely used numerical modelling package to carry out analyses. The finite difference numerical explicit modelling code FLAC (version 4.00) has been selected to analyse side slope lining systems primarily due to its ability to model large strains and previous applications of the code for analysis of landfill lining systems. Byrne, (1994), Jones (1999), and Connell (2002) have used FLAC for assessing lining system integrity, and it is suggested in the Environment Agency *de facto* landfill stability guidance R&D Technical Report P1-385 TR2.

There are a large selection of finite element and finite difference modelling codes on the market. The majority of these codes carry out calculation within a continuum, where a series of adjacent nodes and/or elements are used to define the system to be modelled. Finite element programs have the central requirement that the field variables vary through each element, and the formulation consists of adjusting these to minimise error. It is typical for finite element programs to combine element field variables to produce a global stiffness matrix. In finite difference formulation, every derivative in the set of governing equations is replaced by an algebraic expression, with the resulting variables written in terms of stress or displacement, and these remain undefined within the element.

In finite difference formulation, as there is no formation of a stiffness matrix, it is efficient to reproduce the equations, therefore allowing the use of an explicit method to solve the algebraic expressions (Itasca, 2002). The explicit solution mechanism is adopted in FLAC, and the solutions are reached through a process known as time-marching or timestepping, which is simply adjusting the values of each node in the mesh through a series of cycles or steps. These adjustments take place on the basis of the selected constitutive model and equations of motion. The adjustment continues until the error (e.g. unbalanced force in the system) becomes very small (Sivakugan, 2006). The calculation cycle adopted in obtaining a solution is shown in Figure 4.2. Explicit formulation is well suited to non-linear problems and those involving large strain.



Figure 4.2 Calculation cycle in FLAC (Itasca 2002)

FLAC allows Lagrangian formulation. This calculation method is not tied to a fixed co-ordinate system, and the co-ordinate system and the co-ordinates are independent variables of the model. For geotechnical numerical analysis using a finite difference modelling mesh, Lagrangian formulation allows the position of the grid zones to

update continuously throughout the solution. Over a large number of time steps, the points from which the calculations are being carried out in a Lagrangian analysis can significantly deviate from their starting positions. This is particularly useful in landfill engineering where large waste displacements are commonplace. Whilst other codes such as PLAXIS have large strain options, interface behaviour is limited by the interface elements maintaining the continuum (see Figure 4.3), and thus large scale relative movements of the modelling grid cannot occur. In FLAC interface elements require a break in the continuum (see Figure 4.5), therefore, during Lagrangian analysis, large relative displacements of the co-ordinates on either side of an interface can occur without concern for deformation of the continuum. This is particularly beneficial when considering waste behaviour, as large relative displacements can occur between the waste mass and the lining system. Imposed restrictions due to the modelling continuum may result in incorrect stress transfer, waste stress state, and a failure to represent the unconfined region generated by waste settlement.



Figure 4.3 Continuum interface elements in PLAXIS (attached to 15 node soil elements)

Industry requires advances in the use and applicability of numerical modelling codes, and whilst other authors have developed bespoke interface and liner modelling codes, none have the ability to consider all factors influencing steep sided landfill performance, in particular, deformations in the geological barrier and the behaviour and affect of engineered support systems. FLAC, and its associated FISH programming language allows advanced modelling of multilayer interfaces to be developed, whilst retaining the flexibility of a commercial modelling package allowing a wide variety of geotechnical structures to be modelled.

4.4.2 FLAC Numerical modelling terminology and features

In order to understand the modelling morphology, it is necessary to define some basic components within the FLAC model. A labelled simple modelling grid is included in Figure 4.4.

- **Grid.** The modelling grid is constructed from rectangular elements, and subdivided in to triangles for calculation purposes. The rectangular grids are systematically numbered in i,j space and maybe moved to represent the geotechnical structure in x,y space.
- Nodes. Nodes are located at the corners of the rectangular grid elements and are systematically numbered in i,j space.
- **Structural Beam elements.** Structural beam elements form linear structures in the model, outside of the grid zones, and may be attached to grid zones, or interact with grid zones through interfaces.
- Interfaces. Zero thickness interface elements are used to define connections between grid continua and structural elements. Interface behaviour is controlled by normal and shear stiffness with limiting shear strength values allowing slippage. (See section 4.4.3).
- **x,y/i,j space.** The x,y coordinates are the coordinates in global reference space with constant scale (see Figure 4.4) whereas the i and j coordinates refer to the FLAC grid (see Figure 4.5). If the grid is deformed and reshaped, the x and y coordinates (i.e. the material positions) of grid points will alter but the i and j coordinates will remain constant. The x,y space is used for constructing the geometry, whilst modelling, i,j space is used to define material types and interactions. Structural nodes are defined in terms of x,y space. In i,j space structural nodes have a non zero i value and a j = 0.



Figure 4.4 An example FLAC modelling grid, shown in x,y space.



Figure 4.5 An example FLAC modelling grid (using the same model as in Figure 4.4), shown in i,j space.

4.4.3 FLAC interface logic

FLAC uses zero thickness elements at interfaces between separate grids or structural elements. In FLAC the interfaces form a break in the continuum, hence, provided the geometric conditions allow, large relative shear displacements can occur at the interface. As Lagrangian calculations are performed, the relative displacement across the interface is represented by movement of the modelling grid, and as such the points of reference for calculation are updated to account for the large movements. This is of particular importance where large differential movements occur, such as between the waste mass and the lining system, where several metres of relative displacement may occur.

4.4.3.1 Interface stiffness

Interface stiffness controls the initial stress displacement response of an interface until a limiting shear stress value, controlled by the interface strength, is reached. The interface shear strength is defined in Pa/m (Pascals per metre), defined as shear stress per unit displacement, rather than unit strain in which stiffness would be defined as Pa. Selecting an unrealistically high value can result in restricted movement and cause calculation difficulties, resulting in long solution times, or no solution being achieved. However, selecting a value that is too low can result in excessive movement as strength is not mobilised, and in the worst case, peak strength values can be missed from the calculations. Figure 4.6 demonstrates the affects of setting the interface stiffness too low. The test shows a textured LLDPE geomembrane against a nonwoven geotextile tested at 10 kPa confining stress. The 10 MPa/m represents the initial tangential modulus, whilst the 1MPa/m represents a secant modulus at 10mm displacement; these can be seen to generate an acceptable correlation with the measured shear strength data from laboratory direct shear tests. The small discrepancies in the measured and recorded values are due to the data points used to define the strength envelopes not plotting on a perfect straight line. Where interface shear stiffness of 0.5 MPa/m and 0.1 MPa/m were used the initial stiffness is too low (see Figure 4.6), to mobilise the full strength on the first portion of the curves. In the case of 0.1 MPa/m shear stiffness, the peak strength is omitted completely as a result of this. If used in modelling, although correct strength parameters may be defined, use of incorrect interface stiffness prevents the peak strength from being mobilised and hence unrealistic large displacements may be predicted.



Figure 4.6 Influence of interface shear stiffness

This has can have a serious impact on commercial design, as the interface shear stiffness in numerical analysis is often assumed. Selecting an interface stiffness that is too low, often selected to reduce calculation difficulties and solution time, can result in underestimation of interface shear strength. Whilst initially this may be seen as conservative, if the interface shear strength at the waste barrier interface is underestimated, the stress transfer into the lining system will be reduced and resulting integrity issues may be unconservative.

4.4.3.2 Interface interpenetration.

Interface interpenetration is a numerical issue, where one side of the interface moves into the other side of the interface so that an overlap is created (see Figure 4.7), as discussed with respect to geosynthetic interfaces by Villard (1996). At worst, one side of the interface will move uncontrollably through the interface. However, even small interpenetration will cause errors in interface displacement calculations. This process is controlled by the normal stiffness of the interface. The normal stiffness should be increased to approximately 10 times the stiffness of the adjacent material (Itasca, 2002). If there is a significant difference between the material stiffness across the interface, the material with the lower stiffness should be considered. Whilst slight interpenetration will occur even with very high normal stiffnesses, it is greatly reduced by selection of the correct normal stiffness.



Figure 4.7 Interface interpenetration

4.4.4 Parameter acquisition

4.4.4.1 Waste properties

Waste properties are very difficult to measure, primarily due to the particle size, and hence the size of samples and testing equipment required. Kavazanjian (2006) provided a state of the art summary of waste properties including: Unit weight, K_0 , stiffness and strength. Dixon and Jones (2005) summarised waste parameters, identifying which parameters are required for different landfill design cases. It is considered acceptable practice, if by necessity, to use published data, and not site specific testing in design. As waste pre-treatment becomes more commonplace it is envisaged that the waste will become less heterogeneous in size, density and composition, and site specific strength testing may become more feasible.

4.4.4.2 Geosynthetic tensile properties

Tensile tests of geomembranes are typically carried out using a dumbbell specimen (ASTM D638 : 2003). For other geosynthetics wide width samples (BS EN ISO 10319:1996). The elastic modulus can be derived from the stress strain curve under axial tensile load. However, Giroud (1994) showed that the initial portion of the slope

is non-linear, and thus the user must select an initial, secant at a given strain level or tangential modulus. Typical practice is to select secant modulus at yield. However, this can underestimate the modulus at low strains. This is discussed further in Section 4.5.4.

4.4.4.3 Interface testing

Direct shear apparatus specifically designed for interface testing is typically used to derive shear strength data. A minimum of 3 tests should be carried out at varying normal stresses. The peak and large displacement shear stress values are plotted against normal stress to give the peak and large displacement shear strength envelopes, defined by a friction angle, δ , and a y-intercept, or apparent adhesion, α (kPa). When deriving strain dependent shear strength parameters, the shear strength envelopes are plotted at regular displacement intervals (e.g. every 5 mm), thus allowing strain dependent α and δ parameters to be derived. The term large displacement is adopted to avoid confusion where true residual values have not mobilised.

4.4.4.4 Soil strength and stiffness

Soil laboratory testing, typically using triaxial apparatus is used to derive the drained and undrained shear strength parameters of soils for use in numerical analyses. Acquisition of stiffness parameters is significantly more complex, hence, literature values are typically adopted.

Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio are linked to the bulk and shear moduli, G and K respectively, through the relationships shown in Equation 4.2 and Equation 4.3. Young's modulus can be estimated from the deviatoric stress and axial strain in triaxial tests. In drained triaxial compression tests the shear modulus can be estimated from the slope of the deviatoric stress, to distortional strain curve, although this requires measurement of the axial *and* radial strains. The relationship between the bulk and shear modulus, and hence the Poisson's ratio can be determined from the ratio between the deviatoric and volumetric strain increments.

$$G = \frac{E}{2(1+\nu)}$$

Equation 4.2

$$K = \frac{E}{3(1-2\nu)}$$

where: E = Young's modulus v = Poisson's ratio K = Bulk modulusG = Shear modulus

In practice limited test data are typically available to determine the stiffness of soils, and literature values are normally selected. The stiffness is particularly important in assessing the deformation behaviour of compacted clay mineral lining systems using numerical modelling techniques. It is recommended that site specific drained triaxial testing is carried out on the materials to determine the input strength *and* stiffness parameters.

4.4.5 FISH programming language

The FISH programming language (standing for FLACish) allows the user to execute subroutines within the FLAC code. These can be used to:

- Aid construction of the model;
- Control material behaviour; and
- Acquire data from the model.

4.4.5.1 Linked list data structure

FLAC users can directly access the FLAC data structure using FISH. Each piece of data for model components (e.g. grid zone, structural element or interface) is stored in lists, and the user can traverse between difference pieces of information for the model component using "pointers". Itasca (2002) provides ".fin" files which contain the pointers to each piece of data. If data is accessed using the linked list data structure, then the associated ".fin" file should be called first. The linked list data structure can be traversed using the respective pointers, starting from a "control block". A control

Equation 4.3

block is an initial list which acts as a directory for the other lists of the data. Direct access to the data structure allows tabulated data for any parameter, and control of the model parameters prior to and during model cycling.

4.5 Development of FLAC analysis toolbox

This section gives a synopsis of the advanced FLAC modelling techniques that have been developed to analyse landfill lining systems. Publication of an example demonstrating application of this model is given in Paper 3 and also in Fowmes *et al.* (2006b) and Fowmes *et al.* (2007a). Subsequent developments have been made to the modelling accuracy and developments, some of which have been demonstrated in Paper 5.

Particular areas to be considered during lining system analyses include:

- Strain softening interfaces;
- Multiple layered geosynthetics using beam elements;
- Staged construction;
- Strain dependent geosynthetic elements;
- Geosynthetic anchorage; and
- Pore fluid in waste and subgrade.

Whilst bespoke methods have been developed for studying interface interaction (e.g. Villard, 1996) and the behaviour of geosynthetic lining systems, the numerical modelling code FLAC allows the user to consider interface behaviour coupled to soil and waste behaviour. Whilst FLAC has been used for single strain softening interfaces, and to represent single beam elements (e.g. Jones and Dixon, 2005), at the time of project inception there was no published work available on the inclusion of multiple layered geosynthetics, or the use of strain softening interfaces with structural elements used to represent the geosynthetics.

Paper 3 shows an analysis of a steep sided landfill lining system using the FLAC numerical code. The modelling carried out and presented in Paper 3 involves the staged construction of a steep sided landfill lining system on a benched quarry

subgrade. A compacted clay liner is placed immediately on top of the rock side slope with a reinforced soil buttress in place to support the clay liner. Polystyrene facing units are located on the reinforced soil buttress to provide a flat surface for placement of a geomembrane followed by a geotextile protection layer.

4.5.1 Staged construction

In limit equilibrium modelling, staged construction is carried out to identify the most critical state in terms of stability. In numerical analyses, where deformation is considered, material deformations evolve and may be cumulative through the material construction and waste placement process. Representing staged construction in numerical analysis has the following benefits:

- The construction and support sequence can be represented with appropriate sequencing and representation of waste;
- The worst case stability case may be at an interim stage and deformations underestimated by single stage models that often "wish" the materials into place;
- Staged construction using an explicit code prevents the unrealistically high loadings which occur when large volumes of materials are placed within a single time step, generating large velocities and hence unrealistic deformations;
- The load and stress strain histories of materials can alter behaviour of subsequent lifts; and
- Cumulative strain through an incremental loading sequence can be recorded.

Temporary waste slopes will be formed during waste placement. During staged construction the designer should consider if a temporary waste slope is likely to influence the steep slope lining system. The FLAC code can be used to represent the waste filling sequence adjacent to the lining system, thus better representing the horizontal support and settlement behaviour. The model can be modified to account for increasing waste stiffness during filling as compression of the waste occurs. The FISH programming language can be used to aid model construction, particularly where repetitive lift based construction occurs.

4.5.2 Modelling multiple layer geosynthetic lining systems

Previous analyses using FLAC (Byrne, 1994; Connell, 2002; Jones and Dixon, 2005) did not consider multiple interfaces or geosynthetic elements, and hence the axial forces and strains in geosynthetic elements could not be calculated. Itasca (2002) recommends the use of beam elements to represent geosynthetics, with moment of inertia set to zero to represent a flexible sheet, which is unable to support any bending moment.

Beams must be defined outside of the continuum, and can interact with the continuum through interfaces or attachments. When two grid zones are brought into contact to form an interface, beam elements can be defined at the interface and zero thickness interfaces defined either side to allow interaction with the soil above and below.

As interactions between the beam elements is only defined through interfaces, and interface logic does not require the geometric positions to be absolutely representative of actual position (e.g. the thickness of 2 mm is very small compared to the model dimensions) beams can be defined with the same x,y co-ordinates and the sequence of interaction (i.e. which is the upper and lower beam in the sequence) between the upper grid, beam elements and lower grid defined through interfaces.

A structured numbering system is very important when defining the beam elements as this allows the beams to be easily identified during interface definition. A recommended method is to use node numbers 1-99 for the geomembrane, 101-199 for the geotextile *et cetera*.

4.5.3 Strain dependent multiple layered interfaces

Direct interface shear strength tests generate shear stress displacement curves. However, typical practice is to select the peak and large displacement shear stress values to derive shear strength envelopes. Concern surrounds the use of peak strength parameters in analyses and design. Jones and Dixon (2003) and Filz *et al.* (2001) report failures where post peak interface shear strength reductions were shown to contribute to failures. However, selection of residual shear strength parameters, or a selected post peak value, can be overly conservative, as it ignores the fact that the peak shear strength may exist. To assess the strains in geosynthetic elements, the actual shear strength transfer at given displacements should be used, and not a simplified value based on peak or residual conditions. As the system evolves with loading, the interface shear strength will change and the transferred stress will alter.

Following back analysis of a landfill failure, Filz *et al.* (2001) stated that strain softening interfaces must be considered in all designs. Whilst guidance was proposed for using factored values in limit state design, numerical analysis was required to be able to reproduce the failure. Byrne (1994) states that numerical techniques are capable of modelling the kinematic behaviour of strain softening interfaces.

A strain softening interface code was produced by Itasca (2002), however, this is unsuitable for modelling interfaces involving beam elements as the code is unable to recognise the velocity of the structural node and as such is unable to interpolate the velocity of the structural beam elements. The strain softening interface code has been re-coded (Fowmes, 2005b) and adapted to be able to recognise what interface is present and then, if a beam element is involved, the code selects the nodal velocity, in order to calculate the relative shear displacement. A new code has been written, SSint_beam13.fis (Fowmes, 2007b), which can be used for all types of interfaces; grid – grid, grid – beam and beam – beam. The code uses "if" functions to determine which type of interface is present and then derives the node/grid velocities accordingly. As the new code is more complex it increases solution time. For simple grid – grid interfaces it is recommended that the user applies the original Itasca (2002) SSint.fis code.

A schematic of the displacement dependent interface code is given in Figure 4.8. The strain softening interface code stores a relative interface shear displacement, in a spare FISH extension, for each interface number. As an individual interface relative shear displacement data point relates to each node number, the number of interfaces controls the number of sections that can individually strain soften. Hence if one interface is defined for the whole slope, the interface properties can change with movement, however, the properties will remain uniform across the entire interface length. If an individual interface, then each of these can strain soften/harden independently,

and a profile of interface shear strength parameters will be produced over the slope length.



Figure 4.8 SSint.fis FISH code cycle

The strain softening interface code has been written to generate cumulative displacements. The relative shear velocity at each timestep is summed irrespective of sign, hence if movement occurs, and the interface is sheared back to the starting position, the calculated relative shear displacement is the total distance the interface has moved; not zero. Whilst in landfill engineering it is considered unlikely that large cyclic movements occur, the designer must be mindful of the movements of the waste during the solution of the problem, as during the time stepping process, the waste may 'rebound' as a static solution is achieved. If this occurs then the relative shear displacement may overestimate the actual displacement, and inappropriate interface properties defined. Use of volumetric strain controlled waste properties can result in waste 'rebound' caused by strain incompatibility and this is not representative of an actual physical process, which may result in an overestimation of relative shear displacement.

The strain dependent interface code developed in this project has been applied in further research to assess the affect of interface shear strength variability. Multiple shear strength - displacement profiles have been applied through multiple realisations using the FLAC code, in order to demonstrate the significant effects induced by the variability on displacements and component strains (Sia, 2007).

4.5.4 Axial response of geosynthetics

Calculation of the axial response of geosynthetics can be challenging, as manufacturers often quote values without representation of the test methods that have been used, or the correction factors applied. Geomembrane axial stiffness corrected from test data should account for the following:

- Thinning of the sample with strain (Merry and Bray, 1996);
- Necking of the sample with strain (Giroud, 2004);
- Change in Poisson's ratio, v, with large strains (Giroud, 2004);

Often, no axial data is presented, as it is not considered necessary by the manufacturer when demonstrating the performance of their materials. From the results of conformance testing to ASTM D638 (2003), which are commonly available in design practice, the yield stress can be corrected for reduced cross sectional area using the equation:

 $\sigma_{\overline{i}} = \frac{F_{t}}{t.w.(1-v.\varepsilon_{nt})^{2}}$ Equation 4.4 where: $\sigma_{\overline{i}} = \text{Yield stress}$ v = Poisson's ratio $F_{t} = \text{Peak force}$ t = initial thickness at zero strain w = initial width at zero strain $\varepsilon_{nt} = \text{Natural Strain, given by:}$ $\varepsilon_{nt} = \ln(1 + \varepsilon_{t})$ where:

 \mathcal{E}_t = engineering strain = elongation/original length.

To account for Poisson's ratio changes at large strain the following correction is applied:

$$\nu = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{nt}} \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{1 + \varepsilon_{nt} (1 - 2\nu_0)}{1 + \varepsilon_{nt}}} \right)$$
 Equation 4.6

where:

 v_0 = Poisson's ratio at zero strain

The secant modulus can then be calculated from the peak force, F_t , value at a given strain. In addition, for numerical analysis, where plane strain conditions are adopted, the axial stiffness should be corrected to account for the two dimensional conditions using the following equation.

$$E_{tensile.sec(PS)} = \frac{E_{tensile.sec}}{1 - \nu^2}$$
Equation 4.7
where:
$$E_{tensile.sec} = \text{Tensile secant modulus.}$$

$$E_{tensile.secant(PS)} = \text{Tensile secant modulus corrected for plane strain conditions.}$$

Villard *et al.* (1999) identified that different stiffness values should be applied to geosynthetic elements in tension and compression to allow for the formation of folds and the differing axial response under compressive loading to those typically measured in tensile tests. A code has been developed in FLAC to allow a different value of Young's modulus to be applied in tension and compression. The number of unique beam properties that are defined controls the number of sections to which axial beam properties can vary independently. The beam property numbers are defined by the code user, and an individual beam property can be defined for each beam segment, thus allowing each segment to be assigned an individual property dependent on the axial strain (i.e. compression or tension) at the start of the timestep.

Giroud (1994) has identified that the initial portion of the stress - strain curve representing the axial response is highly non-linear, as the secant modulus decreases from the initial modulus. Giroud (1994) showed that the 2% secant modulus of a HDPE is over 3.5 times greater than a secant modulus at yield (the value typically adopted in analyses), see Figure 4.9. One of the main reasons sited for use of the secant modulus at yield is the stress strain curves are often presented up to values in excess of 100% strain; hence the initial portion of the curve appears linear. Designs should specify that the area of interest is up to the yield point, as strains beyond yield are usually considered to be at failure. In Paper 5 a factored 2% modulus value was adopted. However, this required an appreciation of the strains that would actually occur, to identify the range over which to apply the secant value.



Figure 4.9 Schematic non-linear geomembrane axial response

Further developments since Paper 5 was written allow piecewise (see Figure 4.10) stress - strain curves to be included so that the Young's Modulus of the geosynthetic element may be varied with elastic strain. Two piecewise curves are defined using this code: the first representing tangential tensile modulus against axial strain and the second tangential compressive modulus against axial strain. As with the code used in the modelling for Paper 5, each beam element should be assigned an individual material number to allow independent strain dependent modulus values to be assigned. It is recommended that the same zero strain modulus be set on the compressive and tensile curves to avoid strain incompatibility in the initial calculation steps.



Figure 4.10 Schematic definition of a "Piecewise" stress-strain relationship

4.5.5 Influence of waste stiffness

Waste stiffness controls two important aspects of the numerical model behaviour:

- The magnitude of primary settlement; and
- The horizontal support to the lining system from the waste mass.

The influence of stiffness on the horizontal support increases as the slope angle of the waste barrier interface increases. Figure 4.11 shows a comparison from a parametric analysis of the influence of waste stiffness on waste deformations for 55° and 75° degree steep sided landfill lining systems. The influence of waste stiffness is clearly much greater on the steeper side slope, and hence the stiffness input parameters require greater consideration. If parametric studies show waste stiffness is a controlling factor, a depth dependent stiffness profile can be defined to better represent known behaviour (see section 4.5.6).



Figure 4.11 Influence of waste stiffness on deformations in a sided landfill lining system for (a) a 55° and (b) a 75° steep sided landfill lining system.

Waste settlements of 15 - 20 % are suggested by Watts and Charles (1990) and in Waste Management Paper 26B (1995), whilst 25% is suggested by Oweis (2006), however these are primarily focused on post filling settlement and allowable overfilling. To represent such settlement magnitudes under purely compression

loading alone, using simple linear elastic models, low stiffness parameters must be selected. As waste stiffness controls both the horizontal support and the generated primary settlement, the objectives of a numerical model must be clearly defined to demonstrate either the horizontal support, or to use a pseudo-stiffness value to model a representative settlement value. Jones and Dixon (2005) adopt a waste stiffness of E = 0.5MPa, v =0.3 to represent a waste settlement in the order of 20%. This study was intended to model the influence of degradation settlement on the lining system, however, the mechanism causing the waste settlement in the numerical models was compression loading from the waste self weight. Dixon *et al.* (2006) measured stiffness of *in situ* waste using a pressuremeter, with the measured shear stiffness increasing linearly with depth, where the shear modulus G (MPa) ~ 0.25 * depth (m), which is clearly significantly higher than the values adopted by Jones and Dixon (2005). Dixon *et al.* (2006) measured the stiffness of *in situ* waste, therefore, not taking into account the initial compaction settlement immediately following placement.

Whilst low waste stiffness can be selected to represent large settlements, it does not necessarily represent the stiffness response to loading, which will be the controlling factor when assessing deformations. If deformations in the lining system and associated support system are of primary interest then modelling of the waste with realistic parameters is required. However, if waste downdrag induced tension in geosynthetics is of primary concern then a pseudo-stiffness to represent the waste settlement due to loading may be more appropriate. Whilst the use of pseudo-stiffness may generate the appropriate settlement levels, it can also affect the normal stress at lining system interfaces. It is, suggested that to model steep sided lining system deformations realistic modelling parameters must be used to represent the stiffness of waste, for short term behaviour. However, to model lining system tensile behaviour, downdrag should be considered.

The primary focus of this research is to represent primary compression of the waste during the construction process. In Paper 3, stiffness modelling parameters were selected to represent waste settlements in the order of 20%, which included initial compression of the waste. More recent advances have allowed a depth and volumetric strain dependent stiffness to be specified, allowing large initial compression, whilst

better representing waste horizontal support to the lining system at depth (see section 4.5.6)

There is a tendency in current commercial modelling of municipal solid waste to try to use a low stiffness linear elastic model in all circumstances. An area of further research is to model the waste mass behaviour with realistic stiffness values during construction then to allow settlement of the waste mass to include direct modelling of the degradation behaviour. This would involve assessment of the relative magnitude and relative timeframes of compression due to overburden and self weight and compression due to the time dependent degradation processes. Volume reduction and representation of the stress behaviour of waste is highly complex and beyond the scope of this current investigation. Attention should be given to developing such models to have the correct physical properties and changes that occur with time.

4.5.6 Waste constitutive behaviour

Several authors (Zhang 2007, Machardo *et al.* 2002, Krasse and Dinkler 2005) have proposed complex models for the behaviour of municipal solid waste. Zhang (2007) considers a waste compression model which includes compressible and reinforcing elements within the waste, to represent volume changes and shear behaviour of waste subjected to triaxial loading. Whilst such models are important steps in the understanding and quantification of waste behaviour, they are not, at the current stage of development, commercially applicable, due to their complexity and the input data requirements. Therefore, there is a requirement for a simple numerical model which can alter material properties, whilst retaining simplicity of application.

In steep sided landfill lining systems the waste resistance to deformation of the lining system is given by the waste stiffness. Dixon *et al.* (2006) demonstrated that there is an increase in waste stiffness with depth and as such the resistance to deformations of the lining system increases with depth. Whilst initial waste stiffness can be very low, to apply low stiffness for the entire height of the waste mass can result in over conservative, and hence uneconomic, designs. Codes to allow depth dependent parameters have been written using FISH, which allow piecewise definition of [depth] – [input parameter] curves for the waste to increase in stiffness with depth.

Variation of FLAC parameters with depth can be carried out using geometric measurements between a given grid zone and the surface, however, the simplest and most readily applicable method is to define functions in terms of s_{yy} , the vertical stress component. An alternative is to define variable parameters in terms of volumetric and shear strain, or a combination of the two. Whilst parameters for behaviour against strain are often harder to acquire due to limited element test data on waste, the use of volumetric strain rather than vertical stress does eliminate some calculation deficiencies, as discussed below.

Depth dependent waste FISH codes have been commercially applied, adopting waste stiffness increasing with depth as compaction under self weight of subsequent waste lifts occurs (as identified by Dixon *et al.*, 2006). Whilst this process is also complicated by the degradation of waste, it is widely accepted that waste stiffness increases with depth. Two codes have been written to represent this:

- Waste stiffness vs. s_{yy} (vertical stress). This code refers to two piecewise tables which represent 1) s_{yy} vs. bulk modulus and 2) s_{yy} vs. shear modulus.
- Waste stiffness vs. waste vsi (volumetric strain increment). This code refers to two piecewise tables which represent 1) waste vsi vs bulk modulus and 2) waste vsi vs. shear modulus.

The first code allows easier application of modelling parameters, however, a slight computational error occurs when applying this code due to strain incompatibility immediately following placement of an additional lift. When a new lift is added there is an immediate increase in s_{xx} , and, therefore, the bulk and shear modulus of the waste increases in the next timestep, this causes a strain incompatibility as the stiffness increases before compression of the waste layer has occurred. The result is a slight recovery of volumetric strain immediately following placement of a new waste layer, which is then followed by the subsequent compression. In practice the second code should be applied where possible.

4.5.7 Geosynthetic anchorage

Fowmes *et al.* (2007a) suggests three methods for representing anchorage in numerical models:

• Fixing the geosynthetics;

- Flexible fixing to allow for displacement of the anchor point; or
- Detailed model of the actual anchor trench.

Fixing of the geosynthetics is the simplest method and was adopted in Paper 3, including temporary anchoring during staged construction. In this case the geotextile was free allowing displacements, as adopted by Meißner and Abel (2000). Fowmes *et al.* (2006b) adopted a flexible fixing to allow deformation of the anchorage. Villard and Chareyre (2004) used discrete element modelling (DEM) to model full anchor behaviour and to reproduce failures. Such methods are highly complex and currently beyond the scope of most commercial applications, and, therefore, were not considered appropriate for this investigation.

4.5.8 Reinforced soil

Reinforced soil support of the geological barrier is a becoming increasingly common in steep sided landfill lining system designs (see Section 2.3). Cable elements in FLAC are used to represent planar reinforcements such as woven geotextiles and geogrids. Unlike beam elements, cable elements can be placed within a modelling grid, applying a force to the modelling grid at the nodes adjacent to the reinforcement. Axial properties of the reinforcement element are defined using limiting tensile strength and a modulus of elasticity, which represent mobilisation strains within the materials. Additionally, the interaction between the cable element and the modelling grid is defined as a shear bond strength and stiffness, which can be used to represent interface shear strength and stiffness. Mobilisation of the reinforcement tensile resistance requires both interface displacement and axial elongation.

4.5.9 Compacted clay liners

Drainage conditions in the mineral lining system can be represented through either the use of effective strength and stiffness parameters with applied pore fluid pressures, or through the definition of undrained strength and stiffness parameters. Alternatively pore fluid distributions can be established by imposing hydraulic boundary conditions and allowing FLAC to generate the pore fluid pressure distribution, based on the material properties. Flow can then be restricted (uncoupled analysis) or allowed to occur (coupled analysis) whilst a physical model solution is achieved. Coupled analysis of fluid migration during fill placement is beyond the scope of this analysis.

It is typical commercial practice in landfill design to use drained conditions during the entire construction sequence and then to reassess the model with undrained parameters to decide on the "worst case". However, in practice the material properties will change over time, as the initial undrained conditions, tend towards long term drained conditions and the material stress history cannot be represented by a single set of parameters or drainage conditions. Modelling has been carried out where the material properties are changed during the construction process, however, a sudden change in material properties can cause incompatibility. A better approach has been to define a pore pressure distribution and boundary drainage conditions, which can be altered as the construction process is modelled. This is considered to be a primary area requiring future research.

4.5.10 Subgrade and waste fluid pressures

Application of pore fluid pressures in the subgrade and waste mass can be applied as described in Section 4.5.9. Whilst fluid pressure in the waste can be considered, the heterogeneous and layered nature of waste makes prediction of fluid flow particularly difficult, and preferential flow paths are likely to form through the waste. However, the formation of excess pore pressures is unlikely in the long time frames in which settlement occurs. Nevertheless, if clogging of drainage layers occurs, undrained conditions and increased pore fluid pressure may persist. Bioreactor type landfills are becoming more common and the behaviour of the waste mass may be influenced by the recirculation of fluids through the waste mass.

4.5.11 Data acquisition and management

A series of data acquisition codes were used to directly access data from the FLAC linked list data structure. Any information within the linked list data structure can be acquired and output in tabular format. The examples below list some of the data access FISH functions that have been commercially applied:

- Node x,y positions;
- Beam/Cable axial strain;
- Beam/Cable axial force;

- Axial force; and
- Interface relative shear displacement.

Output files from the FISH data acquisition functions are presented as a plain text, which may be imported into a spreadsheet for post processing. Where data is acquired for a number of files and or throughout the construction sequence, macros can be used to aid repetitive data management.

4.6 Design toolbox document

As part of the research, a guidance document on the analysis of landfill lining systems has been produced, entitled "Design Toolbox: A guide to Landfill stability and integrity assessment" (Fowmes, 2007b). This document contains guidance on how to assess a design, select analysis methodologies and implement analysis tools. The document contains guidance of the use of limit equilibrium software (based on the code Slope/W), a detailed description of the FLAC modelling codes developed during this research, and guidance on their application. Figure 4.12 details the design flowchart from the Design Toolbox. This identifies a systematic approach for carrying out stability and integrity analyses for steep sided landfill lining systems.

This document has been applied commercially at Golder Associates (UK) Ltd, to guide both junior and experienced engineers in application of both limit equilibrium and advanced numerical modelling tools.



Figure 4.12 Design flowchart (after Fowmes, 2007b)

4.7 Validation of numerical analysis toolbox

Numerical modelling is increasingly being applied to landfill stability and integrity analysis for risk assessment and design. However, there is very limited validation of landfill lining system modelled performance against measured behaviour. It is not considered appropriate to develop a reliance on complex modelling software, if no validation of performance is given.

Jones and Dixon (2005) and Jones (1999) presented validation of shear box data using the single interface strain dependent code in FLAC. Similar shear box tests have also been used containing multiple beam elements (see section 4.4.3.1), to ensure the interface displacement, strength and shear strength behaviour (i.e. strain softening) is represented correctly. This section, along with Section 4.8, highlights some of the work that has been carried out to validate the numerical modelling approach, using FLAC (as discussed in section 4.4), and some of the additional validation required in the future.

4.7.1 Comparisons with Villard et al. (1999)

Villard *et al.* (1999) reported the results from instrumentation of an unconfined landfill lining system at the Compagnie Generale des Eaux experimental site at Montreuil sur Barse. The lining system consisted of (from the bottom up) clay layer, placed up a 1:2 (V:H), 9m long (measured parallel to slope) side slope, a HDPE geomembrane, a non-woven geotextile, and a 0.3 m thick granular drainage layer. Four stages of the landfill construction were considered:

- Stage I: Placement of 300 mm thick gravel drainage layer in six 1m lifts on the side slope.
- Stage II: Removal of drainage material at the toe of the slope to induce instability.
- Stage III: Placement of two additional 1m lifts of granular drainage material on the side slope.
- Stage IV: Placement of waste.

Villard *et al.* (1999) also produced comparative numerical models using a Finite Element Method (FEM) that can take into account large displacements that occur at interfaces using a formulation that insures non-interpenetration and equilibrium on either side of the interface (Villard 1996). The modelling carried out by Villard showed a good agreement during stage I (see Figure 4.14) however, during stage II the agreement was less satisfactory. This is thought to be due to observed tilting of the fastening posts onto which the geosynthetics were attached in the experiment, thus influencing the measured displacement and geomembrane tension. This explains the drop in geomembrane tension at the head of the geosynthetics observed between lift 5 and 6 of stage I (see Figure 4.14).

FLAC modelling has been conducted and compared with the results from the field instrumentation data and the finite difference analysis carried out by Villard *et al.* (1999). The modelling grid used in this investigation is shown in Figure 4.13. The results, in terms of geosynthetic tension are presented in Figure 4.14 and Table 4.1. The FLAC model included two beam elements to represent the geomembrane and geotextile. As with Villard's FEM model, separate tensile and compressive moduli were defined for each to account for wrinkling at the base of the geosynthetics. The interfaces use a Mohr Coulomb failure criterion, with no strain softening, but a mobilisation displacement required before peak strength is applied. The FLAC model includes a shown in Figure 4.14. In terms of geomembrane tension the FLAC model predicts greater tensile force, and gives a closer correlation with measured behaviour than the Villard *et al.* (1999) FEM model up to the drop in tension following lift 5.



Figure 4.13 FLAC modelling grid for comparison with results from Villard et al. (1999)



Figure 4.14 Comparison between FLAC model and Villard et al. (1999) for stage I (Lc 1 to 6m)

The drop in reported experimental geomembrane tension continues into stage II, which is believed to be due to failure of the fixing posts. As in stage I the FLAC model predicts very similar geotextile tension to the experimental model reported by Villard *et al.* (1999), and higher (1.96 compared to 1.40) geomembrane tension, although the trends indicated before the assumed instrument failure suggest that the higher value would be generated.
	Geotextile tension (kN/m)			Geomembrane tension (kN/m)		
	Fowmes	Villard et al. (1999)		Fowmes	Villard <i>et al.</i> (1999)	
	Theoretical	Experimental	Theoretical	Theoretical	Experimental	Theoretical
Stage I	0.69	0.65	0.64	1.69	1.2	1.18
Stage II	3.82	2.68*	3.75	1.96	0.275*	1.40
Stage III	5.72	No data presented		2.43	No data presented	
Stage IV	5.80			2.65		

Table 4.1 Tensions at the head of geosynthetics in FLAC models compared to Villard et al. (1999)

*Results believed to be affected by movement of fixing posts and therefore are not representative.

Stage III and Stage IV were also modelled using FLAC, although Villard did not present theoretical or experimental results beyond stage II due to the deviation between the predicted and measured values in stage I. Villard states that insufficient time for the system to reach equilibrium was allowed at the end of stage II thus influencing the results in stage III and IV, however, for completeness and comparison with future studies the results for this stage are included in Table 4.1.

This study has demonstrated that the multilayered interface model using FLAC gives a good correlation with measured results for an unconfined lining system. As data was not presented for the confined conditions (i.e. during and post waste placement) further validation of the model was required.

4.7.2 Back analysis of a steep wall geosynthetic integrity failure

In order to assess the performance of the FLAC model for confined conditions, back analysis of a failure at a Southeast Asia landfill was carried out. The modelling and results are discussed by Fowmes *et al.* (2006b). An integrity failure occurred in a smooth geomembrane just below a bench of a quarry landfill lining system (see Figure 4.16). The integrity failure involved the tensile failure of the geomembrane liner due to forces induced by waste loading, from weight and compression induced downdrag. The tensile failure observed on site occurred at a waste height of approximately 60 m above the waste reference level (see Figure 4.15) (Cowland, J., 2005, Pers. com.). The lining system comprised, from the bottom up, a geocomposite drainage layer, a 2mm smooth HDPE geomembrane, a non-woven protection geotextile, and a 500mm leachate drainage layer.



Figure 4.15 Schematic of the lining system at a Southeast Asian landfill (after Fowmes *et al.* 2006b)



Figure 4.16 Landfill integrity failure (following exhumation)

Two models were used in the analysis; the first modelled a full height section of side slope to assess the waste and lining system behaviour on a benched quarry subgrade. The second model looked in more detail at a single section of the side slope in order to assess the behaviour of the lining system in more detail over a single bench height (Fowmes *et al.*, 2006b).

Individual beam elements were used to model each of the three geosynthetics, with strain dependent interfaces controlling interactions. Staged construction was considered with 2m waste lifts adjacent to the geosynthetics, followed by two 10m waste lifts to represent waste placement against subsequent benches, then loading increments of 140 kPa added to the upper waste surface to represent further 10 m

waste lifts. Waste was modelled with a volumetric hardening criterion, so that further compression, per unit stress increase, reduced as volumetric strain occurs.

The model was able to reproduce the failures in the geosynthetic elements as a function of tensile strain, with rapid increase in geomembrane stress following placement of waste at 60 m above the reference level (see Figure 4.15 and Table 4.2). The tensile strength of the geomembrane is approximately 28 kN/m, and the model predicts that this value is exceeded shortly following the waste loading increasing to the equivalent of 60 m above bench height. The rapid increase coincided with post peak strength reduction on the interface underlying the geomembrane as smooth geomembrane - geocomposite drainage interface has a peak interface friction angle of 13° and a large displacement friction angle of approximately 8°. Figure 4.17 shows the stress and strain distribution in the geomembrane following the application of 70 m of waste above the top of the bench.

Fowmes et	<i>al.</i> 2006b)	8		8
Waste height	Vertical pressure (kPa)	Maximum axial strain in	Maximum tensile stress in geomembrane	Location of max stress (m

Table 4.2 Axial st	rains and tensile fo	rces in the geomen	nbrane related to wa	ste height. (after
Fowmes <i>et al</i> . 200	6b)			

Waste height above bench.	Vertical pressure (kPa) at waste ref level	Maximum axial strain in geomembrane (%)	Maximum tensile stress in geomembrane (kN/m)	max stress (m below top of bench)
0	0	0.14	0.42	3.2
10	140	0.17	0.51	1.2
20	280	0.20	0.60	1.2
30	420	0.20	0.59	1.2
40	560	0.37	1.32	2.4
50	700	0.40	1.43	4.8
60	840	8.37	25.1	3.6
70	980	14.7	44.9	1.2



Figure 4.17 Geomembrane stress strain distribution (after Fowmes et al. 2006b)

The model was re-run with a mono-textured geomembrane (textured side down), with a textured geomembrane - geocomposite drainage interface having peak interface friction angle of 29°, and no integrity failure was predicted. This demonstrates the benefits of using mono-textured geomembrane on a steep side slope.

This study demonstrated that FLAC can be used to reproduce landfill lining system behaviour when confined and loaded by waste. Although no specific instrumentation was included on site to measure the tensile strength of the lining system, the timing, and hence loading conditions, associated with the lining tensile failure were identified due to increased leachate flow and this mechanism was reproduced using the FLAC code. Although giving confidence in the behaviour of the system, more rigorous validation of the FLAC predictions under confined conditions was required, with comparisons against a fully instrumented landfill lining system.

4.7.3 Field instrumentation

Although the field testing described by Villard *et al.* (1999) did not yield data for post waste placement, the information in stage I of the analysis showed good comparisons with both FEM and FLAC models, and highlighted the benefits of using field data for validation of numerical techniques.

Site instrumentation provides a means of validating numerical modelling with real world behaviour. In terms of landfill design it allows comparisons to be made

between the behaviour of multilayered lining systems subject to complex loading scenarios, and also allows the quantification of uncertain and assumed analysis input parameters, such as horizontal pressures applied by the waste and pore pressures generated in the lining system.

There are several key aspects of landfill lining system behaviour that can be measured through instrumentation. Table 4.3 shows the key areas of design that should be considered and potential instrumentation techniques identified during this project.

Physical characteristic to be monitored	Suggested Instrumentation
Horizontal and vertical waste pressure	Vibrating wire pressure cells
Deformations	Inclinometers and extensometers
Geosynthetic strains	Wire displacement gauge
	Fibre optic strain gauge
Pore pressures in mineral lining systems	Vibrating wire piezometers
Geosynthetic tension	Tensile load cells

Table 4.3 Landfill instrumentation techniques

4.7.3.1 Landfill "A" Instrumentation

Instrumentation of a landfill side slope was proposed at a landfill site in northern England, referred to as landfill "A", and a design for the instrumentation was carried out as part of this project. The lining system consisted of a compacted clay lining system overlain by a geomembrane, which in turn was overlain by an innovative geotextile with integrated wick drains. The proposed instrumentation was to include wire displacement gauges at locations up the side slope on each of the geosynthetics and vibrating wire pressure cells at the base and up the side slope. Waste surveying and input data would be used to generate waste density and settlement behaviour. The project was a collaboration between Loughborough University, Golder Associates, GEO*Fabrics* and Encia. However, the project was unable to proceed due to the landfill operator's concerns surrounding the use of any data from the project and potential repercussions from the regulator (Environment Agency). Whilst it was stated that the project was to measure *in situ* performance to aid design and not to identify failures, approval to access the site was not granted.

4.7.3.2 Landfill "B" Instrumentation

As a continuation of this project instrumentation of a landfill lining system at landfill "B" has just begun at a landfill site in northern England. The lining system consisted of a compacted clay liner, against a hard rock quarry subgrade, supported by a reinforced soil buttress with polystyrene facing panels to provide a smooth flat face for placement of the geosynthetics lining system, similar to that assessed in Paper 3, (see Figure 4.18). The instrumentation involves the inclusion of inclinometer tubes behind the polystyrene facing material to measure deformations of the support system, vibrating wire pressure cells in the front face of the polystyrene to assess the normal force applied to the lining system from the waste mass and piezometers to measure pore pressures within the compacted clay lining system. Whilst this instrumentation allows assessment of waste support and associated deformations in the lining system, behaviour of the multilayered lining system performance will not be measured in the first stage of the instrumentation.

The instrumentation is initially planned during the construction sequence, and post construction to a total of two years, however, should movement greater than predicted tolerances be detected, the instrumentation monitoring will continue beyond this time. The steep sided lining system at Site B has been designed using the FLAC modelling code, and hence the results of the analysis can be used to validate the numerical model. Additionally, the results can be used to optimise both the design as a greater understanding of the waste support is gained.





4.7.4 Fibre optic instrumentation

Whilst wire displacement gauges allow assessment of relative shear displacements between geosynthetic layers in the lining system, improvements in the measuring resolution would allow an assessment of strain in geosynthetic lining elements including the evolution of strain during and post construction. Fibre optic instrumentation has been considered as a potential method for assessment of strains in geosynthetic lining system elements, particularly geomembranes.

Fibre Bragg gratings allow precision measurement of strains over short gauge lengths, which can be of particular use in geosynthetic engineering. Fibre Bragg grating systems have been adopted in reinforcement geosynthetics. A patented system, Geodetect[™], has been developed by TenCate (previously Polyfelt) where fibre optic cables are included as a fibre in the woven geotextile structure, allowing measurements of geotextile strain. A research project to include the application of FBG technology to strain measurement in multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining system is in preliminary stages as a collaboration between Loughborough University and Cranfield University. The plan for development of fibre optic instrumentation is as follows:

1. Develop methods for attaching the optic fibres;

- Unconfined tensile testing of geosynthetics to assess fibre/geosynthetic interaction;
- Confined tests to assess influence of surrounding soil/geosynthetics on fibre interaction and to develop protection systems;
- 4. Use of fibre optic instrumented geosynthetics in large scale 1G models; and
- 5. Use of fibre optic instrumentation in field scale trials.

Contributions during this project included an initial background research on the use of FBG fibre optics, and preliminary testing of FBG systems and fibre splicing techniques.

4.8 Validation of FLAC using a large scale laboratory model

As access to a landfill site for instrumentation could not be gained within the timeframe of this project, it was decided to carry out a comparison between the numerical analysis toolbox and a large scale laboratory model. This would allow downdrag forces, similar to those experienced by a steep sided landfill lining system, to be imposed on a geosynthetic lining system in a controlled manner. It also allowed the material to be carefully characterised and instrumented, and offers the opportunity for repeatability testing, which is not available in on site testing.

A large scale laboratory test chamber has been designed and constructed to represent a steep sided landfill lining system subject to downdrag forces from primary compression, and measured behaviour was then compared to predictive FLAC analyses of the same model. The details of this model are presented and discussed in Paper 5.

The research philosophy was to produce a geosynthetic multiple layer geosynthetic system, with a loading system and measured axial stress, displacement response. The design was controlled primarily by the attempt to reproduce a real world lining system, however, the decision to use a vertical face was taken to simplify the model and thus reduce the variables which may influence behaviour. This in turn allowed the numerical model to be more representative of the laboratory model behaviour.

The laboratory setting for the experiment allowed repeatability to be assessed, and testing and calibration of the measuring equipment in situ. In the field tests reported

by Villard *et al.* (1999), the measurement of tensile forces at the head of the geosynthetics was compromised by failure of the fixing posts, where as such problems could be avoided in controlled repeatable laboratory conditions.

4.8.1 Laboratory testing apparatus

Paper 5 describes the testing procedure, results and associated modelling. The laboratory testing chamber is discussed in detail in Paper 5 and is summarised in Figure 4.19 and Figure 4.20. An iterative experimental design procedure was applied to the development of the test chamber. Preliminary designs included an inclined side slope, however, this overcomplicated the model. Refinements were also made to the instrumentation. Prior to compression the chamber contained 1m³ of rubber crumb, with an instrumented geosynthetic lining system to one side, comprising of a geomembrane overlain by a non-woven geotextile. A summary of laboratory tests carried out in the chamber is given in

Table 4.4. It not intended to directly represent behaviour of a landfill lining system; it was instead designed to represent the interaction of lining system components when exposed to downdrag forces, and hence generate post-peak shear strength interface displacements experienced in side slope landfill lining systems. It must be acknowledged that real world landfill lining systems generally have a drainage layer between the protection geotextile and the waste, potentially altering the stress transfer into the geomembrane.



Figure 4.19 Schematic drawing of laboratory test chamber (reproduced from Paper 5)



Figure 4.20 Photograph of laboratory test chamber

Test number	Geomembrane	Geotextile
Test 1	1 mm Smooth LLDPE	HPS7
Test 2	1 mm GSE Textured LLDPE	HPS3
Test 3	1 mm GSE mono textured HDPE (Textured side up)	HPS3
Test 4	1 mm GSE mono textured HDPE (smooth side up)	HPS3
Test 5	1 mm GSE Textured LLDPE	HPS3
Test 6	1 mm Solmax Textured LLDPE	HPS3
Test 7	1 mm Solmax Textured LLDPE (with fusion seam)	HPS3
Test 8	1 mm Solmax Textured LLDPE (with extruded seam)	HPS3
Test 9	1 mm Solmax Textured LLDPE	HPS3
Test 10	1 mm Solmax Textured LLDPE HPS3	
	(with fusion seam)	

Table 4.4 1G model lining system laboratory testing programme

4.8.2 Instrumentation

4.8.2.1 Synthetic waste settlement

The vertical position of the load plate was measured using a linear MTS Temposonics position sensor. Preliminary tests were carried out with visible markers in the rubber crumb that could be monitored, through the glass window at the front of the test chamber, during compression to ensure that compression was uniform through the vertical profile of the sample. Following the preliminary tests, which showed greater compression in the upper section of the rubber crumb than near the base, the sheet steel and glass walls of the test chamber were lined with a 0.1 mm thick sacrificial plastic sheet to reduce boundary effects on the three sides without geosynthetics. This resulted in an observed compression in the lower 200 mm of the rubber crumb being equal to 91% of the settlement in the top 200 mm of the rubber crumb, which was considered to be satisfactory.

4.8.2.2 Geomembrane displacement

The displacement of both the geomembrane and geotextile were monitored at distances of 200, 400, 600, 800 and 1000 mm above the base of the geosynthetics (measurements are prior to deformation). Wires were attached to the geosynthetics at these points through small holes created in the geosynthetics. Whilst it is acknowledged that this would not be appropriate on site, it allowed the wires to be attached with only a small inclusion being formed. The wires were run to the surface then, via pulley wheels, over displacement measuring boards (see Figure 4.20) and each wire was tensioned using a 0.2 kg static weight. Along the length of the wires between attachment points with the geosynthetic and upper surface of the test, they

were isolated inside brass tubing to avoid interaction between the geosynthetic and wire gauges. As the geosynthetics displace, the wire attachments also move allowing the magnitude of the displacements to be measured.

4.8.2.3 Geomembrane tension

The geomembrane was anchored at the top using an aluminium flatbar clamp which was attached to a fixed steel frame via two tensile load cells (see Figure 4.20) allowing the axial force at the top of the geomembrane to be measured. The tensile load cells had a 12 kN limit and 1 N resolution.

4.8.3 Selection of synthetic waste

Selection of synthetic waste was based on a number of criteria:

- Compressibility ~ 25% under applied load;
- $K_o \sim 0.5$, therefore able to transfer stress horizontally onto the lining system; and
- Material needs to be reusable for repeated tests due to the large material requirements and limited storage space. No irreversible plastic deformation should occur.

The first materials assessed for use as synthetic waste were polystyrene sand mixtures that would allow vertical compression under load and still apply horizontal force to the lining system. Whilst the polystyrene particles selected could be small relative to the test chamber, there was potential for uneven mixtures of polystyrene and sand to be created. An additional drawback with the use of this material combination is that plastic deformations could occur in the polystyrene and hence, the polystyrene would have to be sieved out and removed following each test. Shredded tyres provided similar response to loading as MSW. However, preliminary tests showed that the large grain size and the potential for wire remaining in the tyre shreds could cause localised loading at the interface, and hence highly heterogeneous downdrag loads could have occurred, which were considered to be unacceptable. Hence, it was decided that rubber crumb would provide an acceptable synthetic waste material. Although the weight of the material (~ 5 kN/m³) was lower than that of measured

waste of 6 to 16 kN/m³ (Dixon *et al.*, 2005), the lining system was vertical and the loading was imposed through applied horizontal force and not the self weight.

4.8.4 Preliminary testing

Table 4.5 and show details of the laboratory testing schedule for material characterisation.

Purpose of test	Number of tests	Method Applied
Rubber crumb compression testing	6 tests in CBR mould 4 test in 0.125 m ³ test chamber	Strain controlled compression tests
	2 test in 1 m^3 test chamber	Stress controlled compression
Find K ₀ of synthetic waste	2 tests, two cells in each which are	Vibrating wire pressure cells in
	exchanged in the second test	1m ³ test chamber.
Interface shear tests	Minimum of 3 for each interface	300 mm by 300 mm Direct
	(total of 42 tests)	shear apparatus
Rubber crumb shear strength	9 tests at 3 normal stresses	100 mm shear box

Table 4.5 Preliminary laboratory tests for material characterisation

The shear strength parameters of the rubber crumb were measured in a 100 mm x 100 mm shear box. A series of 9 tests at 3 normal stresses were carried out. Tests were also carried out in the 305 x 305 mm direct shear apparatus used for interface testing, and comparable results were found. The mean shear strength of the rubber crumb under direct shear was a friction angle of 29.3° and cohesion of 3 kPa.

The compression behaviour of the rubber crumb was assessed at three scales. Preliminary tests were carried out in a CBR mould with strain controlled vertical load applied through a motorised compression rig (as used for triaxial testing). Repeated confined vertical compression tests were carried out on rubber crumb samples to assess the repeatability of the material response under loading. It was not permanently affected by the loading process, provided that the material was fully exhumed and replaced between tests thus removing the effects of particle rearrangement.

The second compression tests were carried out in the glass fronted test chamber measuring 500 mm x 500 mm x 500 mm (volume = $0.125m^3$). A motorised screw jack was used to apply a vertical load of 20 kN (80 kPa), via a load cell and a 25 mm thick wooden load plate, to the upper surface of the rubber crumb. The test showed very similar load compression curves to the preliminary CBR tests. The final

compression tests were conducted in the 1m³ test chamber, using a hydraulic loading system. The response again showed good correlation with the preliminary CBR tests.

Vibrating wire pressure cells were placed vertically and horizontally in the test chamber to determine the horizontal at rest pressure in the synthetic waste. The cells were swapped over for a repeat test and the results averaged to give a $K_0 = 0.55$.

Interface shear strength testing was carried out on each of the interfaces used in the laboratory model. The interfaces were categorised into 3 groups; synthetic waste – geotextile, geotextile – geomembrane, and geomembrane – wood subgrade. The interface shear strength tests were carried out in a direct shear apparatus, with a constant shearing area of 305 x 305 mm (using a 400 mm lower box). All tests were carried out in dry conditions, thus representative of the *in situ* conditions in the large scale laboratory test chamber. A shearing rate of 1mm/min was selected for the tests, allowing for stress dissipation in the rubber crumb. A slower shearing rate was not considered necessary due to the absence of fine grained soil. Ten minutes was allowed from application of normal stress to commencement of shearing to allow for compaction of the rubber crumb. The interface tests were carried out as performance tests, hence the materials above and below the interface were representative of the conditions in the large scale laboratory test chamber. The results of the interface shear strength tests are shown in Paper 5 Figures 4 to 7.

The tensile load cells were calibrated using applied weights up to 1.5 kN and using a tensile testing rig up to 10 kN. The loading system was applied to a loading reaction frame via a 100 kN vibrating wire load cell, thus calibrating the built-in pressure gauge. The vibrating wire pressure cells were tested in air, then placed horizontally in the rubber crumb and subjected to known vertical stress, whilst the vibrating wire readouts were taken. The tensile load cells were found to be to have a precision of ± 0.1 % and the vibrating wire pressure cells had a precision of ± 1 %.

4.8.5 Numerical modelling of 1m³ laboratory model

The numerical modelling approach is considered in section 4 of Paper 5. Paper 5 Figure 8 shows the modelling grid, which consists of 3 zones of elements representing the wooden subgrade, the synthetic waste, and the test chamber side. Beam elements are included in the model for the geomembrane and for the geotextile. The geomembrane has a fixed node at the top of the section and at the base to represent the boundary imposed by the base of the box. The geotextile is free to move at the top and has a fixed node to represent the boundary at the base. The beams were modelled with a 2% secant elastic modulus. A 2% secant modulus is often quoted by manufacturers for LLDPE geomembranes, and was considered more appropriate than a secant modulus at yield when compared to the expected deformations (see section 4.5.4). Giroud (1994) highlights the non-linear nature of the initial portion of the geomembrane tensile loading curve, and shows that the secant modulus at yield underestimates geomembrane modulus by a factor of approximately 3.5 times at 2%. The values of HDPE geomembrane secant modulus at yield were factored to account for this. Following this investigation it was decided to develop a non linear geosynthetic tensile response model, which is discussed in section 4.5.4.

A sign dependent code was applied so that the compressive modulus was one order of magnitude lower than the tensile modulus. This approach was adopted by Villard *et al.* (1999) to account for the fact that geosynthetics will fold and wrinkle instead of simply carrying compressive loading. Geosynthetic buckling under compressive loading is extremely complex (Villard, 1996), and beyond the scope of current landfill modelling practice. Figure 4.21 shows the influence of reducing the axial compressive modulus of the geosynthetic elements in the model. Where no reduction is applied, the model shows significantly less tension developed in the modelled geomembrane, 1.5 kPa compared to 3.9 kPa using one order of magnitude reduction. However, where a two orders of magnitude reduction was applied, only a smaller increase to 4.6 kN was observed.



Figure 4.21 Axial force in the geomembrane as a function of compressive modulus reduction

A linear elastic model with a Mohr Coulomb failure criterion was adopted for the synthetic waste. Although volumetric hardening models were available, the Mohr Coulomb model is typically adopted in landfill engineering practice, hence validation using this model, would better serve industry requirements. This is discussed further in Paper 5 section 4.2.

The interface modelling adopted displacement dependent behaviour as described in 4.5.3, with three interfaces in the lining system. This is discussed in Paper 5 section 4.4. The inclusion of three interfaces allows the integrity of the geosynthetics, and stress transfer through the interfaces to be considered.

4.8.6 Laboratory and FLAC results

Comparisons between the numerical analysis and the laboratory measurements are presented in Paper 5 Section 5, and a summary is presented below. For the Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane two laboratory tests were carried out, giving very similar responses (Paper 5 Figure 9), thus ensuring confidence in the repeatability of the investigation. The FLAC results show similar behaviour, with limited movement between the geotextile and the geomembrane, and large displacements between the geotextile and synthetic waste. The tensile force in the geomembrane predicted by the FLAC model is a maximum of 3.93 kN/m, where the laboratory tests give values of 3.49 and 3.47 kN/m. This gives confidence in the assumptions regarding the compressive modulus adopted in the FLAC modelling.

The Type S textured LLDPE geomembrane was delivered directly from site and required cleaning prior to use in the test chamber. During the cleaning process of the first sample (in test T6), the texturing became damaged as abrasive cleaning techniques were adopted, thus reducing the friction angle between the geotextile and the geomembrane. Although this was noted prior to testing, it was decided to continue with the test to assess the effects of this and then to repeat the test. Paper 5 Figure 11 shows the increased movement between the geotextile and the geomembrane as a result of the damaged texturing in test T6. In test T9 the sample was cleaned using jetted water, which did not damage the texturing. The results from test T9 show good correlation with the FLAC numerical model (See Paper 5 Figure 11). Greater displacement is predicted by the FLAC model and observed in test T9 than between the geotextile and Type G geomembrane in tests T2 and T5. This is explained by comparing the shear box curves in Paper 5 Figures 4 and 5, as the peak friction angle between the type G geomembrane and the geotextile exceeds that of the synthetic waste – geotextile interface, where as the same interface involving the type S geomembrane has lower peak strength than the synthetic waste – geotextile interface. These results not only act to validate the performance of the numerical model, they also highlight the influence of material damage on stability and the effect that installation damage and handling can have on stability and integrity. There is a significant difference in the measured geomembrane tension when using a Type G or a Type S LLDPE geomembrane (see paper 5, Figure 10). This is further evidence that interface shear strength is the primary controlling factor of geosynthetic integrity in landfills.

A mono-textured HDPE geomembrane was also tested, which has similar texturing to the Type G LLDPE geomembrane. When tested with the smooth side against the wooden subgrade, the interface displacements and predictions were similar to those in tests T2 and T5. The FLAC predictions also mirrored this result. The similarities in the shear strength relationships between these tests can be seen in Paper 5 Figures 4 and 6. The mono-textured geomembrane was also tested with the textured side against the subgrade and the smooth side against the geotextile. The maximum displacement was between the geotextile and the geomembrane and reduced slippage occurred between the geotextile and the synthetic waste. Due to the large displacements of the geotextile, folding occurred that was beyond the scope of FLAC to model. This resulted in a less accurate prediction of the measured axial force in the geomembrane (see Paper 5 Figure 10).

Comparisons between the FLAC model and the same interface configuration when analysed using infinite slope limit equilibrium analysis show that for the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, at 50 kPa applied load, an axial tension of 16 kN/m develops, thus exceeding the tensile strength of the material. Both the measured and FLAC predictions show an axial tension in the order of 3 kN/m. This difference is due to the fact that in the lower portion of the interface the peak strength of the synthetic waste – geotextile interface has not been mobilised, and infinite slope analysis do not account for the reducing contact area as compression occurs.

A discrepancy is evident between the predicted and the measured relative shear displacement at the synthetic waste – geotextile interface. This is particularly evident in Paper 5 Figures 9a and 12a. This discrepancy is due to shearing in the synthetic waste, which is considered in the FLAC results, however, in the laboratory results, the relative shear displacements are based on an assumption of compression and thus shearing of the waste is omitted.

4.9 Reinforcement of mineral lining systems

4.9.1 Requirements for reinforcement

The numerical analysis carried out in Paper 3, in addition to commercial modelling of steep sided landfill lining systems, has identified that mineral barriers as part of steep sided landfill lining systems can be subjected to large strains. The magnitude of the strains is dependent on the clay strength and stiffness. The modelling in Paper 3 adopted relatively low shear modulus for the clay based on the internal database of parameters from FLAC. More appropriate parameters can be obtained from literature

sources including Cripps and Taylor (1986 and 1987). However, even with increased stiffness values, the mineral lining system was still susceptible to significant shear strains.

Planar soil reinforcements (e.g. geogrids, woven geotextiles) are typically applied in the construction of support buttresses used to maintain stability of artificially established mineral lining system. However, soil reinforcement elements are not continued through the compacted mineral liner as it is considered that continuous reinforcement would provide preferential flow paths for contaminants through the mineral barrier layer. This is considered as an area requiring further study, as designs could be made more stable if inclusions through the geological barrier are shown to be acceptable.

Randomly oriented fibre reinforcement was considered as a method for providing increased strength, and a more ductile stress strain response, whilst not facilitating increased fluid migration through the barrier. Random fibre reinforcement involved mixing of discrete fibres into the soil matrix prior to compaction.

Whilst the initial concept was to mix random fibre reinforcements into fine grained compacted clay lining systems, mixing proved difficult, and whilst studies (e.g. Miller and Rifai, 2004) show encouraging performance of fibre reinforced fine grained soil, commercially applicable mixing methodologies are yet to be found. Preliminary testing and the experience of other authors (e.g. Mayer and Ho, 1994) indicate that the only way to generate an even mix of fibres is to increase the moisture content of the soils beyond the liquid limit. Although feasible at laboratory scale, the waste and energy requirements and the fact that fibre reinforced fine grained soil would require drying prior to use would be unacceptable at site scale.

4.9.2 Randomly reinforced fibres theory

Randomly reinforced fibres apply force through tensile resistance to elongation. Michalowski and Zhao (1996) state that fibres only add strength through tension mobilised along the fibre and that reinforcement in the compressive regime is not considered to occur due to buckling and kinking. When a fibre is held by soil grains, it can act to resist movement of soil grains away from one another. Therefore, the fibres become more effective as their orientation approaches the plane of the minimum principal stress. Figure 4.22 highlights a sample subject to triaxial compression and identifies the influence of fibres.



Figure 4.22 Fibre reinforcement theory

Michalowski and Cermak (2002) identify that strain hardening occurs in fibre reinforced soil. As compression occurs fibres will be preferentially aligned perpendicular to the principal stress axis, thus, the reinforcing effect will increase. However, Santoni and Webster. (2001) describe that strain hardening characteristics were seen at strains in excess of 25%, which is not considered acceptable if the hydraulic performance of the barrier is to be maintained. Whilst the fibre reinforcement will be randomly oriented at the time of mixing, compaction will cause preferential alignment.

One concern with the preferential alignment of the discrete fibres under strain is that preferential flow paths for fluid migration may form. Alignment of fibres in a landfill barrier is likely to be in a near horizontal plane due to the vertical compactive forces and overburden forces. Any preferential fluid migration would thus be allowed to pass through the barrier. Simple falling head permeability tests were carried out to assess the influence of fibre reinforcement, however, flow through the samples in the tests was parallel to the direction of compactive forces used in sample preparation. A suggested area of further research would be to assess permeability, in a flexible walled permeameter, with samples acquired from vertical and horizontal orientations.

4.9.3 Bentonite enhanced soil reinforcement

Bentonite enhanced soil (BES) is used to form a mineral barrier, particularly where fine grained natural soils are not present in abundance. BES utilises the swelling properties of bentonite to fill the voids between sand particles (Jefferis, 1998). Mixing of fibres into the composite is easier than in fine grained plastic soil due to the dominant granular sand component and relatively dry mix. Mixing plant is already required on site hence the fibres could be added without the need for additional plant mobilisation.

Paper 4 details testing programmes and the results from compaction, triaxial and permeability tests that were carried out on randomly reinforced bentonite enhanced sand (RRBES) sample.

4.9.4 Results

Paper 4 Figure 2 shows that the optimum moisture content for both unreinforced and reinforced BES is very similar, however, the dry density is lower with reinforcement, believed to be due to the fibres acting to resist some of the compactive effort. Significant strength increases were achieved when fibres were mixed and compacted at optimum moisture content (OMC). Increased fibre length, and, therefore, greater bond length, gave greater strength increases; Paper 4 Figure 3, indicating that fibre pullout was the controlling mechanism, as opposed to fibre tensile failure.

Samples were compacted with a moisture content of 2 x OMC to investigate the effect of increased moisture on fibre reinforcement. These showed much lower unreinforced strengths, however, reinforcement with 20 mm and 35 mm crimped fibres resulted in strength improvements, see Paper 4 Figure 5. Where samples were compacted at 2 x OMC samples reinforcement with 10 mm fibres produced lower strength parameters in triaxial tests than unreinforced samples, as the smooth fibres provided preferential slip planes along which sliding may occur.

Fibres must mobilise tensile stress to act as reinforcement, hence whilst the strength of the fibre reinforcements should not be ignored, the controlling factor in fine

grained soils with near optimum moisture content is likely to be the behaviour of the soils – fibre interface shear strength (i.e. bond resistance).

4.10 Construction considerations: Geomembrane seams

In landfill lining systems, sheets of geomembrane must be joined together by welded seams in order to provide a continuous barrier. In shallow slope lining systems the welded seams usually run from top to bottom of the slope. However, in steep sided lining systems, where construction occurs in lifts, it may be necessary to create horizontal geomembrane seams across the strike of the slope. In the UK, where the slope angle allows, fusion seams would generally be adopted, however, at near vertical slope angles it may be necessary to use extruded welding techniques.

There is very limited information on the influence of seams on interface behaviour available in the literature, primarily due to the difficulties in including seams in direct shear apparatus as the inclusion created by the seam would result in forced dilation of the overlying material around the inclusion, which would alter the shear stress at the interface, and the relative size of the inclusion would be large compared to the test area. The 1m³ laboratory test chamber was thus utilised to assess the affect of fusion and extrusion welded seams on interface displacement and tensile forces in geomembranes. Figure 4.23 shows a cross section through the seams.



Figure 4.23 (a) a cross section through an extrusion welded seam and (b) a tab from fusion welded seam.

The test apparatus was described in 4.8.1. A single type of LLDPE geomembrane from the same roll was used for all of the tests reported in this section, and the properties are summarised in Table 4.6. Geomembranes were tested with:

- No seam;
- A horizontal extrusion welded seam; and
- A horizontal fusion welded seam.

Polymer Type	LLDPE
Resin Density	< 0.926 g/cc
Texturing	Double
Texturing Type	Blown film
Thickness	1 mm
Asperity Height (ave.)	0.25 mm
2% modulus	$4 \times 10^5 \text{ kPa}$
Break Strength	17.5 kN/m
Break Elongation	400 %

Table 4.6 Geomembrane properties in seam influence investigation

The axial force in the geomembranes as a function of applied vertical load is shown in Figure 4.24. For reference, the results are compared to a test with no seam present. Although this was not the only test carried out with no seam, it is believed to have the most representative properties and the same water jetted cleaning technique was used for this test and the geomembranes with seams.



Figure 4.24 Tension in LLDPE geomembrane with and without welded seams

The fusion welded seams slightly increase the maximum developed axial force, from 2.36 kN/m with no seam, to 2.57 kN/m and 2.60 kN/m where the seams were present (increases of 9 and 10% respectively). The increase in geomembrane tension only

became apparent after 35 kN applied vertical load. This is believed to be a function of the increased horizontal stress causing the inclusion of the seam to have greater influence. When a horizontal extrusion welded seam was included in the test, a significant increase occurred in the measured axial force at the geomembrane anchorage. The maximum value recorded was 3.48 kN/m (an increase of 47 % compared to the sample without a welded seam). The influence of the extruded seam increases at applied vertical loads in excess of 15 kN. As the extrusion weld forms a greater physical inclusion, the effect is seen at lower stresses.

It was noted during exhumation of the rubber crumb that folding of the geotextile occurred around the location of both the extrusion and fusion welded seams, although this was more pronounced for the extruded seam than for the fusion welded seam. The inclusion of the welded seam is thought to provide a stress concentration, which induces the folding in the geotextile. Once fold formation has occurred, the fold also creates an inclusion that further increases the stress concentration.



Figure 4.25 Folding of the geotextile approximately 500 mm above the base of the sample in test with extrusion welded seam.



Figure 4.26 Folding of the geotextile approximately 500 mm above the base of the sample in test with fusion welded seam.

Interfaces are also influenced by the presence of the seams, particularly the extrusion welded seam which creates a rough inclusion inhibiting displacement at the geotextile – geomembrane interface, and inducing greater displacement in the geomembrane – subgrade interface.

5.0 Discussion

5.1 Interface shear strength variability

Bergado *et al.* (2006), Jones and Dixon (2003) and Koerner and Soong (2000) all identified interface sliding as a major cause of landfill failure. Jones and Dixon (1998), Criley and Saint John (1997), Koerner and Koerner (2001), Stoewahse *et al.* (2002), McCartney *et al.* (2004) showed that the variability associated with interface shear strength can be high. The purpose of this investigation was to assemble a comprehensive database of geosynthetic interface shear strength results which can be used as a reference tool, and to use the statistical data from the database in first order second moment reliability based limit equilibrium landfill stability analyses.

Typical practice for selection of parameters for interface shear strength was summarised by Koerner and Koerner (2007). This often simply consists of omitting any adhesion, and reducing the friction angle by one or two degrees, with little regard for the actual variability associated with the interface in question or the testing methods used. The database produced in this project allows users to quantify the variability associated with the interface in question, and select characteristic values accordingly.

The database shows large variability for literature results even when the interfaces involve geosynthetics on both sides of an interface. Geosynthetic – geosynthetic interfaces should give the minimum variability as they are manufactured in quality controlled processes. Whilst it was initially thought that variation in the global database is due to variability of basic material types, and hence site specific testing is required, inter-laboratory testing using materials from one source did, in some cases, yield equivalent variability, which is of concern as even with specified testing, significant variability may still exist. This demonstrates the importance of testing procedures, and well trained experienced testing personnel who understand the mechanisms associated with interface shearing and sensitivity to testing practice.

The interface shear testing database has provided a valuable commercial tool for selecting and verifying preliminary design values prior to site specific interface shear

strength testing, and then allowing greater confidence in selection of conservative estimates of the mean value affecting the limit state design, as required in BS EN 1997-1 : 2004 (Eurocode 7).

Probabilistic analysis has shown that use of the mean values from global datasets can produce very high probabilities of failure, due to the high variability and the sensitivity of the analyses to the selected parameters. Even with variability from repeatability testing, probability of failure is still significant, highlighting the importance of selecting appropriate, and conservative, design parameters. Probabilistic design methods allow the designer to gain an overall understanding of the combined sensitivity of the analysis to the combined variability of the input parameters and to undertake 'what if' assessments.

Schneider (1997) suggests the use of the subtraction half of a standard deviation to derive a characteristic value (see Equation 5.1), however, use of standard deviations from the global dataset would result in significantly more conservative designs than are currently produced. Whilst current design practice is not disputed as an acceptable methodology, failures do occur and designers should be aware of the variability associated with the parameters, and also the sensitivity of the calculation techniques to the chosen parameters. It should also be noted that designers should not always assume that a value lower than the mean is conservative (see section 4.1).

$$X_k = X_m - 0.5 \sigma_m$$

Where:

Equation 5.1

- X_k = Characteristic value X_m = Mean of test results
- σ_m = Standard deviation of test results

Sia and Dixon (2007) and Criley and Saint John (1997), report interface shear strength from repeatability analyses, which would be representative of the variability of site specific testing carried out for commercial design. However, even when the variability from the Criley and Saint John (1997) was considered in Paper 2, the associated probabilities of failure were still higher than suggested limiting values of $P_f \leq 0.01\%$ (for serious), 0.05 (medium) and 0.3 (low risk events) (Koerner and Koerner,

2001). This indicates that either current design practice is unconservative, or that the target factors of safety are unreasonable. McCartney *et al.* (2004) also reported consistent findings, with the factor of safety corresponding to a $P_f=1$, showing that the factor of safety was in the range of 1.23 to 2.25.

Sia (2007) has further assessed the shear strength variability using statistical framework, and used the numerical models developed as part of this project along with the interface shear strength database to demonstrate the influence of shear strength variability. Sia (2007) has shown that combining the numerical analysis toolbox, with quantified variability, reliability analyses can be conducted, and whilst this is beyond the scope of current commercial design, it advances the understanding of the influence of variability.

For future design practice, particularly in view of the introduction of Eurocode 7, selection of appropriate parameters will require significant consideration. When interfaces are included in analyses involving factored input parameters, design values should be factored if target factors of safety of unity are to be applied. Application of partial factors for interface shear strength variability would be challenging as variability is different depending on which interfaces are selected. Generic partial factors could be defined for geosynthetic - geosynthetic, geosynthetic - fine soil, and geosynthetic - coarse soil interfaces. It is acknowledged that selection of interface shear strength parameters for design will require significant judgement on the part of the designer, who should derive characteristic values using site specific and consideration of the literature database.

The importance of interface shear strength testing behaviour was highlighted in the 1m³ laboratory model where the use of two different textured geomembranes was shown to significantly affect the behaviour of a three interface lining system. Additionally, cleaning of the textured geomembrane was shown to significantly increase interface relative shear displacement due to apparent reduction in peak strength (section 5.2 Paper 5), which demonstrated that even if designers have confidence in the interface design properties, the materials can be damaged easily, particularly during handling on site, thus lowering the strength properties. Installers of geomembranes and CQA engineers should be aware that the manner in which

geosynthetics are handled on site can have significant implications for stability and integrity. Careful placement of geosynthetic rolls using bars, and careful unrolling should ensure that the texturing is not damaged, however, the CQA engineer should visually inspect the geomembranes for damage to ensure that site specific testing is representative of on site conditions.

5.2 Numerical analysis toolbox

Prior to this investigation, analysis using FLAC had been limited to a single interface with strain dependent behaviour, Byrne (1994), Jones (1999), Connell (2002) and Chugh *et al.* (2007), or a single geosynthetic layer, with simple Mohr coulomb interface either side (Itasca, 2002). Whilst some specific modelling codes have been created, they have lacked the features to predict the behaviour of steep sided landfill lining systems under complex loading conditions.

The use of a commercially available and well established and tested numerical modelling package allows additional features of landfill lining systems, such as the geological barrier, and reinforcing elements in soil support structures to be incorporated. It also allows greater flexibility over the geometry that can be produced. This research has made significant progress since the work of Byrne (1994), Jones (1999), Connell (2002) and Chugh *et al.* (2007) due to the incorporation of geosynthetics into the model, therefore, the introduction of multiple layer parallel slip planes. This allows the integrity of the geosynthetic layers during and post construction to be assessed.

Non-linear strength laws have been applied to the interfaces, thus allowing the progressive failure mechanism identified by Filz *et al.* (2001) and Jones and Dixon (2003) to be assessed. The toolbox developed in this project allows analysis of progressive integrity failure in addition to the stability mechanisms considered by Filz *et al.* (2001) and Jones and Dixon (2003).

Giroud (1994) identified non-linear pre-yield response of geomembranes in tension, which is often overlooked in favour of a secant modulus at yield. This assumption can result in a significant overestimation of tensile strain at pre-yield stresses. This has been accounted for in the model allowing strain dependent axial properties for geosynthetics to be defined. Guidance on obtaining input parameters strain dependent geosynthetics axial response is presented by Fowmes (2007b).

The model proposed by Villard (1996) allows analysis of multiple layer interfaces. This is considered by the author to be the most advance analysis model prior to this project, however, unlike FLAC, this is not a commercially available code and does not offer the wide range of modelling features which can be used to include the mineral lining system and engineered support systems. Another limitation in the application of the code by Villard *et al.* (1999) is that full strain dependent interfaces are not represented, although a mobilisation displacement for peak strength is included, implying that the code is capable of including fully strain dependent interfaces.

State of practice in commercial landfill design is still based on limit equilibrium analyses. Numerical techniques are only applied where problems have been identified or for complex and innovative designs. The numerical tools discussed in this report have been applied to commercial projects, however, as with any numerical analysis, application of the developed analysis techniques required a detailed understanding of the software, and also requires an understanding of the FISH programming language, as the codes developed in this project require modification to apply the code to the correct zone, interface or structural element. Application is time consuming, and whilst this project has developed tools capable of complex analysis, they cannot compete with the simplicity and ease of application of limit equilibrium techniques for conventional shallow slope designs.

Environment Agency concerns with regard to integrity tend to surround mineral liner performance, and whilst numerical modelling such as FLAC can be used to predict shear strains within the clay material, the stress strain response of the clay barrier is often highly simplified. Moreover, the allowable strains, in terms of increased permeability limits, in mineral lining systems are poorly understood, as are the relationships between soil plasticity and strain-permeability response. This area requires significant further research to allow designers to accurately quantify barrier performance. Modelling of the non-linear stress strain behaviour of multilayered geosynthetic elements is generally beyond the requirement of stability risk assessments, however, it is considered as technological advances occur, regulator requirements will, in time advance. Golder Associates (UK) Ltd is, at the time of writing, producing and delivering an Advanced Landfill Engineering (ALFE) course for the Environment Agency. This course is intended to increase regulator understanding of the requirements of landfill design and construction practice, and it is envisaged that the requirements for detailed numerical analysis during the design process will be better appreciated following this course.

Whilst continuum modelling techniques have been applied to large strain waste containment situations, the continuum grid is often excessively deformed during flow around corners. Therefore, for benched landfill applications the grid must be carefully considered in order to allow movement to occur. The use of 'pseudo-stiffness' to represent waste settlement can be used to give vertical settlements. Where the grid is unrestricted by benches, vertical settlements of 20 - 30 % do not cause geometric problems, (i.e. the grid aspect ratio is such that zones are not significantly wider than they are tall prior to deformation). Where such settlements occur next to a benched subgrade, settlement of the geometry causes problems. A coarse grid will allow for greater deformations, however, at the expense of model resolution. Excessive deformations of the grid can cause calculation difficulties, preventing accurate strain predictions, and in extreme solutions will not be possible.

Theoretically, there is no limit to the number of geosynthetic liner components that can be included in a model, as zero thickness interfaces are used and the thickness of the geosynthetics is used in axial calculation, however, the thickness is not taken into account perpendicular to the beam element. Interface interpenetration occurs, particularly under high normal loads, as a function of the interface normal stiffness. The stiffness value cannot be set unrealistically high as numerical instability occurs, hence some interpenetration, albeit small, is unavoidable. The interpenetration is cumulative across the interfaces, hence if one beam is included between two grids (i.e. two interfaces) relative displacement of the two grids, normal to the interfaces, will be the sum of the interpenetration across the two interfaces (see Figure 4.7, section 4.4.3.2). From experience, a limiting number of three beam elements is acceptable with respect to interface interpenetration.

Interface stiffness has been highlighted as an area of importance during numerical modelling, as parameters are often assumed, or selection is made from shear strength data with a poor understanding of the influence of the initial stiffness on the behaviour of the numerical model. The selected stiffness value will create a straight line on the displacement – shear stress plot (see Figure 4.6) until a limiting value, controlled by the interface shear strength is reached. If the interface shear stress on the interface. This may result in overestimation of displacements and misrepresentation of integrity issues. Low interface shear stiffnesses are generally selected to avoid calculation difficulties and to reduce solution time, however, selection of the initial stiffness from direct shear data, at the highest expected normal stress, will prevent the loss of peak strength that can occur.

Complex waste constitutive models have been developed to include reinforcing elements (Machado *et al.*, 2002 and Krase and Dinkler, 2005) and with compressible particles (Zhang, 2007), however, due to their complexity, acquisition of meaningful input parameters and difficulty integrating them into commercially applicable software packages limits their use. Numerical models for commercial application must be simple and input parameters readily available. In this study the development of stress dependent non-linear waste models has allowed commercial application of such analyses where waste properties alter as a function of depth and volumetric compression. This combines improvements in accuracy of the model response whilst retaining ease and speed of application.

Following development of the analysis toolbox, this project focused on validation of the numerical modelling techniques. However, subsequent research by Sia (2007) implemented the numerical modelling approached for multiple layered landfill lining systems reported above with statistical variability analysis, allowing the influence of multi parameter variability to be assessed over a large number of repeated FLAC realisations in a Monte-Carlo analysis. Figure 5.1 shows the relationship between the concurrent research project by Sia (2007) and the research reported herein.



Figure 5.1 Interaction between this research and other Loughborough University landfill engineering research group activities

5.3 Validation of landfill lining analysis tools

Whilst several authors have carried out numerical modelling on landfill lining systems there is very limited evidence to validate the predicted behaviour against real world behaviour. Back analyses by Filz *et al.* (2001) and Byrne (1994) have suggested that numerical analysis of a progressive stability failure mechanism can reproduce an observed failure mechanism, although integrity assessment was beyond the scope of these analyses.

Villard *et al.* (1999) carried out numerical and experimental assessments of stability and integrity of a lining system in unconfined conditions, which showed an acceptable correlation, however, the experimental testing equipment failed so that confined measurements could not be made. Comparisons between the work by Villard *et al.* (1999) and the FLAC numerical analysis toolbox show a good correlation with the measured behaviour up to the point of equipment failure.

Back analysis of a landfill failure in a steep sided quarry has shown that the failure mechanism could be reproduced at the correct waste depth (see section 4.7.2). The modelled failure mechanism closely reflected the observed mechanism and the position of the failure, and was attributed to post peak shear strength reduction beneath the geosynthetic layer. Whilst this showed that the correct behaviour could be predicted by a numerical model, comparisons to instrumented lining system behaviour would allow greater confidence in the numerical response.

As a site could not be accessed for a full scale field trial during the period of this research (see section 5.7.1) a large laboratory test was carried out, as discussed in Paper 5 and section 4.6. Numerical predictions of lining system behaviour based on input parameters from laboratory performance tests showed good correlation with the measured response. Whilst the exact values were not represented, given the simplification of the model, the correlation between the predicted behaviour and the measured results was considered to be good. The appropriate movements and mechanisms of post peak shear strength reduction were predicted by the FLAC model, in addition to the tension developed in the lining elements. This represents a significant development in the analysis of steep sided landfill lining systems, as it proves that the forces imposed on a lining system by a settling waste mass can be represented by a numerical model. It is envisaged in future that this will be further reinforced by validation using full scale field instrumented lining systems.

Thusyanthan *et al.* (2007) investigated tension in a scaled geomembrane on a shallow side slope in a centrifuge model. This modelling method allows a greater range of designs and materials to be investigated, although careful consideration of the scaling effects of each individual lining system component is required. Centrifuge tests may provide a useful tool in the assessment of downdrag force, particularly on shallower side slope, where hydraulic load application as applied in Paper 5 is not feasible.

5.4 Reinforcement of the geological barrier

In Paper 3 the potential for high strains in the geological barrier was identified. Whilst Miller and Rifai (2004) and Mayer and Ho (1994) discussed the use of fibres in fine grained soil, moisture content increases are required to facilitate mixing, which is not appropriate when constructing a mineral landfill barrier. The use of fibre reinforced bentonite enhanced sand was considered following the work by Michalowski and Cermak (2002) who showed that strength increases in sand could be achieved with the inclusion of fibres.

Addition of fibre reinforcements to BES showed significant strength increases when samples were mixed at optimum moisture content. However, when samples were mixed wet of optimum fibre pullout reduced the magnitude of the strength increase. Placement may be problematic as unlike with fine grained soils, unsupported steep slopes will not stand in the short term, thus limiting the application.

Two failure modes were identified by Al-Refeai (1991); fibre pullout and fibre tensile yield. Deconstruction of failed samples showed no evidence of plastic strain in the fibre reinforcements, indicating that failure by pullout was the preferential failure mechanism. This was likely to be due to the low frictional interface between hydrated bentonite and the smooth sided fibres. Longer fibres, with textured or fibrillated surfaces are suggested as methods of increasing pullout resistance, thus increasing fibre influence.

Consoli *et al.* (1998) demonstrated that the inclusion of fibres gave an increase in the peak strength of sand samples, but also observed an increase in residual strength, including a more ductile post peak response. Ductile post peak strength reduction is considered less likely to result in increased permeability than brittle behaviour.

The permeability of BES showed no increase with the inclusion of fibres, however, this was only assessed in falling head apparatus, conducted parallel to the direction of compaction. Due to the sub-horizontal orientation of fibres during compaction the permeability perpendicular to the direction of compaction is most likely to increase due to preferential flow path formation. Further investigation into the influence of
fibre reinforcement on permeability is required before this technology could be commercially implemented.

5.5 Steep sided landfill lining system design concepts

Gallagher *et al.* (2003) stated that the key design considerations for a steep sided lining system are:

- 1. Provision of an adequately smooth supporting surface as required;
- 2. Ensuring stability of the whole system; and
- 3. Selection of a system that will ensure the required support, integrity and compatibility of the barrier, and the protection layers in the context of the settling waste body.

Assessment (1) provision of an adequately smooth supporting surface, and (2) stability, were generally considered in design. The developed analysis toolbox allows an integrated approach to simultaneously assess (3) the required support, integrity and compatibility of lining system components. Whilst the design considerations presented by Gallagher *et al.* (2003) were written prior to the requirement for a geological barrier, point (3) above can be taken to refer to the support and integrity of both geosynthetic and mineral liner elements.

5.5.1 Lateral support

The waste will apply some lateral support to the lining system, which can be calculated using a coefficient of horizontal earth pressure K_0 (Dixon *et al.*, 2005). However, there is still some uncertainty surrounding the magnitude of applied support to the waste mass (Kavazanjian, 2006). The K_0 of waste governs the magnitude of support, and hence the requirements for the engineered support structure, however, due to waste variability this is difficult to quantify. Further data regarding the waste horizontal support should be generated from the instrumentation of landfill site "B" (see section 4.7.3.2).

In numerical analysis using FLAC, as with most commercially available numerical codes, the K_0 of the waste is not a direct input variable, and is calculated by the code

as a function of the constitutive model and input parameters. The designer must check that the applied lateral stresses in the model are representative of those believed to be present in the waste mass.

5.5.2 Three dimensional design considerations

Analyses of landfill lining systems are carried out in two dimensions with the assumption of plane strain conditions, however, in practice three dimensional geometry will exist and corners in the lining system and at the edges of caps and need to be considered. For inside corners where two inwards facing slopes meet, increased stability results, where as outside corners will lead to reduced stability and potential for increased lining system stresses. Typically, side slope lining systems contain inside corners and capping lining systems contain outside corners, and at such locations the assumption of plane strain conditions may not be accurate. Three dimensional analyses is beyond the scope of this investigation, however, it should be considered as an area of further research. Additionally, variability in the geometry will exist due to construction tolerances and natural variations in angles of rock and soil slopes. When conducting numerical modelling, such features are treated as planar surfaces, therefore omit this irregularity.

5.5.3 Inclusion of the geological barrier

The requirement of the EC Landfill directive (1999) for inclusion of a geological barrier along the base and up the side slopes of landfill sites has greatly increased the complexity of constructing steep sided landfill lining systems. Large support systems are often required to maintain the stability of the geological barrier, and hence significant void is lost. In countries not influenced by the EC landfill directive, there is not a universal requirement for a geological barrier. Examples of alternatives are given by Cowland *et al.* (2006), who discusses a variety of conventional and innovative steep sided lining systems including concrete lining and sprayed elastometric liners.

5.5.4 Drainage layer placement and integrity

Cowland *et al.* (2006) states that integrity of the draining layer is often considered as an afterthought in the design process, however, good drainage can greatly reduce the reliance on the barrier system. Geocomposite materials provide an alternative to granular drainage layers, particularly on steep side slopes, when placement of granular material can be difficult. In steep side slopes, where effective drainage is provided, leachate and gas accumulation against the lining system will be prevented, hence, the drainage layer should be considered as a primary component of the barrier system. In near vertical lining systems the containment requirement of the lining system can be reduced by provision of effective drainage to avoid leachate accumulation against the lining system.

5.6 Steep sided landfill construction

5.6.1 Seam inclusions

Section 4.10 highlights the influence of horizontal seams on tension developed in a geomembrane exposed to down drag forces. When steep sided landfill lining systems are constructed in lifts, it is often necessary to have a horizontal welded seam at the top of each lift. The research presented in this document highlights the importance of using fusion welding techniques, rather than extruded welds, to create a smaller inclusion, and thus reduce stress transfer into the geomembrane.

As part of standard Construction Quality Assurance (CQA) procedures, samples of the geomembrane seams are removed for destructive tests, which are taken every 150 -200 m. Where the samples are taken, an extrusion welded patch is included to repair the damage. In steep sided landfill lining systems it is recommended that such tests are not taken along the steep side slopes as the patch will act as a point of stress concentration. Agreement should be made with the regulator to take samples at the end of panels where excess geomembrane is present or on trial seams. In the CQA plan, consideration should be given to limiting the number of defect repairs by extrusion welding.

5.6.2 Placement of the geological barrier

Consideration of construction sequences and processes must be given during the numerical modelling process to ensure that the design can be constructed, and that the numerical model takes into account the important aspects of the construction process. Failures can occur in temporary compacted clay slopes prior to placement of support materials and waste.

The geological barrier requires compaction to achieve target permeability; however, the design may include a geological barrier on the side slope with a horizontal thickness of 0.5 m. Clearly this material cannot be placed and compacted as a 0.5 m thick column of material, hence a wider bench of mineral liner may be placed and cut back to the desired thickness. Where a reinforced soil, or engineered fill buttress is used in front of the barrier, it may be possible to place the fill, then excavate a trench at the rear of the fill to facilitate placement of the mineral barrier. This method allows placement of the mineral barrier with greater lateral confinement, thus improving compaction.

5.6.3 Construction plant

The design must consider both the influence of compaction plant on stability and integrity, and the access for construction and compaction equipment. Additional loading scenarios can be considered in both limit equilibrium models and the FLAC numerical model to account for plant loading. Where staged construction is carried out, it is the unconfined lining system that will be exposed to construction plant loading. The design of the landfill should take into account access for the construction plant to the steep sided lining system, which also facilitates material to be brought into place.

5.6.4 Health and safety

Any analysis of a design should consider constructability, not only in terms of what can be built, but also if the construction process may be dangerous. Steep sided landfill lining systems may introduce hazards to those working beneath the quarry wall, at or near limiting stability, working on or beneath constructed lining system as it is being constructed, and then as waste is placed. Such considerations should be taken into account from the conceptual design stage to allow appropriate lift heights and minimum bench widths to be derived. Under the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations (2007), which came into force 6th April 2007, it is the designer's responsibility to ensure that all potential hazards are eliminated or minimised. If health and safety and safe working practices are not considered at the preliminary design stage, significant redesign may be required later in the project.

5.7 Recommendations for future research

This project has identified several key areas requiring further research. The research suggested in this section is considered to be of significant interest to both academics and to design and construction practitioners.

5.7.1 Validation of the modelling

Whilst work has been carried out to validate the predictions of numerical modelling, full scale site instrumentation is required to compare the results of measured *in situ* liner performance to predictions using numerical modelling techniques. Ideally a variety of sites, with differing geometries, lining systems and slope angles should be instrumented to confirm the abilities of the numerical models to predict real world behaviour, and to refine the modelling with improved information on waste behaviour. This will allow increased confidence in numerical modelling and the use of numerical models for optimising designs.

Several attempts to instrument landfill sites have been made as part of this project, however, site operators have been concerned about potential repercussions if problems with the lining systems are found. Recent developments include the approval of a site operator for instrumentation of a steep sided lining system, at site B, to measure horizontal support provided by the waste, pore pressure development in the lining system, and installation of inclinometers to measure displacements of the facing blocks and the geomembrane. This lining system was designed using FLAC with application of the tools developed in this project and will provide a Class A, fully predictive, validation of modelled steep sided landfill support system behaviour. Further site instrumentation is required, including instrumentation of multiple layered geosynthetic lining systems to allow assessment of the relative displacements and geosynthetic tensile strains under loading.

5.7.2 Waste creep and degradation model

Current practice to represent waste settlement is to use waste with low stiffness, and hence represent downdrag due to waste compression and degradation behaviour. This is thought to give a falsely low representation of the horizontal support offered to steep sided lining systems by the waste and thus could lead to over-conservative designs. The waste settlement model needs to include time dependent waste creep and degradation related volume loss with coupled changes in stiffness and strength, which will be dependent on the waste type. A key requirement of this model is ease of application in a commercial context, hence parameters should include the percentage volume loss due to degradation and the stiffness and strength changes in response to volume loss relationships.

5.7.3 Mineral barrier reinforcement

Randomly reinforced soil technology has been shown to have beneficial effects on the behaviour of BES, however, further work is required to quantify the effects of fibre reinforcement on hydraulic conductivity, particularly in the direction perpendicular to compaction forces. Additionally, the pullout of fibres in contact with hydrated bentonite is of concern and it is suggested that the use of fibres with fibrillated or textured sided may improve pullout resistance.

Continuous reinforcement and anchorage through geological barriers is typically omitted from designs due to concerns surrounding preferential fluid migration along the reinforcing elements. Whilst it is acknowledged that geotextiles would provide a preferential flow path due to their open structure, low permeability polymeric grids and solid anchors will only provide preferential flow at the soil - inclusion interface. For anchors the use of expansive clays may be used around the inclusion to reduce flow potential, but for geogrid reinforcements, placement of this layer would be challenging, costly, and provide a potential weak interface. There is also concern that mobilisation strains in the reinforcements may induce unacceptable strain in the barrier material. Further investigation into fluid migration through inclusions may allow their use in the future.

5.7.4 Mineral barrier permeability-deformation relationships

There is limited data available on the influence of strain on geological barrier layer permeability. Work by Arch *et al.* (1995) has been adopted to show that increased permeability is not observed with shear strain < 10%. However, these investigations were carried out on kaolinite sand mixtures and are not necessarily representative of compacted clay barrier behaviour. Plasticity of the clay will control the strains that

may occur whilst still achieving required low permeability. This is considered an important area for future research into landfill liner performance and is of particular importance on steep side slopes where shear strains in excess of 5% have been predicted.

Over the duration of this project regulatory concerns regarding integrity have tended towards mineral barriers and not geosynthetic lining systems. Simple constitutive models are still applied to compacted clay landfill liners and a poor understanding of fluid pressures and suctions during construction still exists. The relationship between mineral barrier strain and permeability is poorly understood. Simple shear apparatus may be implemented to induce shear strains in material whilst permeability measurements should be considered in samples from vertical and horizontal orientations. An understanding of the response of permeability to strain as a function of plasticity would allow designers to set realistic limiting design criteria.

6.0 Implications for Industry

6.1 The key findings of the research

The key findings of the research are as follows:

- The variability of interface shear strength can have significant implications on the results of limit state design analysis. Even analyses with apparently acceptable factors of safety can yield apparently unacceptable probabilities of failure when input parameter variability is considered.
- FLAC can be used to assess the deformations of, and strains within, landfill lining system components, including multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems.
- 3. The FLAC model for landfill lining system performance has been validated against observed and measured landfill field behaviour in confined and unconfined conditions and against the behaviour of a lining system subject to downdrag forces at laboratory scale. Further field data is required to assess the behaviour of multilayered geosynthetic lining systems.
- Random fibre reinforcement can be used to increase strength in fibre reinforced soils with no observed increase in permeability, but concern still surrounds the pullout of fibres in contact with hydrated bentonite.
- 5. The presence of horizontal welded seams, in particular extrusion welded seams, can significantly increase the tension developed in a geomembrane exposed to downdrag forces.

In addition, an analysis framework has been produced in line with the Environment Agency *de facto* guidance, giving advice on the selection and execution of landfill stability and integrity analyses. This includes analysis methods at a variety of technical levels including limit equilibrium and numerical modelling.

6.2 Implications for Golder Associates

The interface shear strength data is required for a large percentage of the landfill stability risk assessments carried out by Golder Associates, in the UK and internationally, and the interface shear strength database has allowed comparisons

between site specific interface tests to be compared to a global database, thus giving greater confidence in the selected design parameters.

The development of the multilayered lining system analysis techniques, in FLAC, has allowed Golder Associates to remain at the technical forefront of landfill stability and integrity risk assessments. Working commercially during the Engineering Doctorate programme has allowed the project to be directly tailored to the needs of industry, and the research reported in this thesis has been directly applied in a variety of landfill design projects. The design toolbox document has formed the basis of design practice and has been used by both junior and experienced engineers whilst conducting landfill stability and integrity analyses.

6.3 Implications for wider industry

The work on interface shear strength raises concerns surrounding the use of published data for interface shear strength without some site specific testing. Even with factors of safety well in excess of normally accepted levels, unacceptable probabilities of failure have been generated. The use of site specific interface testing should be used where possible, although there is still variability in the recorded measurements (Sia and Dixon 2007).

The quantification of the variability associated with literature reviews and presentation of summary plots for the literature database allows the designer to make an assessment of the data they have received and to make a conservative estimate of the mean. With the advent of the requirement to design under EN 1997-1:2004 (Eurocode 7) the need for documentation of the derivation of conservative estimates of the mean value will increase, and this database will assist with this process.

The use of numerical analysis in landfill design is becoming more commonplace, particularly using the finite difference modelling code, FLAC. Whilst reliance is being placed on such designs to assess the deformations and strains within lining system components, there is little evidence to validate the behaviour predicted by numerical modelling techniques compared to field performance. The numerical analysis techniques for assessing multilayered landfill lining systems, allows analysis of complex lining systems and the validation of the displacements and generated stresses in the geosynthetic lining system elements, allows greater confidence in the application of these analysis.

6.4 Critical evaluation of the research

The validation of the numerical modelling was ultimately limited by the lack of full scale testing. Despite significant time and effort being expended in an attempt to instrument a steep sided landfill lining system, this has only become a possibility very recently. However, the information derived from the laboratory testing data allowed for high quality alternative data to be acquired.

Whilst randomly reinforced fibres showed that strength increases could be achieved when mixed with bentonite enhanced soil, it did not yield a solution to clay behaviour at strains which are associated with bench corners, due to concerns surrounding fibre pullout when coated with hydrated bentonite. The testing associated with this part of the project was limited to compaction, quick undrained triaxial tests, and falling head permeability tests. A more comprehensive suite of laboratory tests and field trials would be required before this technology could be properly assessed for commercial application.

With regulatory concerns tending to focus on the integrity of mineral lining systems and not that of the geosynthetic lining system, development of advanced analysis tools to focus on this part of the design may have better served commercial design practice. However, it is envisaged that as regulator awareness increases, the requirement for geosynthetic assessment will increase.

7.0 Conclusions

The published literature indicates that interface shear strength is a primary controlling factor in the behaviour of multilayered geosynthetic and soil landfill lining systems. The interfaces between geosynthetic and soil layers provide potential slip surfaces, and the magnitude of the shear stress is dependent on both the normal stress and the displacement. As municipal solid waste experiences settlement, displacement at interfaces is unavoidable, and engineered designs must account for this and ensure that the displacement occurs along specified planes.

A database of over 4200 data points, each representing a peak and residual shear strength at a given normal stress has been produced. The database shows variability greater than typically accounted for in the design process. At a typically adopted factor of safety of 1.3, reliability analysis yields probability of failure in excess of 1% (1 failure per 100 designs), which is not considered acceptable. The database can be used for preliminary design or comparison with measured results; however, this highlights and confirms the importance of site specific interface shear testing.

This project has developed a modelling technique, based on the FLAC numerical code that is applicable to commercial projects and research applications. The modelling toolbox developed as part of this analysis is capable of being used in assessment of multiple layer geosynthetic and soil lining systems, with the inclusion of strain dependent interface and geosynthetic properties. The model can include the complex loading induced by the waste mass, and has the ability to include varied subgrade and engineered support systems throughout a full staged construction process.

Validation of the modelling technique against published values, observed field behaviour and large scale laboratory tests has produced a satisfactory correlation between observed/measured and predicted behaviour. Further field scale landfill lining system instrumentation would allow validation of the model response during construction, post waste placement and in the long term, thus not only providing validation of the modelling presented here, but also for future models including time dependent degradation generated settlement. Numerical modelling has identified that with correct selection of liner materials, interface stresses can be controlled and thus build up of tension in geosynthetics can be avoided. In steep sided landfills, changes of slope angle, particularly outside corners at benches, can cause stress concentration in the geological barrier.

The use of fibre reinforced bentonite enhanced sand has been considered to provide a high strength material for use in areas of high predicted strain, although concerns exist surrounding the low interface friction between the fibres and the bentonite post hydration. At present, design of a lining support system is deemed to be the appropriate method for reducing strains in the geological barrier.

Construction details have been considered including the presence of horizontal welded seams, which are often a necessity during staged construction of a lining system in lifts. Laboratory tests showed small increases in geomembrane tension due to the presence of the fusion welded seams. Extrusion welded seams were shown to increase the geomembrane tension by nearly 50%.

This project presents significant advances in the development of analysis tools for use in the design of landfill lining systems, particularly for steep side slopes. The modelling technique developed allows the simultaneous assessment of stability and integrity of complex multicomponent lining systems. Previous work towards validation of numerical models for landfill lining systems has been limited, and it is believed that the work carried out in this project provides significant progress and increased confidence in the application of these methods.

8.0 References

- Al-Refeai, T. (1991). Behaviour of granular soils reinforced with discrete randomly oriented inclusions. J. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 10, 319-333.
- Arch, J. Stevenson, E. and Maltman, A. (1995). Factors affecting the containment properties of natural clays. In: Bentley, S. P. (ed.), Engineering Geology of Waste Disposal and Storage, Geological Society Engineering Geology Special Publication, No. 11, 259-265.
- ASTM D638 : (2003). Standard Test Method for Tensile Properties of Plastics. American Society for Testing and Materials.
- ASTM D5321-02 Standard Test Method for Determining the Coefficient of Soil and Geosynthetic or Geosynthetic and Geosynthetic Friction by the Direct Shear Method. American Society for Testing and Materials.
- Bergado, D.T., Ramana, G.V., Sia, H.I., Varun, (2006). Evaluation of interface shear strength of composite liner system and stability analysis for a landfill lining system in Thailand. Geotextiles and Geomembranes Vol. 24, No. 5, 371–393.
- BS EN ISO 10319 : (1996). Geotextiles. Wide-width tensile test. BSI, London.
- BS EN 1997-1 : (2004). Eurocode 7: Geotechnical design Part 1: General rules. BSI, London.
- Byrne, R.J., (1994). Design issues with strain-softening interfaces in landfill liners. Proceedings of the Waste Technology '94, Charleston, South Carolina, USA, Session 4, Paper 4.
- Chugh, A.K., Stark, T.D. and De-Jong, K.A. (2007). Reanalysis of a municipal landfill slope failure near Cincinnati, Ohio, USA. Can. Geotech. J. Vol 44, 33-53.
- Connell, A.C., (2002). Factors controlling the waste/barrier interaction; with specific consideration to the integrity of steep-sided landfill lining systems. Loughborough University internal report submitted in partial fulfilment of transfer from MPhil to PhD. Department of Civil and Building Engineering, Loughborough University.

Connell, A.C. (2005). Pers. Corr.

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations (2007). HMSO Statutory Instrument 2007 No. 320.

- Council of the European Union (1999). Directive. 1999/31/EC on the landfilling of waste. Official Journal of the European Union, L 182, 1-19.
- Consoli, N.C., Prietto, P.D.M. and Ulbrich L.A. (1998). Influence of Fibre and Cement Addition on Behaviour of Sandy Soil. ASCE Geotech and Geoenv Engng Vol 124, No. 12, 1211-1214.
- Cowland, J. W., Bouazza, A. and Sadlier, M.A. (2006). Leachate Containment in Quarry Landfills. Proc. 5th International Conference on Geotechnics. Vol 1. 701-708.
- Criley, K.R. and Saint John, D. (1997). Variability analysis of soil vs. geosynthetic interface friction characteristics by multiple direct shear testing. Proc. of Geosynthetics '97, Long Beach, CA, 885-897.
- Cripps, J.C. and Taylor, R.K. (1986). Engineering properties of british over-consolidated clays and mudrocks I. Tertiary deposits. Engineering Geology. Vol. 22, 349-376.
- Cripps, J.C. and Taylor, R.K. (1987). Engineering properties of british over-consolidated clays and mudrocks II. Mesozoic deposits. Engineering Geology. Vol. 23, 213-253.
- Dixon, N., Blumel, W., Stoewahse, C.,Kamugisha, P. and Jones, D.R.V. (2002). Geosynthetic interface shear behaviour. Part 2 Characterisite values for use in design. Ground Engineering. March 2002, 49-53.
- Dixon, N., Ng'ambi, S., and Jones, R. (2004). Structural performance of a steep slope landfill lining system. Proc of the ICE, Geotechnical Engineering. Vol, 157, 115-125.
- Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2003). Stability of landfill lining systems: Guidance, Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385, Report 2.
- Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2005). Engineering properties of municipal solid waste. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 23, 205-233.
- Dixon, N., Whittle, R.W., Jones, D.R.V. and Ng'ambi, S. (2006). Pressuremeter tests in municipal solid waste: measurement of shear stiffness. Geotechnique Vol. 56, No. 3, 211-222.
- Duncan, J.M. (2000). Factors of safety and reliability in geotechnical engineering. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, ASCE, Vol. 126, No. 4, 307-316.
- Environment Agency (England and Wales) (2004). Landfill regulatory guidance note 6. Interpretation of the engineering requirements of schedule 2 of the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002.

- Filz, G.M., Esterhuizen, J.J.B., Duncan, J.M., (2001). Progressive failure of lined waste impoundments. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, ASCE, 841–848.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2004a). Variability of Shear Strength Data for Geosynthetic-Geosynthetic and Geosynthetic-Soil Interfaces. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2004b). FLAC for modelling of Steep Wall Lining Systems. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University. October 2004
- Fowmes, G.J. (2005a). Fibre Reinforced Soils Literature Review. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University. January 2005.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2005b). FLAC for modelling of Steep Wall Lining Systems; Volume 2. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University, May 2005.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Cowland, J. (2006b). Modelling of Lining System Integrity. Proceedings 8th International Conference on Geosynthetics, Yokohama, Japan.
- Fowmes, G.J., Sia, A., Zhang, B., Dixon, N and Jones, D.R.V. (2007a). Numerical analysis of the stability and integrity of multilayer landfill lining system. Proc GEE07: 7th Japanese-Korean-French Seminar "Geo-Environmental Engineering". Grenoble, France, May 22-24th 2007. 69-74.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2007b). Design Toolbox: A guide to Landfill stability and integrity assessment. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University, July 2007.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2008). The influence of horizontal welded seams of geomembrane tension in a steep sided landfill lining system., Proc EuroGeo4, Edinburgh, September 7-10 2008.- Accepted for publication
- Gallagher, E.M.G., Needham, A.D., and Smith, D.M. (2003). Use of Geosynthetics in landfill steepwall lining systems. Proc. of the East midlands Geotechnical Group symposium, Nottingham, Sept 2003. 71-91.
- Giroud, J.P. (1994). Mathematical Model of Geomembrane Stress-Strain Curves with a Yield Peak. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 13, 1- 22.
- Giroud, J.P. (2004). Poisson's ratio of unreinforced geomembranes and nonwoven geotextiles subjected to large strains. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 22, 297-305.

- Golder Associates (UK) Ltd. (2006). "Site B" landfill, Cell 4a steepwall lining system design report. 06529315.502/A.0
- HMSO (2002). The Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations (2002). Statutory Instrument 2002, No. 1559.
- Itasca Consulting Group, Inc (2002). FLAC 4.0 Users Manuals (9 volumes). Second Edition, Second Revision.
- Jefferis, S.A. (1998). The design and control of bentonite enriched soils. Proc. Geotechnical Engineering of Landfills, Thomas Telford.
- Jones, D.R.V. (1999). The design of landfill lining systems using geosynthetics. unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, Nottingham Trent University.
- Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (1998). Stability of geosynthetic lining systems. Proc. Geotechnical Engineering of Landfills, Thomas Telford, 99-117.
- Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2003). Stability of landfill lining systems: Literature Review, Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385, Report 1.
- Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005). Landfill lining stability and integrity: the role of waste settlement, Geotextiles and Geomembranes, Vol. 23, 27-53.
- Jones, D.R.V. (2006) Pers. Cor.
- Kavazanjian, E. (2006). Waste Mechanics: Recent Findings and Unanswered Questions. Proc. of Geoshanghai, Keynote Paper, June 2006.
- Koerner, R.M. and Soong, T.-Y. (2000). Stability assessment of ten large landfill failures. Advances in Transportation and Geoenvironmental Systems Using Geosynthetics, Proceedings of Session's of GeoDenver 2000, ASCE Geotechnical Special Publication No. 103, 1-38.
- Koerner, R.M. and Koerner, G.R. (2001). Geosynthetics design beyond factor of safety; risk assessment using probability of failure analysis. Proc. GRI-15, Hot Topics in Geosynthetics-II, December 2001, Houston, 235-253.
- Koerner, R.M. and Koerner, G.R. (2007). Interpretation(s) of Laboratory Generated Interface Shear Strength Data. GSI memo. July 16th 07.
- Koerner, R.M. and Narejo, D. (2005). Direct Shear Database of Geosynthetic-to-Geosynthetic and Geosynthetic-to-Soil Interface. GRI Report No. 30.

- Krase, V. and Dinkler, D. (2005). Constitutive modelling of the behaviour of municipal solid waste. Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, Sardinia.
- Long, J.H., Gilbert, R.B. and Daly, J.J. (1995). Effect of waste settlement on sloped lining systems. Proceedings of Geosynthetics '95, Nashville, Tennessee, USA, February, Vol. 2, 729–744.
- Machado, S. L., Carvalho, M. F. and Vilar, O. M. (2002). Constitutive Model for Municipal Solid Waste. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, ASCE, Vol. 128, 940-951.
- Maher, M.H. and Ho, Y.C. (1994). Mechanical properties of kaolinite/fibre soil composite. ASCE J. Geotechnical Engineering, Vol. 120, No. 8, 1381-1393
- Merry, S.M. and Bray, J.D. (1996). Geomembrane response in the wide strip tension test. Geosynthetics International; Vol. 3, No. 4, 517-536.
- McCartney, J.S., Zornberg, J.G., Swan, R.H. Jr. and Gilbert, R.B. (2004). Reliability-based stability analysis considering GCL shear strength variability. Geosynthetics International, Vol. 11, No. 3, 212-232.
- Michalowski, R.L. and Cermak (2002). Strength anisotropy of fibre reinforced sand. Computers and Geotechnics, Vol. 29, 279-299.
- Michalowski, R.L. and Zhao, A. (1996). Failure of fibre reinforced granular soils. ASCE J. Geotechnical Engineering, Vol. 122, No. 3, 226-234.
- Miller, C.C. (2002). Feasibility of using Shredded Tyres as a draining material in Geotechnical projects. Unpublished MSc Dissertation. Nottingham Trent University.
- Miller, C.J., and Rifai, S. (2004). Fibre Reinforcement for Waste Containment Soil Liners, ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering, Vol.130, No.8, 891-895.
- Meiβner, H., Abel, K. (2000). Numerical investigations of inclined landfill liner systems. Proceedings of the GeoEng2000, Melbourne, Australia, published on CD.
- Neuman, W.L. (1997) Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Oweis, I. S. (2006). Estimate of Landfill Settlements Due to Mechanical and Decompositional Processes. Journal of Geotech. and Geoenv. Eng., Vol. 132, No. 5, 644-650.

- Reddy, K.R. Kosgi, S. and Motan, E.S. (1996). Interface Shear Behaviour of Landfill Composite Liner Systems: A Finite Element Analysis. Geosynthetics International, Vol. 3, No.2, 247-275.
- Sabatini, P.J., Griffin, M.L., Bonaparte, R., Espinoza, R.D. and Giroud, J.P. (2002).
 Relaibility of state of practice for selection of shear strength parameters for waste containment system stability analyses. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 20, 241-262.
- Santoni, R.L. and Webster, S.L. (2001). Airfield and Roads Construction Using Fibre Stabilization of Sand. ASCE Journal of Transport Engineering, Vol 127, No.2, 96-104.
- Schneider, H.R. (1997). Definition and determination of characteristic soil properties. Proc.14th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering, Hamburg, Vol. 4, 2271-2274.
- Sharma, J.S., Flemming, I.R. and Jogi, M.B. (2007). Measurement of unsaturated soil geomembrane interface shear strength parameters. Can Geotech. J. Vol. 44: 78-88.
- Sia, A.H.I. and Dixon, N. (2007). Distribution and variability of interface shear strength and derived parameters. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. Vol. 25, 139-154.
- Sia, A.H.I. (2007). Landfill Lining Engineering Designs: A probabilistic approach. Unpublished PhD thesis, Loughborough University. November 2007.
- Sivakugan, N. (2006). A FLAC Primer, Internal research publication, James Cook University, Australia.
- Stoewahse, C., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V., Blümel, W. and Kamugisha, P. (2002). Geosynthetic interface shear behaviour: Part 1 test methods, Ground Engineering, Vol. 35, 2, 35-41.
- Terry, R. (2006). Steep Side Slope Lining Systems in Landfill Sites Since the Implementation of the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002. Unpublished MSc thesis, University of Southampton, August 2006.
- Thusyanthan, N.I., Madabhushi, S.P.G. and Singh, S. (2007) Tension in geomembranes on landfill slopes under static and earthquake loading Centrifuge study. Geotextiles and Geomembranes Vol. 25, 78-95.
- Villard, P., Gourc, J.P. and Feki, N. (1999). Analysis of geosynthetic lining systems (GLS) undergoing large deformations. Geotextiles and Geomembranes Vol. 17, 17–32.

- Villard, P. (1996). Modelling of interface problems by the finite element method with considerable displacements. Computers and Geotechnics, Vol. 19, No. 1, 2345.
- Villard, P. and Chareyre, B. (2004). Design methods for geosynthetic anchor trenches on the basis of true scale experiments and discrete element modelling. Can. Geotech. J. Vol. 41, No. 6, 1193–1205.
- Waste Management Paper 26B. (1995). Landfill design, construction and operational practice.Department of the Environment, HMSO, London.
- Watts, K.S., Charles, J.A., (1990). Settlement of recently placed domestic refuse landfill. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers Part 1, Vol. 88, 971–993.
- Zhang, B. (2007). Constitutive modelling of municipal solid waste. Unpublished PhD thesis. Loughborough University, UK.

9.0 Full list of publications and technical reports associated with this project

Journal Papers

- Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Fowmes, G.J. (2006b). Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. Geosynthetics International. 2006, Vol. 13, No1. 1-14.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007b). Landfill stability and integrity: the UK design approach. ICE J. of Waste and Resource Management. Vol. WR2, 51–61.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007c). Validation of a numerical modelling technique for multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. . Vol. 26, 109–121.

Conference Papers

- Fowmes, G.J., Zhang, B., Dixon, N., El-Hamalawi, A., and Jones, D.R.V. (2005a). Modelling of Waste Barrier Interaction. International Workshop "Hydro-Physico-Mechanics of Landfills" Grenoble, France, March 2005.
- Jones, D.R.V, Fowmes, G.J. and Dixon, N. (2005b). A Method for Assessing Stability and Integrity of Landfill Lining Systems Golder Associates Engineering Group International Symposium, Pheonix
- Fowmes, G.J., Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005c). Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, Sardinia.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. (2006a). Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems. 5th International Congress on Environmental Geotechnics, Cardiff, UK, June 2006, 709 – 716.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Cowland, J. (2006b). Modelling of Lining System Integrity. Proceedings 8th International Conference on Geosynthetics, Yokohama, Japan.

- Dixon, N., Zhang, B., Fowmes, G.J., Sia, A., Langer, U. El-Hamalawi, A. and Jones, D.R.V. (2006a). Landfill Engineering: Waste Mechanics and Design Practice. Asian-European Sustainable Urban Development 2006, Chongqing China.
- Fowmes, G.J., Sia, A., Zhang, B., Dixon, N and Jones, D.R.V. (2007a). Numerical analysis of the stability and integrity of multilayer landfill lining system. Proc GEE07: 7th Japanese-Korean-French Seminar "Geo-Environmental Engineering". Grenoble, France, May 22-24th 2007. 69-74.
- Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2008). The influence of horizontal welded seams of geomembrane tension in a steep sided landfill lining system., Proc EuroGeo4, Edinburgh, September 7-10 2008.- Accepted for publication

Internal Technical Reports

- Fowmes, G.J. (2004a). Variability of Shear Strength Data for Geosynthetic-Geosynthetic and Geosynthetic-Soil Interfaces. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2004b). FLAC for modelling of Steep Wall Lining Systems. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University. October 2004
- Fowmes, G.J. (2005a). Fibre Reinforced Soils Literature Review. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University.January 2005.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2005b). FLAC for modelling of Steep Wall Lining Systems; Volume 2. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University, May 2005.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2007a). Validation of numerical methods used to predict geomembrane tension, strain and relative displacements in a multilayered steep sided landfill lining system. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University, March 2005.
- Fowmes, G.J. (2007b). Design Toolbox: A guide to Landfill stability and integrity assessment. Internal Report, Golder Associates (UK) Ltd and Loughborough University, July 2007.

Editorial Contributions

ASCE. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering. Peer Review of technical paper on fibre reinforced soil – geomembrane interface behaviour.

- Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V., Smith, D.M., Fowmes, G.J., Fraser, I. and Shercliff, D. (2005). Geosynthetics in Hydraulic Engineering, IGS, ISBN 0-9541992-1-9.
- International Review Committee, 8th International Conference on Geosynthetics, Yokohama, Japan, September (2006).

Articles

Fowmes, G.J. (2005c). Innovative landfill lining systems. Innovation and Research Focus Issue No. 62 (August 2005)

10.0 Appendices

Appendix 1	Paper 1	Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007b). Landfill stability and integrity: the UK design approach. <i>ICE J. of Waste and Resource</i> <i>Management</i> . May 2007, WR2, 51–61.
Appendix 2	Paper 2	Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Fowmes, G.J. (2006). Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. <i>Geosynthetics International</i> . Vol. 13, No1. p 1.
Appendix 3	Paper 3	Fowmes, G.J., Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005c). Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. <i>Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium</i> , Sardinia. pp369.
Appendix 4	Paper 4	Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. (2006a). Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems. <i>Proc.</i> 5 th <i>International Congress on Environmental Geotechnics</i> , Cardiff, UK, June 2006. 709 – 716.
Appendix 5	Paper 5	Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007c). Validation of a numerical modelling technique for multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems. <i>Geotextiles and Geomembranes</i> 26 (2008) 109–121.

Paper 1: Landfill Stability and Integrity: The UK design approach

G.J. Fowmes, N. Dixon, and D.R.V. Jones

Full Ref:

Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007). Landfill stability and integrity: the UK design approach. *ICE J. of Waste and Resource Management*. May 2007, WR2, 51–61.

Abstract

This paper highlights the design considerations, in terms of stability and integrity, for EC Landfill Directive compliant sites. The paper details a design chart based on research and development reports produced for the Environment Agency (England and Wales) intended to guide the designer and highlight the areas for consideration in each of six aspects of landfill construction: subgrade, basal lining system, shallow slope lining system, steep slope lining system, waste slopes, and capping lining systems. The paper is not intended to offer design methodologies in terms of which calculation methods should be adopted, but to provide designers with a framework in which to apply engineering skill and judgement and to highlight challenges.

Keywords

Landfill Stability, Integrity, Design, Lining systems,

1.0 Introduction

A report conducted on UK landfills¹ identified over 85 failures. Although the majority of these failures were recorded during landfill construction, and hence could be easily remediated, there were still significant cost implications. The failures were primarily attributed to inadequate site investigation, uncontrolled groundwater and inappropriate design. This highlights the need for guidance on the design of landfill lining systems.

A literature review, R&D technical report P1-385/TR1², and a guidance document, R&D technical report P1-385/TR2³, have been produced for the Environment Agency for the assessment of the stability and integrity of landfill lining systems. Application of the guidance provides a framework for the assessment of six aspects of landfill stability and integrity: subgrade, basal lining systems, shallow slope lining systems, steep slope lining systems, waste slope stability, and capping lining stability.

In England and Wales landfills are required to obtain a Pollution Prevention and Control (PPC) permit. The stability risk assessment requirements for the permit application are based on P1-385/TR2. This paper presents the design considerations for each of the six cases and discusses the key considerations. To date, over 600 copies of Report TR2 have been distributed by the Environment Agency in response to orders from designers, operators and researchers both in the UK and overseas. This paper considers the key aspects of landfill design and provides an updated summary of current design approaches and highlights areas for future consideration.

1.1 Typical lining system

A typical lining system comprises of barrier, protection and drainage layers formed from geological (e.g. clay and gravel) and geosynthetic (e.g. geomembrane and geotextile) materials. Figure 1 shows a typical lining system. A barrier layer is required to limit the leakage of fluids (both liquid and gas) from the waste mass into the surrounding environment. Examples of barrier layers include compacted clay, bentonite enriched soil (BES), colliery spoil, polymeric geomembranes and geosynthetic clay liners (GCL).



Figure 1. A typical landfill lining system.

For non-hazardous landfills (e.g. those taking municipal solid waste), the EC Landfill Directive $(1999)^4$, enforced in the UK through the Landfill Regulations 2002^5 , requires a geological barrier to aid attenuation of contaminants. This should have properties equivalent to a thickness of 1m and hydraulic conductivity of 1.0×10^{-9} ms⁻¹, and is required along the base and up the sides of landfill sites. The thickness can be reduced to a minimum 500 mm if the permeability of the barrier layer is decreased. In the UK the geological barrier is typically formed by compacted clay or BES (artificially established geological barriers) and may also include low permeability in situ materials (natural geological barriers)

In order to further reduce the leakage from the landfill, composite liners can be used where a combination of barrier materials provide a greatly reduced hydraulic conductivity. The most common composite lining system involves a compacted mineral liner overlain by a polymeric geomembrane, where the geomembrane is in close contact with the mineral liner; hence any fluids migrating through defects in the geomembrane must still pass through the mineral liner whilst the hydraulic head across the mineral liner is significantly reduced by the presence of the geomembrane. It is important to protect the geomembrane from damage both during and following installation. A geotextile protection layer is typically placed above a geomembrane to protect the membrane from overlying materials. The performance of a lining system is improved by the control of leachate head acting on it, and it is common practice to include a drainage layer above the lining system. The drainage layer can be a granular mineral layer or a polymeric drainage composite.

2.0 Design Issues

2.1 General

Site investigation should provide designers with confidence in parameters selected for use in analyses. Inadequate site investigation may not only lead to inappropriate design parameters being selected but can also lead to critical failure mechanisms being overlooked. For landfill design, knowledge of the subgrade, groundwater regime and material properties of in-situ and engineered materials is required. In an ideal scenario the waste mechanical properties would be known but due to the waste heterogeneity, composition and particle size this is difficult, although ranges of likely waste parameters must be obtained as discussed in section 3.4.2.

When analysing barrier layers the allowable strains must be considered. In a mineral barrier this will depend on the soil plasticity. High plasticity fine grained soil may be subjected to greater deformations than low plasticity soil before the permeability of the soil rises. For polymeric geosynthetic liners, the polymer type, material thickness and design life will all affect the allowable strains. The designer must justify the selected materials and the design to show that the allowable deformations do not adversely affect the barrier performance.

A very important design consideration is how the system will be constructed. Safe working must be ensured during construction as detailed in The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations $(2007)^6$. It is the designer's responsibility to ensure that all potential hazards are eliminated or minimised. Working at heights and at the base of high slopes must be kept to a minimum; this is of particular importance in steep sided landfill lining systems.

The design life of a geomembrane will depend on the polymer type, additive package applied to the polymer and environmental conditions, including the temperature generated within the landfill and the leachate chemistry. It is widely accepted that the geomembrane will have a finite period of functionality and the design life of the system must be sufficient to allow the waste mass to become stable and all contaminated leachate to have been treated. In the long term, geosynthetic lining system components will degrade⁷. A designer must firstly consider the impact of this on the containment function of a lining system. The hydrogeological and landfill gas risk assessments should take into account the loss of functionality of polymeric lining system components at a given number of years into the life of the system.

2.2 Interface shear strength considerations

The interfaces between lining system components, in particular where planar geosynthetic materials are present, may provide preferential slip planes. The strength of these interfaces can be highly variable, and large variability in shear strength can result from the testing laboratory used, as well as material variations⁸. Literature data should be used with caution as they may not be representative of the onsite conditions. Site specific testing should be specified to verify or enable detailed design to be carried out, and should involve performance, rather than index, testing with representative material above and below the interface. In addition to interface shear strength variability, if composite materials or Geosynthetic Clay Liners (GCL) are used, the internal shear strength will also need to be considered. GCL internal shear strength variability is high when comparing different manufacturing lot specimens, the natural variability of the bentonite material is also shown to play a part in this⁹. It is important to specify site specific testing in order to reduce the uncertainty associated with interface shear strength variability.

In Eurocode 7 (1997)¹⁰, the characteristic value of a soil property is defined as: '*A cautious estimate of the value affecting the occurrence of the limit state*'. With mineral, polymeric and interface properties, an understanding of the associated variability of the parameter will allow the designer to select a cautious estimate. Increased site specific testing will increase the confidence in the selected parameters.

Leachate and gas pressures may be present at an interface. Designers must consider if fluid pressures could act on an interface. Interfaces separated from the waste mass by a barrier layer are less likely to have elevated leachate and gas pressures acting on them than those not separated from the waste. In limit equilibrium analyses the use of peak or residual values in design can greatly influence the calculated factors of safety for a given design^{11,12}. The use of peak strength may be unconservative if sufficient displacement occurs to induce post peak shear strength reduction ¹³ .A landfill failure was reported where a compacted clay barrier layer failed along an interface with an underlying polymeric geocomposite drain . Back analysis of the failure showed that post peak interface conditions were required to generate a factor of safety of 1. It is believed that repeated plant loading from heavy dump trucks using a diagonal haul road in the vicinity of the failure caused post peak shear strength to be mobilised. Numerical modelling techniques can be used to represent strain dependent interface shear strength, although concerns still surround the accuracy of the input data associated with such analyses¹⁴.

3.0 Design Cases

Figure 2 shows the six main elements of a landfill containment system, and Figure 3 presents the individual design considerations for each of the design cases, including key controlling factors, that should be considered when assessing landfill stability and integrity. The fundamental aspect of a safe design is to select the potential critical failure mechanisms, either in terms of stability or integrity, then to assess these using relevant analysis methods using site specific parameters. Although each aspect of design should be considered, this does not imply that a calculation must be done in every case. A logical argument can be put forward as to why a particular failure mechanism is not considered to be likely.



Figure 2. Landfill lining system design cases.



Figure 3. Landfill lining system design considerations.

The lining system and subgrade should be considered prior to, during, and post construction. Unconfined conditions occur in the subgrade prior to construction and in the lining system prior to waste placement. In side slope lining systems, particularly those on steep gradients, the absence of horizontal support at this stage means that stability is dependent on the internal strength of the subgrade and the lining system. During the transient construction stage, the subgrade will become confined, then following waste placement the lining system will also become confined, however, the additional weight of the overlying material and downdrag associated with waste settlement means that consideration of the stability and integrity post waste placement is still required. The following sections address in turn each of the six overall design cases.

3.1 Sub Grade

When assessing the subgrade, the potential failure scenarios that should be considered include: basal heave, slope instability, potential void formation, and subgrade compressibility (see Figure 4). The considerations will be different depending on whether the base is a natural or engineered subgrade or if it overlies existing waste. To assess cavities in a non-waste subgrade, adequate site investigation is required to gain an understanding of the potential for soil collapse and settlement. For a waste subgrade, the waste stream, method of placement and compaction and age of the waste will need to be considered in order to assess the likelihood of void formation and the expected magnitude and distribution of settlements, both total and differential.



Figure 4. Subgrade failure mechanisms.

The subgrade should be stable, both during and post construction, to prevent movements that may damage the overlying lining system. Stability must be assessed for cut, fill and natural slopes (see Figure 4). For sloping subgrade the design issues will include stability, deformations and void potential. For slopes in fine grained soils, time dependent failure mechanisms should also be considered, as short term stability does not guarantee long term stability even following waste placement¹⁵. Rock mass stability assessments should consider the nature of the rock mass and jointing patterns in order to ensure that the slope will remain stable during and post waste construction. In quarry landfills the stability of rock slopes must be considered as many old quarry slopes are marginally stable following extraction, and re-profiling of such slopes may be required for safe working.

3.2 Basal lining system

For a basal lining system, potential deformations in the subgrade and lining elements leading to overstressing of barrier layers and loss of function, must be considered. Basal stability must either be assured (Section 3.1) or the likely deformations during the life of the facility must be accounted for in design of the lining system.

3.2.1 Influence of the subgrade on the lining system

Settlement of the subgrade may occur due to loadings from the overlying waste. The lining system must be designed so as to retain its integrity if subjected to differential settlements (see Figure 5a). The potential for cavities in the subgrade may require the inclusion of a geogrid to provide support to the lining materials and waste mass over the void¹⁶. Geogrids can be used, where significant total and differential settlements are likely to occur, as a means of averaging settlement profiles across the site. The allowable deformations in a clay liner due to the settlement vary depending on the soil composition, stress state and plasticity¹⁷.

3.2.2 Subgrade fluid pressure and basal heave

Pore fluid in the subgrade can generate hydraulic gradients in a mineral barrier leading to softening and potential shear failure. A landfill failure was reported resulting from softening of the compacted clay barrier layer due to uncontrolled groundwater in the mudstone subgrade . This occurred during periods of heavy rainfall producing a high hydraulic gradient of upward flow through the liner together with the build up of surface water. This resulted in saturation of the clay liner and the toe of the side slope and slumping of the clay. Under-drainage was installed and pumping carried out to relieve the pore pressure in the subgrade. In order to ensure barrier integrity is maintained, fluid pressure in the subgrade should be considered for the design life of the landfill site, and under drainage installed if necessary.



Figure 5. Basal lining system failure mechanisms: a) differential settlement and void collapse, and b) basal heave.

Basal heave can occur if the pore water pressure at a given depth in the sub-grade is greater than the total stress from the overlying strata (see Figure 5b). The presence of a natural low permeability layer or the placement of a low permeability fine grained barrier layer will prevent release of this fluid pressure into the landfill void and hence upward movement of the landfill base may occur. Basal heave is predominantly an issue prior to waste placement, however, may occur following waste placement if the waste mass exhibits a low unit weight.

3.3 Side slope lining systems

Design considerations highlighted in this section are for both shallow and steep sided slopes. Stability and integrity of the liner elements, as well as the stability of the subgrade, should be considered both pre (Figure 6a) and post (Figure 6b) waste placement, as waste placement introduces additional forces into the lining system. As with a basal lining system, the behaviour of the subgrade can also control the integrity of the side slope lining system. Time dependent waste degradation and creep can occur, introducing additional forces in liner elements post closure.

3.3.1 Waste settlement induced strains in lining elements

Waste downdrag must be considered in both waste supported and self supporting lining systems. The behaviour of such a system can be likened to negative skin friction in a pile foundation. As the waste settles due to both the weight of successive waste lifts and subsequent settlement due to degradation and creep, the downwards movement of the waste mass will induce downdrag forces on the lining system. These forces must be dissipated to prevent overstressing of geosynthetic barrier layers or loss of function of protection layers (Figure 6b and 7). Two design philosophies can be adopted in order to preserve the integrity of the underlying lining system. Firstly the system can be made sufficiently robust so that it is unaffected by these additional forces, or alternatively the system can be designed to dissipate the stresses through the use of preferential slip planes or sacrificial materials in order to prevent stress transfer into the lining system. Pre-compacted waste or inert fill can be placed adjacent to the waste barrier interface to buffer the lining system from the settling waste mass and also improve lateral support conditions.



Figure 6. Side slope lining system failure mechanisms: a) unconfined, and b) confined.

Drainage layers can become distorted or localised failures can occur due to insufficient horizontal support and waste downdrag (Figure 6b). The drainage layer is essential to prevent the accumulation of leachate against the lining system and to relieve gas pressures.

3.3.2 Geosynthetic anchorage

As part of the assessment of geosynthetic interface sliding, and geosynthetic barrier layer integrity, the anchorage of a geosynthetic system must be considered (see
Figures 6a and 6b). If geosynthetics are used in the lining system, these can be anchored to prevent uncontrolled sliding of the geosynthetics. If one end of a geosynthetic is fixed then stresses transferred into the lining system will result in tensile stresses and associated strains within the geosynthetics.

During construction, temporary anchoring of geosynthetic elements may be considered in order to restrict relative movement. Where waste is constructed in lifts, the waste will be placed prior to a final permanent anchorage being established. In this case the effect of the self weight of the waste and settlement induced downdrag will already be acting on the material before the permanent anchorage is complete. During the final stages of construction, the geosynthetic may be permanently anchored to resist slippage occurring during final stages of waste placement, compaction and post placement settlement.

Consideration must be made as to whether geosynthetic anchorage is required. For example, the upper layer of a two layer slip surface geotextile system may not be anchored at all to allow for movement on the lower interface. However, the lower layer should be anchored as typically the requirement would be that this layer does not slip. An argument can be put forward that geosynthetic anchorage should not be required as it only acts to concentrate stresses and only comes into effect if slippage has occurred in the interfaces: Interface engineering should be the primary method of slippage prevention, not anchorage of the geosynthetics.

3.4 Steep side slope lining systems

Steep side slope lining systems present additional technical challenges highlighted below. Figures 3 and 7 demonstrate design considerations for a liner construction that must be satisfied both with and without waste support. With waste support the lining system is constructed ahead of waste placement but, unlike self supporting lining systems, it relies on the waste to apply a horizontal force resisting movement of the lining system. Waste is considered to be part of the liner support system. The key design considerations for a steep sided lining system have been described as follows¹⁸:

• Provision of an adequately smooth supporting surface as required;

- Ensuring stability of the whole system; and
- Selection of a system that will ensure the required support, integrity and compatibility of the barrier, and the protection layers in the context of the settling waste body.



Figure 7. Steep slope lining system failure mechanisms.

The leachate and landfill gas containment requirements must still be retained in the steep slope lining system¹⁹. In addition, mineral and artificial components of the lining system should be considered from both a stability and integrity point of view and it is important to integrate these aspects to produce an effective yet viable design. Possible stability failure mechanisms include shear failure of the lining system and toppling of the lining system, whilst integrity failure can occur as a result of geosynthetic element overstressing and straining of mineral barrier layers (Figure 7)

3.4.1 Inclusion of a geological barrier

The EC Landfill Directive (1999) requires the inclusion a geological barrier along the base and up the side slopes of a landfill, regardless of the angle of the lining side

slopes. Clay barriers can be placed on slopes of up to 1(vertical):2(horizontal) for relatively small heights²⁰. Greater slope angles are required for use in steep wall lining systems hence a compacted clay barrier layer would need some lateral support to maintain stability. Strains in the lining system can occur due to the waste overburden stresses or due to waste settlement (downdrag). The dominant shear force is dependent on waste material and side slope angle. Assessment of shear stresses in lining elements due to waste weight and downdrag may be estimated by the use of numerical methods, although there is still a requirement for validation of such analysis techniques.

A reported field trial to investigate the interaction of a steep (80°) side slope compacted clay barrier system, supported by a gabion wall and waste, gave the following findings²¹:

- The barrier experienced significant vertical and horizontal strains, with the magnitude dependent on the stiffness of the waste body;
- The method of construction, including the phasing of barrier construction and waste lifts, has an influence on the magnitude and distribution of barrier deformations;
- Differential vertical strains were found in the barrier components; and
- A number of failure mechanisms were predicted resulting from the magnitude of deformations required for equilibrium between the barrier and waste body. These included shear failure, bulging failure, toppling failure and bearing failure.

Failure of a compacted clay lining system in the UK has been reported²², where the liner suffered a toppling failure and moved away from the quarry wall due to the lack of support from the waste. This study showed that the findings listed above are relevant to UK practice, and that the current UK waste stream placed using typical compaction practice is not suitable for supporting a clay only barrier system on steep slopes.

The geological barrier may be stable in the short term due to its high undrained shear strength. However, in the long term, drained conditions will occur and the barrier will require support. Internal support has been considered for strengthening the geological barrier; however, any form of continuous reinforcement may provide a preferential flow path through the materials. The use of discrete fibre reinforcements has been considered²³. Inclusion of such reinforcement in stiff clays is reported to be unviable, and strength increases in bentonite enhanced soils are only reliable if the moisture content of the material remains low enough as not to lubricate the soil fibre interface. Due to these concerns associated with internal support approaches, it is preferable for the clay barrier to be externally supported, either by the waste or by an engineered supporting structure. This could consist of an engineered fill wedge or a reinforced soil structure. Care must be taken if designing a benched quarry as the support for the geological barrier may have to be placed on top of the geological barrier in subsequent lifts. There is potential for increased strains in this scenario (Figure 7), particularly at the corners of the benches. Numerical analysis is often necessary in order to assess the deformations that will occur in the geological barrier.

3.4.2 Waste Support

A self supporting lining system can be constructed to its full height in the absence of waste support, however, two financial factors restrict the use of such systems: construction cost and, if the system is wide, loss of void space (loss of revenue). When considering a waste supported lining system, it should be noted that two distinct aspects of support will act on the lining system. Firstly, the waste will apply some lateral support, which can be calculated using a coefficient of horizontal earth pressure K_0^{24} . Secondly, should the lining system begin to deform then the waste stiffness will control the magnitude of deformation and may prevent stability failure. It should be appreciated that movements to mobilise the waste resistance can be large due to its low stiffness and hence integrity failures may still occur. If waste support is insufficient then shear or toppling failures of the lining system may occur (Figure 7).

In addition to waste composition, lateral support is also a function of compaction practice adjacent to the lining system. There is a tendency on site to avoid compaction directly adjacent to the lining system due to a concern that this may result in mechanical damage to the liner, however, this practice may have the adverse effect and leave the lining system more vulnerable to deformation and hence loss of integrity. In order to fully understand the support from waste, the mechanical behaviour of the waste must be understood. Reviews of the current understanding of landfill engineering and waste mechanics^{25,26} highlight areas requiring further research. Important characteristics such as the coefficient of earth pressure at rest, and stiffness are still poorly understood with only a limited number of studies available.

3.5 Waste mass stability

Two types of waste slope failures should be considered: those involving waste mass alone and those involving the lining system and/or subgrade (Figure 8). Due to the highly heterogeneous nature of the waste mass it is unlikely that the actual strength characteristics will, or in fact could, be known. Therefore, conservative parameters should be selected that are appropriate to the waste stream, waste placement techniques and compaction practice for a particular site. Failures in the waste mass can occur due to exposed waste slope angles exceeding the shear strength of the waste body. Instability can also be induced by relic weak layers such as temporary soil cover layers, weak waste layers or leachate pressures within the waste body. Failure of a temporary waste slope was reported , due partially to sliding of the waste mass on an old cover soil layer. As the cover soil did not contain reinforcing elements (i.e. plastic) that were present in the waste body it formed a weak plane along which preferential shearing could occur.



Figure 8. Waste slope failure mechanisms.

Leachate can be collected in the base, perched within the waste or can be present through the waste body (Figure 8) especially if recirculation is active. An 800,000 m³ slide of waste occured, mainly due to injection of leachate as part of recirculation strategy in conjunction with inadequate leachate and gas collection systems²⁷. Gas and leachate pressures in the landfill may result in failures²⁸.

The designer must consider failures where the critical surface incorporates the lining system. Sliding can occur due to shearing within mineral layers, on geosynthetic interfaces, or internal failure of geosynthetic composites. Increased pore fluid pressure in liner components and along interfaces increases the likelihood of such failures, hence the leachate and groundwater conditions in the subgrade should be taken into account and controlled where required.

Translational failures of the whole waste mass along interfaces and composite failures involving both shearing of waste and interfaces must be considered. Movement along interfaces can mobilise post peak strengths and hence increase the possibility of failure. Post peak strength can be mobilised during construction and by subsequent loading as the waste is placed and settles. A landfill failure occurred due to sliding along weak planes provided by interfaces²⁹. Mobilisation of post peak interface shear strengths occurred at small displacements which, it was suggested , were likely to have been exceeded during the construction and filling phases. A translational slide was reported , where a sacrificial layer of soft clay was left in place to limit damage and desiccation and was subsequently covered by the geomembrane. This layer provided a low shear strength layer along which preferential shearing occurred.

Subgrade related failures may still occur following placement of the waste. These can be driven by the increased loading from the waste mass, particularly if the underlying subgrade experiences undrained loading. Groundwater rebound following void infill or cessation of pumping can also result in subgrade instability. A landfill failure was reported involving a low strength native soil underlying the waste³⁰. Adequate site investigation must be carried out to characterise the subgrade and likely areas of low strength leading to potential instability. While many infill (i.e. quarry type) landfills do not have steep waste slope profiles as part of the final design, it is common to form

temporary waste slopes during cell construction and staged filling, with such slopes typically have gradients up to 1 vertical: 2 horizontal. There have been a number of failures of temporary waste slopes in the UK in recent years and, therefore, is it important for designers to check the stability of all waste slopes that are formed during the filling process.

3.5 Capping lining systems

The landfill cap is exposed to the environment and the designer must consider the potential for degradation or damage to this lining system. Due to the heterogeneity of the underlying waste material differential settlements are likely under the capping system. All capping elements should be assessed in terms of overall stability and integrity (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Capping lining system failure mechanisms.

The stability of the capping system must take into account potential failures: between and within liner elements and involving the underlying waste, restoration soils and drainage materials. Material and interface shear strengths are required for analysis as well as an understanding of the likely pore fluid conditions in the capping system. Even with inclusion of a drainage layer the cap may be susceptible to saturation in extreme rainfall conditions. Gas pressure acting on the underside of the barrier may reduce stability beneath the barrier layers and, therefore, such permeable layers could be included below the barrier layer allowing migration of landfill gas³¹.

Figure 3 identifies the integrity mechanisms to be considered. These include slope deformations and differential deformation of the cap resulting from cavities in the underlying waste and from waste settlement. Due to the likelihood of differential settlements, materials may be selected that can accommodate greater deformations without loss of function such as LLDPE geomembranes, and high plasticity fine grained soils.

4.0 Summary

A design framework has been put forward for assessing stability and integrity of landfill lining systems. The framework covers the general design cases for each of the six elements: subgrade, basal lining system, shallow side slope lining systems, steep side slope lining system, waste slope and capping lining systems. The guidance is not intended to be prescriptive and direct engineers how to design each aspect of the lining system, but it is to highlight relevant issues. It should be noted that the factors presented here do not form an exhaustive list and all site specific issues should be considered.

Although design is very important, a good design alone will not ensure the adequate performance of a landfill lining system. Construction quality assurance (CQA) should be carried out during the construction to ensure that the construction of the lining system meets the design specification. Material properties should all be verified as deficiencies can invalidate the functionality of the entire design.

Design using generic properties derived from literature values, previous experience or index testing, can lead to potentially high risk designs, especially where the properties exhibit large inherent variability. Site specific performance testing on subgrade and lining system components reduces this risk, allowing greater confidence in designs and can result in cost savings.

In order to fully understand and assess the structural performance of landfill lining systems, they should be instrumented in order to monitor structural behaviour during

construction, waste placement and post completion. This will improve confidence in long term behaviour, lead to optimised designs and reduce risk. Integrity and deformation analysis using numerical analysis is becoming more common. However, insufficient validation of such numerical models currently exists and field instrumentation is required to address this.

References

¹ JONES D.R.V., DIXON N. and STOREY S.M. Lessons Learnt from UK Landfill Failures. *Proc.* 9th Int. Waste Management and Landfill Symp. Cagliari, Sardinia, Oct 2003. pp 511.

² JONES D.R.V. and DIXON N Stability of landfill lining systems: Literature Review, *Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385*, (2003) Report 1.

³ DIXON N. and JONES D.R.V. Stability of landfill lining systems: Guidance, *Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385*, . (2003) Report 2.

⁴ COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (1999) DIRECTIVE. 1999/31/EC ON THE LANDFILLING OF WASTE. *Official Journal of the European Union*, L 182, 1-19.

⁵ THE LANDFILL (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS (2002) HMSO Statutory Instrument 2002 No. 1559

⁶ CONSTRUCTION (DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT) REGULATIONS (2007) HMSO Statutory Instrument 2007 No. 320. ⁷ NEEDHAM A.D., SMITH J.W.N. and GALLAGHER E.M.G. The service life of polyethylene geomembrane barriers. *Engineering Geology* 85 (2006). Issue 1-2. 82-90.

⁸ DIXON N., JONES D.R.V. and FOWMES G.J. Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. *Geosynthetics International*, 2006, (13) No1 p 1. 1-14

⁹ ZORNBERG J.G., MCCARTNEY J.S. AND SWAN R.H. Analysis of a Large Database of GCL Internal Shear Strength Results. *J. of Geotech. and Geoenv. Engng.*, March 2005, Vol. 131, No. 3, pp 367–380.

¹⁰ EUROCODE 7: GEOTECHNICAL DESIGN - PART 2: Design assisted by laboratory testing (1997). ENV 1997-2:1999.

¹¹ GILBERT R.B., NAJJAR S.S. and SHIELDS M.K. Importance of Residual Strengths in Factors of Safety and Reliability, *Proc. Geo-Frontiers 2005*, 18th GRI Conference on Geosynthetics Research and Development in Progress (CD-ROM), (2005) ASCE, Reston, Virginia.

¹² DIXON N. and JONES D.R.V. Design interface shear strengths: peak or residual? *Geosynthetics, Protecting the Environment.* 1st IGS (UK) 1 Day symposium, Nottingham, June 2003. pp 52–70.

¹³ JONES D.R.V. and DIXON N. Landfill lining stability and integrity: the role of waste settlement. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes* 23 (2005) No. 1, pp27-53.

¹⁴ FOWMES G.J., JONES D.R.V. and DIXON N. Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. *Proc. 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symp.*, Sardinia, 2005. pp369.

¹⁵ CHANDLER R.J. and SKEMPTON A.W. Design Of Permanent Cutting Slopes In Stiff Fissured Clays, *Geotechnique*, v 24, n 4, Dec, 1974, p 457-466.

¹⁶ GIROUD J.P., BONAPARTE R., BEECH J.F. and GROSS R.A. Load-carrying capacity of a soil layer supported by a geosynthetic. *Proc. of international Geotechnical Synposium on theory and practice of Earth Reinforcement*, Fukuoka, Japan, October 1988, pp.185-190. T. Yamanouchi, N. Miura & H. Ochiai (eds), Balkema, Rotterdam.

¹⁷ KATZENBACH, R., AMANN, P. AND EDLEMANN, L. (1995) Invesitgation of limiting values of deformability for mineral landfill liners by simulation of deformations in 1:1 scale tests. In Advanced landfill liner systems. Qugust, H., Holzlohner, U. and Meggyes, T. Thomas Telford, London. pp123 – 131.

¹⁸ GALLAGHER E.M.G., NEEDHAM A.D., and SMITH D.M. Use of Geosynthetics in landfill steepwall lining systems. *Proc. of the East midlands Geotechnical Group symposium*, Nottingham, Sept 2003. pp. 71-91. Dixon, N., Murray, E.J., and Jones, D.R.V. (eds) Thomas Telford, London.

¹⁹ COWLAND J.W., BOUAZZA A. and SADLIER M.A. Lechate Containment in Quarry Landfills. *Proc. of the 5th International Conference on Environmental Geotechnics*. Cardiff, June 2006, Vol 1, pp. 701-708. ²⁰ HERTWECK M. and AMANN P. Slope stability of clay liners at waste deposit rock walls. *Proc.* 14th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engng. Hamburg. (1997) No 1. 687-690.

²¹ EDELMANN L., HERTWECK M. and AMANN P. Mechanical behaviour of landfill barrier systems. *Proc. Instn Civ. Engrs Geotechnical Engineering* (1999) v 137, n 4, Oct, 1999, p 215-224.

²² DIXON N., NG'AMBI, S. and JONES D.R.V. Structural performance of a steep slope landfill lining system. *Proc. of the Institution of Civil Engineers, Geotechnical Engineering* (2004) 157, Issue 3, July, pp. 115-125.

²³ FOWMES G.J., DIXON N. and JONES D.R.V. Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems. *Proc. 5th International Congress on Environmental Geotechnics*, Cardiff, UK, June 2006. pp. 709 -716.

²⁴ DIXON N. and JONES D.R.V. Engineering properties of municipal solid waste. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, 23(2005), issue 3, pp 205-233

²⁵ KAVAZANJIAN E. Waste Mechanics: Recent Findings and Unanswered Questions. *Proc. of Geoshanghai*, Keynote Paper, June 2006. Zhenshun Hong, Maosong Huang Ronaldo Luna, Guo-Wei Ma (Editors). ASCE.

²⁶ JONES D.R.V. and DIXON N. Landfill Engineering: A Technical Challenge or Old Hat. *Proc. Waste 2006*, Stratford, UK, Sept. 2006. Beatrix Vegh and John Royle (eds). Waste Conf. Ltd, Coventry, 497- 506. ²⁷ CAICEDO B., GIRALDO E. and YAMIN L "The landslide of Dona Juana landfill in Bogota A case study" In: de Mello, L. G., Almeida, M. A. A. eds., Environmental Geotechnics (4th ICEG), Balkema, Lisse, Netherlands, (2002) pp 171-175.

²⁸ KAVAZANJIAN E. and MERRY S.M. The 10 July 2000 Payatas Landfill Failure. *Proc. 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium*, Sardinia, (2005). pp587.

²⁹ MITCHELL J.K., SEED R.B. and SEED H.B Kettleman Hills Waste Landfill Slope Failure. I: Liner System Properties, *Journal of Geotechnical Engineering*, ASCE,. (1990). Vol. 116, No. 4, pp. 647-668.

³⁰ Eid H.T., STARK T.D., EVANS W.D. and SHERRY P.E. Municipal Soil Waste Slope Failure. I: Waste and Foundation Soil Properties. *J. of Geotech. and Geoenv. Engng.*, (2000126, 5, 2000, p 397-407.

³¹ THIEL R. Design and Testing of a NWNP Geotextile Gas Pressure Relief Layer Below a Geomembrane Cover to Improve Slope Stability. *Proceedings for Sardinia* '99 Seventh International Landfill Symposium, Vol. III, pp. 343-350, Oct. 1999.

Paper 2: Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis

N. Dixon, D.R.V. Jones, and G.J. Fowmes

Full Ref:

Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Fowmes, G.J. (2006). Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. *Geosynthetics International*. Vol. 13, No1. p 1.

Abstract

Failure of modern landfills by slippage of lining materials and waste bodies is not uncommon. The majority of failures are controlled by slippage at interfaces between lining components. Information on variability of interface shear strength is required to carry out both limit equilibrium stability analysis using characteristic shear strengths and probability of failure analysis. Current practice is to carry out a limited number of site specific tests and this provides insufficient information on the variability of interface strength for design. A summary of measured strengths and an assessment of variability have been presented for seven generic interfaces common in landfill lining systems. This combines values from the international literature, an internal databases and results of repeatability testing programmes. The implications of variable shear strength are examined though probability of failure analysis of two common design cases: veneer and waste body slippage, and this adds to the small number of studies published previously. The reliability analyses show that relatively high probabilities of failure are obtained when using variability values from the literature and an internal database even when factors of safety ≥ 1.5 . The use of repeatability data produces lower probabilities for typically used factors of safety, although they are still higher than recommended target P_f values.

Notation

FS _k	Factor	of safety	using	characteristic	shear	strengths
		2	<u> </u>			0

- $FS_{MLV}\ Most$ likely (or traditional) value of the factor of safety
- FS_i^+ Factor of safety calculated with the specific variable (i.e. shear strength) increased by one standard deviation
- FS_i Factor of safety calculated with the specific variable (i.e. shear strength) decreased by one standard deviation
- P_f Probability of failure
- PSR Parallel submergence ratio
- V Coefficient of variation
- X_k Characteristic value
- X_m Mean value
- α Apparent adhesion defining Coulomb failure envelope for interface shear strength (Pa)
- β Slope angle (°)
- δ Slope angle defining Coulomb failure envelope for interface shear strength (°)
- σ_m Standard deviation of measured value
- σ_{MLV} $\,$ Standard deviation of FS_{MLV}
- ΔFS_i FS_i^+ FS_i^- for each variable

Subscripts

- k Characteristic value
- p Peak
- r residual
- +, Plus and minus one standard deviation

1. Introduction

A survey of UK failures in lined landfills reported by Jones & Dixon (2003a) showed that a significant number of slippages have occurred in the past decade. UK experience is consistent with the incidence of failures in other parts of the world that have similar landfill design and construction practices (e.g. Brink *et al.* 1999, Koerner & Soong 2000 and Mazzucato *et al.* 1999). Failures result in additional costs and at worst they can cause significant environmental damage and even loss of life.

Landfill lining systems are comprised of multiple geosynthetic and mineral layers. The interfaces between these materials can form preferential slip surfaces. The majority of failures reported in the literature are controlled by slippage at interfaces between lining components. Koerner & Soong (2000) back-analysed 10 large landfill failures and demonstrated that assessment of stability was most sensitive to shear strength parameters defined for the critical slip surface. There is growing evidence that measured values of interface shear strength show considerable variability (Criley & Saint John 1997, Koerner & Koerner 2001, Stoewahse *et al.* 2002, McCartney *et al.* 2004). This makes selection of appropriate shear strength values for use in design problematic. The relatively high rate of landfill failures has led some researchers to propose that risk assessment using probability of failure analysis can be used to quantify uncertainty in selection of appropriate interface shear strengths (Koerner 2001, Sabatini *et al.* 2002, McCartney *et al.* 2004).

However, before design engineers can use reliability based stability analysis, guidance is required on quantifying variability of interface shear strength and on use of outputs from such analyses, in conjunction with traditional factors of safety, in the decision making process leading to design of stable slopes. This paper presents information on the variability of measured strengths obtained from a large data set for interfaces commonly encountered in landfill lining systems. Interfaces involving Geosynthetic Clay Liners (GCL) are excluded from this paper as these have been considered in detail by McCartney *et al.* (2004) using a similar approach. The use of reliability assessment in landfill stability is demonstrated through consideration of two common landfill design cases: Veneer and waste slope stability. Veneer stability has previously been used by Koerner & Koerner (2001) and McCartney *et al.* (2004) and waste slope stability by Sabatini *et al.* (2002), to demonstrate the sensitivity of landfill design to interface variability. These two design cases were selected for use in this

study in order to add to the existing published information on relationships between probability of failure and traditional factors of safety. The aim is to produce a body of information that can be used by engineers to carry out and interpret reliability based landfill designs.

1.1 Interface Shear Strength Database

The data presented in this paper has been obtained from 76 sources including journal papers, conference proceedings and internal shear testing reports. Shear strength data for seven interfaces commonly found in landfills is reported. These include both geosynthetic/ geosynthetic and geosynthetic/soil interfaces. The combined database consists of 2559 shear strength values, each representing either a peak or large displacement value. The data sets for each interface have been sorted into the following three categories: values from the general literature (i.e. usually from papers reporting a small number of results for each interface), the Authors' internal database which comprises tests carried out for both design and research using common design of direct shear device and test specification, and values from repeatability studies each carried out in a single laboratory using one device and operator. While a significant proportion of this data is available in the international literature, considerable effort is required to process it into a useable format. The data is presented in this paper to aid those wishing to utilise this resource.

2. Statistical Analysis Of Interface Strength Variability

Although this paper focuses on the use of probabilistic stability assessment methods it is worth noting that information on variability of parameters required for such analyses are also needed to carry out traditional limit equilibrium stability calculations. In Eurocode 7 (1997), the characteristic value of a soil property is defined as: 'A *cautious estimate of the value affecting the occurrence of the limit state*'. The characteristic value should be a cautious estimate of the mean value over the governing zone of soil (Orr & Farrell, 1999), or in this case over the area of the interface. Schneider (1997) has proposed a statistical approach for determining the characteristic value (X_k) using the mean value of the test results (X_m) and the standard deviation of the test results (σ_m):

$$X_k = X_m - 0.5\sigma_m \tag{1}$$

The approach aims to ensure in the order of 95% confidence that the real statistical mean of the parameter is superior to the selected characteristic value (X_k). In this application, it is the mean and standard deviation of interface shear strengths that are required. This is the same information that is required to undertake probability of failure analyses as discussed below.

2.1. Derived interface shear strength parameters

Interface shear strength parameters are obtained by plotting peak and large displacement, assumed to be close to residual values in most cases (Dixon & Jones 2003b), shear strengths measured in direct shear apparatus on a shear stress vs. normal stress graph. Coulomb failure criteria are defined by linear best-fit lines through sets of peak and residual data measured at normal stresses relevant to the design problem. Although linear regression provided the best fit for the interfaces reported, some geosynthetic interfaces display non-linear or bilinear strength envelopes. From the Authors' experience, it is rare for duplicate tests to be carried out at each normal stress, and hence failure envelopes are typically taken as the best fit straight line through one point at each of three or four normal stresses. This approach provides insufficient information to enable variability of measured shear strengths to be quantified. Shear strength envelopes are defined by pairs of apparent adhesion (α) and interface friction angle (δ) parameters. While it is common practice in many applications involving soil to ignore apparent cohesion values in design, this approach is not recommended for geosynthetic interfaces. Apparent adhesion values can be considered in design of structures that incorporate interfaces with a true strength at zero normal stress (e.g. VelcroTM type affect between nonwoven needle punched geotextile and textured geomembranes). Apparent adhesion can also be used to define a failure envelope over a range of normal stresses (i.e. assuming a linear failure envelope) or to define a best fit straight line through limited variable test data. In these specific cases it would be over conservative to assume $\alpha = 0$, especially for design cases with low normal stresses (e.g. design of cap systems). Negative α can also be produced by best fit lines through limited test data. If negative α are ignored this will result in an over estimate of shear strength and hence potentially unsafe designs. Negative values are produced by best fit lines through a number of the data sets included in this paper, and these demonstrate limitation of data sets in terms of number of points and their distribution.

As the quantification of interface shear strength requires two parameters (α and δ), variability of measured shear strengths requires consideration of linked pairs of these parameters. Dixon

et al. (2002) proposed an approach based on calculating the variability of measured shear strengths for each normal stress and using this data to derive the appropriate shear strength parameters for use in design. For example, Figure 1 shows how characteristic values can be obtained for use in a limit equilibrium analysis.



Figure 1. Derivation of interface shear strength parameters from measured shear strengths

2.2. Statistical data for measured interface shear strengths

Two approaches are available for obtaining information on the variability of interface shear strength for use in assessment of stability. The preferred approach is to undertake a sufficient number of site specific tests at each normal stress to enable statistical analysis of the measured strengths. This will allow the mean (X_m) and standard deviation (σ_m) of measured strengths to be calculated for each stress level. As discussed above, this approach is based on assessing the variability of measured shear strengths and not the derived shear strength parameters. It is believed that at present this approach is considered too costly (both in time and money) by the majority of designers.

A second approach is to carry out a limited number of tests to obtain site specific strength values and to obtain information from the literature on possible variability for that specific type of interface. However, a limitation of this approach is that there is no information available to indicate whether the measured site specific strengths are representative of mean

values. If in comparison to the estimated mean values (i.e. using data from previous tests on similar materials) the measured strengths are considered to be high, or there is limited experience of testing the interface, then further tests should be conducted and the first approach described above must be used. Design based wholly on literature values should not be attempted

Where there is limited data available, an alternative approach is to calculate standard deviation using the three-sigma rule, which uses the fact that 99.73% of all values of a normally distributed parameter fall within three standard deviations of the average (Duncan 2000). The three-sigma rule has been used by Sabatini *et al.* (2002) to quantify the variability of geosynthetic/soil interface strength. In this paper, variability of interface strengths have been expressed as a function of the mean using coefficient of variation (V) defined as:

$$V = \sigma_m / X_m \tag{2}$$

3. Variability of Measured Interface Shear Strength

Measured interface properties are influenced by inherent variability of soil and geosynthetics, and measurement errors. Measurement errors are the sum of systematic bias in average property measurements and random errors. It is not possible to measure random errors because repeatability tests use disturbed/modified or new materials and hence also include material variability. Systematic testing bias can be estimated by carrying out series of repeatability tests in different laboratories (i.e. using different equipment and personnel) on materials from the same source. This can only identify gross bias because material variability, although minimised, is still present because new samples are used in each test. A detailed discussion of factors causing variability of measured interface shear strength is provided by Stoewahse *et al.* (2002).

3.1. Published information on variability of interface shear strength

The international literature contains many papers that report measured shear strengths for geosynthetic/geosynthetic and geosynthetic/soil interfaces. The best controlled studies are those in which materials from one source (i.e. roll of geosynthetic and bulk sample of soil) have been used in direct shear tests repeated on one device, using the same test standard and carried out by the same personnel. Such studies have been reported by Dixon *et al.* (2000) for

both smooth and textured geomembranes vs. non-woven geotextile tested at low normal stresses (i.e. appropriate for cap design) and Criley & Saint John (1997) for both fine and coarse soils vs. textured geomembrane.

A number of studies are reported in which materials from one source have been tested in direct shear tests conducted at different laboratories using a common test procedure. These include the following inter-laboratory test programmes: 1995 and 1996 German tests carried out to support development of a general direct shear test standard (Blümel & Stoewahse 1998); tests carried out in seven laboratories across Europe (Gourc and Lalarakotoson, 1997) to support developments of the EC direct shear interface test standard BS EN ISO 12957-1 (2005); and North American inter-laboratory comparison tests reported by the Geosynthetics Research Institute (Koerner & Koerner 2001). Data sets for common interfaces have previously been published based on a summary of values reported in the literature. Jones & Dixon (1998) presented data in the form of summary plots of measured peak and large displacement shear strength vs. normal stress for 15 interfaces. It was proposed that these plots could be used to obtain parameters for use in preliminary design and to help designers assess site specific test results. However, there is evidence that some designers are using mean values from the Jones & Dixon (1998) literature summary in lieu of site specific tests.

The Jones & Dixon (1998) data sets based on the international literature have been updated and combined with the other data sources listed above (excluding the Koerner & Koerner 2001 data) and also with an internal databases complied by the Authors. Table 1 provides a summary of the 7 interfaces for which data is presented, the number of test results in each data set, the range of normal stresses and the type of data set. It was not appropriate to subdivide the interfaces further (i.e. into different types of texturing or soil types) as this would have produced data sets too small to allow meaningful statistical analysis. This may become possible in the future as additional interface strengths are published.

6d
ц,
er
ap
Ц

Table 1 Summary of geocynthetic/soil interfaces and datasets on measured shear strengths

in function of a start							
Interface type	Data set	No. of points (peak, residual)	Combined data mean best fit line, peak (a _p , õ _p)	Combined data mean best fit line, large displacement (α_r , δ_r)	Combined data standard deviation best fit line peak (slope, y intercept)	Combined data standard deviation best fit line large disp. (slope, y intercept)	Range of normal stress (kPa)
Smooth HDPE GM ¹ vs. NW GT ²	Internal Database Literature	52, 52 45, 30	-0.7, 10.0 (Figure 2a)	0.8, 6.1 (Figure 2b)	$0.038(\sigma_n), -0.1$	$0.026(\sigma_{n}), 0.2$	3 - 525
Textured HDPE GM vs. NW GT	Internal Database Literature Inter-laboratory Commarison	116, 130 16, 14 206, 0	8.1, 25.9 (Figure 3a)	6.0, 12.4 (Figure 3b)	0.0653(ơ _n), 4.2	0.033(ơ _n), 3.0	12 - 383
Smooth HDPE GM vs. Coarse Soil	Internal Database Literature	15, 15 133 ,45	-7.3, 25.2 (Figure 4a)	0.8, 17.8 (Figure 4b)	0.069(ơ _n), 1.9	0.074(ơ _n), 1.0	10 - 1794
Textured HDPE GM vs. Coarse Soil	Internal Database Literature Criley & Saint John (1997)	30, 29 27, 15 122, 122	8.4, 33.1 (Figure 5a)	9.8, 30.5 (Figure 5b)	0.033(ơ _n), 6.4	0.074(ơ _n), 2.8	5 - 720
NW GT vs. Coarse Soil	Internal Database Literature Inter-laboratory Comparison	36, 36 206, 78 286, 0	3.6, 35.0 (Figure 6a)	4.2, 34.2 (Figure 6b)	0.155(ơ _n), 5.6	0.136(ơ _n), -0.7	5 - 575
Smooth HDPE GM vs. Fine Soil	Internal Database Literature	9, 9 143, 187	- ³ (Figure 7a)	- (Figure 7b)	1	1	5 - 718
Textured HDPE GM vs. Fine Soil	Internal Database Literature Criley & Saint John (1997)	41, 41 53, 38 91, 91	- (Figure 8a)	- (Figure 8b)	1		7 - 958
1 GM = geomemb	Trane; ² NW GT = n_{c}	on-woven geote	extile; ³ Summar	v data not given du	e to range of test cor	iditions used	

à à 2 **0** • o a Smooth and textured geomembrane samples are made from high density polyethylene (HDPE) or linear low density polyethylene (LLDPE). Texturing type varies, with impinged and blown film methods of texturing being the most common. Geotextile samples are all non-woven needle punched polypropylene. Soils used in tests have been categorised as either fine (primarily silt and clay) or coarse grained (primarily sand and gravel) materials. It is not possible to use a more rigorous classification system because of the lack of information on soil materials given in the literature.

Figures 2 to 8 are summary plots of measured peak (a) and large displacement (b) shear strengths for the selected interfaces. Main data sets are identified on each plot. Best fit trend lines are shown based on all the data points and the equations for these lines are summarised in Table 1. All the data points are shown in Figures 2 to 8 to allow the reader to independently assess the groupings/coverage of data with respect to normal stress. This information can not be obtained from Table 1. It is important that any potential users of the best fit trend lines fully appreciate the quality of the data sets from which they are derived. For example, in Figure 5 best fit lines are provided through all the data and also the literature data excluding the Criley and Saint John (1997) as it controls the location of the best fit line. Figures 9 to 13 provide information on the variability of measured strengths for the selected interfaces via plots of coefficient of variation vs. normal stress (a) and standard deviation vs. normal stress (b). Information on peak and large displacement best fit linear trend lines through the combined data are also shown and these are summarised in Table 1.

3.2. Distribution of measured shear strengths with normal stress

The data presented in Figures 2 to 8 shows a large variability in the number of tests and their distribution across the range of normal stresses. This is to be expected as the data sets are, in the main, compilations of tests conducted for different and specific purposes. However, despite this, there is sufficient data to demonstrate general trends. It was anticipated that data sets would show ranges of variability dependent upon the number of variables involved in testing (e.g. test equipment, personnel, test specification and material). For example, literature data sets would be expected to show greater variability than inter-laboratory data sets for material from one source. However, the data does not show this trend (Figure 3 and 6). Apart from the repeatability results, the other data sets for a given interface (both peak and residual) define comparable ranges of shear strength with respect to normal stress. This is surprising

because it indicates that differences in measured strengths resulting from material variability (e.g. from type of texturing, type of soil/conditions etc) represented in the literature and internal data bases are of the same order as that resulting from carrying out tests on the same materials at different laboratories. It can be concluded that for a given generic type of interface, test conditions have the most significant influence on observed variability of measured shear strengths.

The only interfaces that are not consistent with this trend are those involving fine grained soils. Figures 7 and 8 show large ranges of measured peak and residual shear strengths for a given normal stress. This is due to the poor control and reporting of test conditions with respect to the fine soil materials. The summary plots include drained, undrained and partially drained shear tests due to a range of consolidation conditions and shear rates being employed. Test conditions are seldom reported with sufficient detail to allow interpretation of the pore water pressure conditions at the interface. The data is only included in this paper to demonstrate the wide range of values and hence to highlight the inappropriateness of using literature values for such interfaces in design. Note that no trend lines are shown.



Figure 2. Shear strength vs. normal stress for smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. non-woven geotextile from internal database and literature a) peak, and b) large displacement.



Figure 3. Shear strength vs. normal stress for textured HDPE geomembrane vs. non-woven geotextile from internal database, inter-laboratory comparison testing and literature a) peak, and b) large displacement.



Figure 4. Shear strength vs. normal stress for smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. coarse soil from literature and internal database a) peak, and b) large displacement.

a)



Figure 5. Shear strength vs. normal stress for textured HDPE geomembrane vs. coarse soil from literature, internal database, and Criley & Saint John (1997) repeatability results a) peak, and b) large displacement.



Figure 6. Shear strength vs. normal stress for non-woven geotextile vs. coarse soil from literature, internal database and inter-laboratory comparison testing a) peak, and b) large displacement.



Figure 7. Shear strength vs. normal stress for smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. fine soil from literature, and internal database a) peak, and b) large displacement.



Figure 8. Shear strength vs. normal stress for textured HDPE geomembrane vs. fine soil from literature, internal database and Criley & Saint John (1997) repeatability results a) peak, and b) large displacement.

3.3. Trends in variability of interface strength

Figures 9 to 13 confirm that the variability of the different data sets (literature, internal and inter-laboratory) for a given generic interface is essentially the same, although there are differences between some data sets as shown by Figures 11 and 13. The reason for this is currently unclear but may be a function of the small size of some data sets. Best fit lines for combined data sets can be used to define the relationship between standard deviation and normal stress for each interface type. A linear trend has been found to best fit the presented data. The parameters defining the relationship between standard variation and normal stress for each interface to calculate shear strength parameters using equation (1) as shown in Figure 1.

The summary standard deviations are conservative values because they include different materials, test equipment and test specifications and hence would be expected to give upper bound values. The small number of repeatability test data sets, for example the Criley & Saint John (1997) data, give smaller variability as shown in Figure 12. These values of variability are more likely to be representative of those that would be achieved in site specific repeatability tests. Unfortunately, there are only a small number of such investigations reported in the literature, for a few interfaces, and therefore currently there is insufficient information to allow guidance values to be given.



Figure 9. Smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. non-woven geotextile from internal database, literature, and combined for peak and large displacement a) coefficient of variation vs. normal stress, and b) standard deviation of measured shear strength vs. normal stress.



Figure 10. Textured HDPE geomembrane vs. non-woven geotextile from internal database, literature, inter-laboratory comparison tests and combined for peak and large displacement a) coefficient of variation vs. normal stress, and b) standard deviation of measured shear strength vs. normal stress.



Figure 11 Smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. coarse soil from internal data base, literature and combined for peak and large displacement a) coefficient of variation vs. normal stress, and b) standard deviation of measured shear strength vs. normal stress.



Figure 12 Textured HDPE geomembrane vs. coarse soil from internal database, literature, Criley & Saint John (1997) repeatability results and combined for peak and large displacement a) coefficient of variation vs. normal stress, and b) standard deviation of measured shear strength vs. normal stress.


Figure 13. Non-woven geotextile vs. coarse soil from literature, internal database, interlaboratory comparison testing and combined for peak and large displacement a) coefficient of variation vs. normal stress, and b) Standard deviation of measured shear strength vs. normal stress.

4. Probability Of Failure Stability Analysis

4.1. Analysis method for probability of failure

Risk assessment of landfill stability using probability of failure (P_f) has been discussed by Koerner & Koerner (2001), Sabatini *et al.* (2002) and McCartney *et al.* (2004). All employed the first-order, second moment reliability-based methodology (Duncan 2000). In all three cases, use of the reliability method was made possible by access to databases providing information on variability of measured interface strengths. A brief description of the methodology proposed by Duncan (2000), and used in this study, is presented in Appendix 1. As outlined in the introduction, the same landfill design cases as used by the above authors (i.e. veneer and waste slope stability) have been used in this study. This is essential if a sufficient body of experience is to be gained to guide designers on both selection of interface strength variability inputs and interpretation of probability of failure outputs from such studies.

4.2. Veneer stability

A common design case in landfill engineering is stability assessment for thin veneers of soil above one or more geosynthetic layers. These conditions are encountered during construction of side slope lining systems (i.e. stability assessment of drainage layers prior to waste placement) and capping systems. In both cases, slopes are long in relation to the soil veneer and the average normal stresses are low on the interfaces. Figure 14 shows the problem analysed, with the key variables defined. Soong & Koerner (1995) proposed a limit equilibrium assessment based on a two part wedge failure mode and including shear strength of the cover soil and seepage forces.

Effective stress analyses have been carried out for a 1.0 metre thick soil veneer with pore water pressures on the interface calculated using a parallel submergence ratio (PSR) of 0.5. Slope angles (β) between 14°(1 in 4) and 33.7° (1 in 1.5) have been analysed. Only the variability of interface shear strength has been considered in these analyses, however the method outlined by Duncan (2000) can be used to assess the influence of other parameters if required. Sliding has been analysed for three interfaces: textured HDPE geomembrane/coarse soil, textured HDPE geomembrane/ non-woven geotextile and non-woven geotextile/coarse

soil. Mean peak shear strength parameters have been obtained from the best fit lines calculated from the combined data sets and shown on Figures 5a, 3a and 6a respectively. The standard deviations of measured shear strengths have been taken from Figures 12b, 10b and 13b respectively. Analyses have been carried out using the combined data sets and also repeatability data sets. Both mean and standard deviation values have been taken over the appropriate normal stress range for the problem (i.e. 10 to 30 kPa). Shear strength parameters (α and δ) for mean, $+1\sigma_m$ and $-1\sigma_m$ measured shear strengths have been calculated for each interface. Table 2 shows the shear strength input parameters for each interface. These values differ from those shown in Table 1 because only data in the appropriate normal stress range for the problem have been used. As discussed in section 2.1, apparent adhesion values have been included as they are a function of the data sets and are used in conjunction with the slope of the failure envelope to define the measured interface shear strength over the normal stress range of interest.



Figure 14. Diagram of the model used in the veneer stability analysis.

Table 2 Shear strength input paramete	S			
Interface type, Data set		Shear strength	h parameters	
	Mean (a, dm)	Mean +1 σ _m (α +, δ+)	Mean -1σ _m (α ., δ.)	Mean -0.5 $\sigma_{\rm m}$ ($\alpha_{\rm k}, \delta_{\rm k}$)
	Vene	eer stability (parameters obtained using	data in normal stress range 10 to 30) kPa)
Textured HDPE GM ¹ vs. Coarse Soil, Combined	3.6, 35.7	10.0, 37.0	-2.8, 34.4	0.4, 35.1
Textured HDPE GM vs. Coarse Soil, Criley & Saint John 1997	3.6, 35.7	5.6, 37.2	1.6, 34.1	2.6, 34.9
NW GT ² vs. Coarse Soil, Combined	4.3, 38.2	9.9, 43.3	-1.2, 32.3	1.5, 35.3
Textured LLDPE GM vs. NW GT, Dixon et al. (2000)	3.9, 32.2	5.0, 34.5	2.8, 29.8	3.3, 31.0
Textured HDPE GM vs. NW GT, Combined	-0.1, 38.9	4.2, 41.1	-4.3, 36.6	-2.2, 37.8
	Waste b	ody stability (parameters obtained usin	g data in normal stress range 100 to	300 kPa)
NW GT vs. Coarse Soil	0.3, 35.4	5.9, 40.8	-5.2, 29.0	-2.5, 32.3
Textured HDPE GM vs. NW GT	3.6, 26.4	7.8, 29.3	-0.7, 23.3	1.4, 24.9

Textured HDPE GM vs. NW GT3.6, 26.4 $^{-1}$ GM = geomembrane; $^{-2}$ NW GT = non-woven geotextile

Paper 2, p27

Figure 15 shows plots of P_f vs. FS_{MLV} for each interface. The interfaces with greatest variability of measured shear strengths (i.e. those involving coarse soil) show the largest P_f values for a given FS_{MLV} as expected. If a minimum $FS_{MLV} = 1.5$ is required in design, as is common practice, even the analyses based on the repeatability test data do not give a probability of failure low enough to be considered acceptable for design, as discussed below. It could be argued that it is more appropriate to compare P_f values with factors of safety calculated using characteristic shear strengths, FS_k , as these take into consideration variability, and hence uncertainty, in measured strengths. Figure 16 shows plots of P_f vs. FS_k and FS_{MLV} for the textured HDPE geomembrane/coarse soil interface based on the combined and Criley & Saint John (1997) data sets. Using characteristic shear strengths results in lower calculated factors of safety as expected, however the analyses do not indicate the full implication of the variability when compared to probability of failure values.



Figure 15. Probability of failure vs. factor of safety from veneer stability analysis, presenting data from combined data sets, Criley & Saint John (1997) and Dixon *et al.* (2000).



Figure 16. Probability of failure vs. factor of safety for veneer stability, showing the relationship between the mean and characteristic values for factor of safety, based on combined data and Criley & Saint John (1997) for textured HDPE geomembrane vs coarse soil.

4.3. Waste body stability

A second common design case in landfill engineering is stability assessment for a waste body placed against a side slope. This is a temporary condition in many quarry landfills and a permanent condition in valley landfills. There have been a number of failures, as discussed in the introduction, with sliding taking place along one or more interfaces within the lining system. Slope and waste geometries similar to those used by Sabatini *et al.* (2002) were selected for the reasons discussed above. Figure 17 shows the problem analysed with the key variables defined. Effective stress limit equilibrium analysis has been carried out using a standard slope stability computer package (SlopeW).



Figure 17. Diagram of the model used in the waste mass stability analysis.



Figure 18. Probability of failure vs. factor of safety for waste body stability, showing the relationship between the mean and characteristic values for factor of safety, based on combined data.

Zero pore water pressures have been assumed on the interface due to the presence of the drainage layer. Slope height has been varied between 30 and 60 metres. Only the variability of interface shear strengths has been considered in this analysis. Sliding has been analysed for two interfaces: non-woven geotextile/coarse soil and textured HDPE geomembrane/non-woven geotextile. Each analysis has the same interface on the base and side slope. Mean peak shear strength parameters have been obtained from the best fit lines calculated from combined data sets and shown on Figures 6a and 3a respectively. The standard deviations of measured

shear strengths have been taken from Figures 13b and 10b respectively. Analyses have been carried out using the mean standard deviations of shear strength from combined data sets. There are currently no repeatability data sets available for these interfaces. Both mean and standard deviation values have been taken over the appropriate normal stress range for the problem (i.e. 100 to 300 kPa). Shear strength parameters (α and δ) for mean, $+1\sigma_m$ and $-1\sigma_m$ measured shear strengths have been calculated for each interface. Table 2 shows the shear strength input parameters for each interface and Figure 18 shows plots of P_f vs. FS_k and FS_{MLV} for non-woven geotextile/coarse soil and textured HDPE geomembrane/non-woven geotextile interfaces.

For limit equilibrium analyses using mean shear strengths, FS_{MLV} values greater than 2.6 and 2.0 are required for the two interfaces respectively to produce low P_f values (i.e. in the order of 0.1%). Even using characteristic shear strengths, FS_k values greater than 2.2 and 1.8 are required respectively to produce low P_f values. As for veneer stability, factors of safety typically used in design (i.e. in the order of 1.5) do not reflect the full implication of interface strength variability when compared to probability of failure values. As only combined data sets have been used in this study the results are conservative (i.e. the degree of variability is likely to be an upper bound). These analyses extend those presented by Sabatini *et al.* (2002) by demonstrating the increased probability of failure associated with using literature data sets compared to a carefully selected internal data set. Unfortunately, many designers currently only have access to the literature data sets and therefore the trends shown in this study could reflect current practice.

5. Reliability Of Landfill Stability Analysis

Consideration of shear strength variability is a critical element of stability assessment. Common practice using a global target factor of safety = 1.5 is based on the design engineer selecting 'conservative' mean shear strength values (i.e. uncertainty in shear strength is considered using engineering judgement). Use of characteristic strengths obtained via statistical analysis of measured values is an accepted approach (Eurocode 7, 1997). However, variability of input parameters is rarely obtained on a site specific basis. Probability of failure analysis does not require any input data in excess of that used to obtain characteristic strengths. However, it gives an additional benefit by providing a quantitative analysis of the reliability of the design. This has been clearly demonstrated by the increased P_f values for analyses using literature derived interface shear strength data compared to those obtained using repeatability data.

In order to enable probability of failure analysis to be used as a decision making tool it is necessary to relate calculated values with consequences of failure, and hence to provide guidance on required values of P_f. Koerner & Koerner (2001) suggested boundary values based on the consequence of failure for a particular geosynthetic application being: low, medium or serious. For barrier applications such as landfill lining systems Koerner & Koerner (2001) proposed values of 0.3%, 0.05% and 0.01% for low medium and high consequences of failure respectively. For landfill design, low consequence could relate to instability of a soil veneer during side slope construction (e.g. a drainage layer). This type of failure typically can be repaired at relatively low cost and does not result in any uncontrolled discharge of gas or leachate into the environment. Medium consequences could relate to capping failure and slippage of a temporary waste slope. Cost of repair may be higher than side slope veneer instability but still low in relation to a serious failure. However, environmental damage could occur due to escape of landfill gas. Serious consequence of failure could relate to slippage of a waste body that has an impact outside the site. This is likely to be disruptive to site operation, costly to repair and can cause serious damage to the environment through pollution of groundwater by leachate and escape of landfill gas.

Liu *et al.* (1997) report typical lifetime probability for embankment dam failure in the order of 0.01 to 0.1%. These events result in serious consequences. Sabatini *et al.* (2002) suggest a conservative target P_f of 0.01% for waste body slippage while McCartney *et al.* (2004) do not discuss or propose target values for use in design of veneer covers incorporating GCL. As consequences of a failure can vary, the limiting values of P_f proposed by Liu *et al.* (1997) and Sabatini *at al.* (2002) are consistent with those suggested by Koerner & Koerner (2001) for serious (P_f \leq 0.01%) and medium/low (P_f 0.05 to 0.3 respectively) events. For the waste slippage example shown in this paper, none of the P_f values calculated using literature data sets are less than 0.3% even though factors of safety \geq 1.5 were obtained in some cases. This includes analyses using characteristic strengths (Figure 18).

Higher P_f values could be considered appropriate for veneer stability analyses (i.e. 0.05% for capping failure and 0.3% for slide slope veneer failure). However, all of the analyses giving FS_{MLV} or $FS_k = 1.5$ have P_f values above these suggested boundary values, including analyses

using Criley & Saint John (1997) repeatability data sets (Figures 15 and 16). This is a surprising result and either indicates poor current design practice or that the medium and low consequence acceptable values are too low. McCartney *et al.* (2004) reported factor of safety values corresponding to a P_f of 1% for GCL/textured HDPE geomembrane interfaces in an infinite slope veneer stability analysis with associated factors of safety calculated between 1.23 and 2.25 (depending upon the number of variables influencing the test results). They concluded that values of factor of safety associated with a P_f=1% can be significantly greater for slopes incorporating GCL interfaces than the typical design target value of 1.5. The findings of the current study for a range of typical interfaces is consistent with the findings of McCartney *et al.* (2004).

As proposed by Koerner & Koerner (2001), discussion is required between regulators, owners and designers to define acceptable values in relation to the consequences of failure. Although landfill stability failures are not uncommon (Jones & Dixon 2003), and some failures are undoubtedly influenced by design, there is no evidence of systematic failure as a result of poor design. This tends to indicate that current best practice is producing designs with acceptable P_f values. Further research is required to obtain P_f values for landfill lining systems with proven good performance and known interface shear strength variability in order to aid the discussion on appropriate boundary values in relation to consequences of failure.

6. Conclusions

A large database of measured strengths, both peak and large displacement, has been presented for seven generic interfaces commonly present in landfill lining systems. The relationship between standard deviation and normal stress has been defined for combined data sets for each interface, except for interfaces involving fine soil. It is proposed that these summaries of test data can be used to supplement site specific test results in order to select appropriate mean and standard deviations for interface shear strength. These can then be used to calculate shear strength parameters for use in stability assessments.

Current practice is to carry out a limit number of site specific tests, but this provides insufficient information for the variability of interface strength to be considered in design. It is recommended that a sufficient number of site specific direct shear interface tests be carried out to provide statistical data for use in traditional limit equilibrium analyses using

characteristic values, and probability of failure analyses using the simple procedure described by Duncan (2000). In some cases, literature values are being used in lieu of site specific test results and this is considered be unacceptable and likely to lead to unreliable designs as demonstrated by the analyses presented in this paper.

It has been shown that apart from repeatability data sets (where the same equipment, test specification and operator have been used to test samples from one source) other data sets show comparable degrees of variability. This indicates that variability caused by testing procedures, personnel, and equipment is as significant as the influence of differences in material samples forming a given generic interface.

In the combined data sets, large variability has been demonstrated, which results in unacceptable P_f values for both veneer and waste body slope stability. For veneer stability, the textured HDPE geomembrane vs. coarse soil combined dataset gives a P_f of over 25% even when the $FS_{MLV} = 1.5$. Using repeatability test data, the P_f for the same interface and slope angle (26.6°) reduces to 3% at $FS_{MLV} = 1.5$, however it is likely that this would still be considered unacceptable. These findings confirm the need for landfill designers to give greater consideration to variability of interface shear strength and to the consequences of failure when collecting information for use in design

Designing based on combined criteria for factor of safety and probability of failure would allow uncertainty in measurement of interface shear strength to be considered fully. However, appropriate and attainable target factor of safety and probability of failure values need to be selected if this methodology is to be implemented into general practice. It is clearly unacceptable to rely on low values of FS_{MLV} using data with a large standard deviation, conversely, when repeatability tests have been carried out to derive interface shear strength, requiring a FS_{MLV} of in excess of 1.5 to achieve an acceptable P_f will in many cases be considered over conservative, and this will inhibit use of the method. Repeatability data sets have been shown to produce lower variability and hence more realistic information. It is recommended that repeatability data be used for design in place of the combined data sets. Unfortunately, to date there is only a small number of such studies reported in the literature. Additional repeatability studies on common interfaces need to be conducted.

Probability of failure analysis is an appropriate technique to apply to landfill design. The simple method used in previous studies (e.g. Koerner & Koerner 2001 and Sabatini *et al* 2002, McCartney *et al.* 2004) and in this paper requires the same input information on shear strength variability as traditional stability analyses using characteristic values. The cost of providing site specific data, which allows calculation of mean and standard deviation of measured shear strengths, is likely to be significantly less than the cost of repairing even a veneer slope failure. Regulators, operators and designers need to agree acceptable design requirements in relation to the probability of failure. This could lead to justification of the cost of obtaining the required quality of input parameters in relation to the consequences of failure.

References

- Blümel, W. and Stoewahse, C. (1998). Geosynthetic interface friction testing in Germany effect of test setups., 6th International Conference on Geosynthetics, Atlanta, 1, 447-452.
- Brink. D., Day, P.W. & Preez, L.DU. (1999). Failure and remediation of Bulbul Drive Landfill: Kwazlu-natal, South Africa. Proc. 7th International Landfill Symposium, Sardinia, 555-562.
- BS EN ISO 12957-1 (2005), Geosynthetics -Determination of friction characteristics. Part 1: Direct shear test.
- Council of the European Union (1999) Directive. 1999/31/EC on the Landfill of waste. Official Journal of the European Union, L 182, 1-19.
- Criley, K.R. & Saint John, D. (1997). Variability analysis of soil vs. geosynthetic interface friction characteristics by multiple direct shear testing. *Proc. of Geosynthetics '97*, Long Beach, CA, 885-897.
- Dixon, N., Kamugisha, P. & Jones, D.R.V. (2000). Geosynthetic interface testing at low normal stresses: Design implications. Proc. 2nd European Geosynthetics Conference, Bologna, Italy, October, 2, 535-540.

- Dixon, N., Blümel, W., Stoewahse, C., Kamugisha, P. & Jones, D.R.V. (2002). Geosynthetic interface shear behaviour: Part 2 Characteristic values for use in design. *Ground Engineering*, 35, 3, 49-53.
- Dixon, N. & Jones, D.R.V. (2003a) Stability of Landfill Lining Systems: Report No.1 Literature Review. R&D Technical Report, P1-385/TR1.
- Dixon, N., Smith, D.M., Greenwood, J.R., and Jones, D.R.V. (2003) Geosynthetics: Protecting the Environment. Proceedings of the 1st IGS UK Chapter National Geosynthetics Symposium held at Nottingham Trent University, UK. pp 51-70. Thomas Telford, London. ISBN: 0 7277 3234 x
- Duncan, J.M. (2000). Factors of safety and reliability in geotechnical engineering. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, ASCE, 126, 4, 307-316.
- Eurocode 7: Geotechnical Design Part 2: Design assisted by laboratory testing (1997). *ENV* 1997-2:1999.
- Gourc, J. P. & Lalarakotoson, S. (1997). Research and intercomparison tests for the harmonization of standards on geotextiles, *EC Measurement and Testing Programme Project 0169 Task 3.2 Friction*, Unpublished Internal Report. Report No. 3.
- Jones, D.R.V. & Dixon, N. (1998). Stability of geosynthetic lining systems. *Proc. Geotechnical Engineering of Landfills*, Thomas Telford, 99-117.
- Jones, D.R.V. & Dixon, N. (2003) Stability of Landfill Lining Systems: Report No. 2 Guidance. R&D Technical Report, P2-385/TR2.
- Koerner, R.M., & Soong, T.Y. (2000). Stability assessment of ten large landfill failures. GeoDenver 2000 Congress 'Advances in Transportation and Geoenvironmental Systems Using Geosynthetics'. ASCE Geotechnical Special Publication, n 103, 2000, p 1-38
- Koerner, R.M. & Koerner, G.R. (2001). Geosynthetics design beyond factor of safety; risk assessment using probability of failure analysis. *Proc. GRI-15, Hot Topics in Geosynthetics-II*, December 2001, Houston, 235-253.

- Liu, C.N., Gilbert, R.B., Thiel, R.S. & Wright, S.G. (1997). What is an appropriate factor of safety for landfill covers? *Proc. of Geosynthetics* '97, Long Beach, CA, 481-496.
- Mazzucato, A,. Simonini, P. & Colombo, S. (1999). Analysis of block slide in a MSW landfill. *Proc. 7th International Landfill Symposium*, Sardinia, 537-544.
- McCartney, J.S., Zornberg, J.G., Swan, R.H. Jr & Gilbert, R.B. (2004) Reliability-based stability analysis considering GCL shear strength variability. Geosynthetics International, 11, No. 3, 212-232
- Orr, T.L.L. & Farrell, E.R. (1999). Geotechnical Design to Eurocode 7. Springer-Verlag UK, ISBN: 1852330384
- Sabatini, P.J., Griffin, L.M., Bonaparte, R., Espinoza, R.D. & Giroud, J.P. (2002). Reliability of state of practice for selection of shear strength parameters for waste containment system stability analysis. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, 20, No. 4, 241-262.
- Schneider, H.R. (1997). Definition and determination of characteristic soil properties. Proc. 14th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering, Hamburg, 4, 2271-2274.
- Soong, T.-Y. & Koerner, R.M. (1995). Seepage induced slope instability. *Proc.* 9th *Geosynthetic Research Institute Conference, December, Philadelphia, USA, 235-255.*
- Stoewahse, C., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V., Blümel, W. & Kamugisha, P. (2002). Geosynthetic interface shear behaviour: Part 1 test methods, *Ground Engineering*, 35, 2, 35-41.

Paper 2, Appendix 1

First-order, second moment reliability-based analysis methodology proposed by Duncan (2000), based on the description by Koerner & Koerner (2001).

- Step 1 Assemble the mean value and standard deviations of the major variables that are to be used in the design method.
- Step 2 Calculate the most likely value of factor of safety (FS_{MLV}) using the mean values (i.e. following standard design methods).
- Step 3 Calculate the standard deviation (σ_{MLV}) and coefficient of variation (V_{MLV}) of the FS_{MLV} using the standard deviation of all the major design variables.

$$\sigma_{MLV} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\Delta FS_1}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta FS_2}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta FS_3}{2}\right)^2 + \dots}$$
(3)

$$V_{MLV} = \sigma_{MLV} / F_{MLV}$$
⁽⁴⁾

When calculating each FS_i^+ and FS_i^- value, all other ΔFS_i variables are kept at their most likely values.

- Step 4 Using the values of F_{MLV} and V_{MLV} , determine the probability of failure (P_f) using Koerner & Koerner (2001) table 1, which shows the probabilities that the factor of safety (FS_{MLV}) is smaller than 1.0 based on a lognormal distribution for the factor of safety. Alternatively, the analytical approach given by Duncan (2000) could be used.
- Step 5 Assess the calculated factor of safety in respect of the P_f value. A P_f of 0% means there is no likelihood of failure.

Paper 2, Appendix 2 Full reference list for interface shear strength testing data base

- Akber, S., Hammamji, Y. & Lafleur., 1985, Frictional Characteristics of Geomembranes, Geotextiles and Composites, Second Canadian Symposium on Geotextiles and Geomembranes, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Bemben, S.M. & Schulze, D.A., 1993, The influence of selected testing procedures on soil/geomembrane shear strength measurement, Geosynthetics '93, Vancouver, Canada
- Bergado, D.T., Werner, G., Tien, M.H., Zou, X.H., 1995, Interaction Between Geotextiles and Silty Sand by Large Direct Shear and Triaxial Tests Conf Proc. Tennessee, Geosynthetics '95. p1097
- Bouazza, A., 1996, Evaluation of Soil-PVC geomembrane interface friction for landfill design.Geosynthetics: Applications, Design and Construction, De Groot, Den Hoedt & Termaat (eds) Balkema, Rotterdam.
- Brendel, G.F., Glogowski, P.E., Greco, J.L. & Smith, L.C., 1987, Use of Geomembranes in deep valley landfills, Geotechnical practice for waste disposal '87, ASCE Special Publication N0. 13
- Byrne, R.J., Kendall, J. & Brown, S., 1992, Cause & Mechanism of failure, Kettleman Hills Landfill B-19 Phase IA, Stability & Performance of Slopes and Embankments, ASCE Special Publication No. 31
- Carey, P.J. & Swyka, M.A., 1991, Design & Placement Considerations for Clay & Composite
 Clay Geomembrane Landfill Final Covers, Geotextiles & Geomembranes 10 (1991)
 515-522
- Chiado, E.D. & Walker, S.D., 1993, Use of Increased Frictional Resistance in Landfill Liner System Design & Construction, Geosynthetics '93, Vancouver, Canada
- Cosgrove, T.A., 1995, Interface Strength Between Tire Chips and Geomembrane for use as a drainage Layer in a Landfill Cover. Conf Proc. Tennessee, Geosynthetics '95. p1157

- Criley, K.R., Saint John, D., 1997, Variability analysis of Soil vs Geosynthetic Interface Friction Characteristics By Multiple Direct Shear Testing. Conf Proc. California, Geosynthetics '97 p885
- Deatheridge, D.J., Fahy, J.R. & Hansen, L.A., 1987, Shear Testing of Geomembrane Soil Interfaces, Geotechnical Aspects of Heap Leach Design, Publ. by Society of Mining Engineers, Littleton, CO.
- Degoutte, G. & Mathieu, G., 1986, Experimental research of Friction between Soil and Geomembranes or Geotextiles using a 30x30 cm Box, Third International Conference on Geotextiles, Vienna, Austria
- Dembiki, E. & Alenowicz, J., 1987, Determination of Frictional Properties of Geotextiles, Geotextiles and Geomembranes 6, (4) 307-314
- Dembiki, E. & Jermolowicz, J., 1991, Soil Geotextile Interaction, Geotextiles and Geomembranes 10, (4) 249-268
- Eigenbrod, K.D., Burak, J.P. & Locker, J.G., 1990, Differential Shear Movements at Soil-Geotextile Interfaces, Canadian Geotechnical Journal 27 (4), 520-526
- Eigenbrod, K.D. and Locker, J.G., 1987, Determination of Friction Values for the Design of
 Side Slopes Lined or Protected with Geosynthetics, Canadian Geotechnical Journal, 24
 (4), 509-519
- Ellithy, G., Gabr, M.A., 2001, A Model For Interface Shear Strength of Nonwoven Geotextile. Conf. Proc. Oregon, Geosynthetics Conference 2001.
- Faure, Y.H., Gourc, T., Pierson, P. & Suryolelono, B.K., 1991, Performance Testing for Geosynthetic Lining & Drainage Systems, Proc. Sardinia '91, 3rd. Int. Landfill Symposium, Cagliari, Italy
- Feki, N., Garcin, P., Berroir, G., 1996, Shear strength tests on Geosynthetic liner systems. Geosynthetics: Applications, Design and Construction, De Groot, Den Hoedt & Termaat (eds) Balkema, Rotterdam.

- Feki, N., Garcin, P., Faure, Y.H., Gourc, J.P., Berroir, G., 1997, Shear Strength of Geosynthetic Clay Liner Systems. Conf Proc. California, Geosynthetics '97 p899
- Fourie, A & Fabian, K., 1987, Laboratory Determination of Clay-Geotextile Interaction, Geotextiles and Geomembranes, 6 (4), 275-294
- Fox, P.J., Olsta, J.T., Chiu, P., 2002, Internal and interface shear strengths of needle-punched Geosynthetic clay liners. Conf. Proc. Nice, 7th international conference on Geosynthetics.
- Garbulewski, K., 1990, Direct Shear and Pullout Frictional Resistance at the Geotextile-Mud Interface, Geotextiles, Geomembranes & Related Products, Dan Hoedt (ed.), Balkema.
- GeoSyntec Consultants., 1991, Draft Final Report, Landfill B-19, Kettleman Hills Facility, Kettleman City, California, Prepared for Chemical Waste Management Inc., January.
- Giroud, J.P., Swan, R.H., Richer, P.J. & Spooner, P.R., 1990, Geosynthetic Landfill Cap : Laboratory and Field Tests, Design and Construction, Fourth International Conference on Geotextiles, Geomembranes and Related Products, The Hague, Rotterdam
- Golder Associates 1989a Direct Shear Testing of Geomembrane, Confidential in house report, February
- Golder Associates 1989b Large Scale Direct Shear Tests and Pullout Tests on Geomembranes, Confidential in house report, June
- Golder Associates 1989c Supplementary Design Recommendations, Confidential in house report, July
- Golder Associates 1990a Direct Shear Testing, Confidential in house report, January
- Golder Associates 1990b Interface Testing, Confidential in house Report, February

Golder Associates (Atlanta), 2003, Confidential Internal Direct Shear Database

Ingold, T.S. 1984 A Laboratory Investigation of Soil-Geotextile Friction, Ground Engineering, 17 (8), 21-28

- Koerner, R.M., Martin, J.P. & Koerner, G.R., 1986, Shear Strength Parameters Between Geomembranes and Cohesive Soils, Geotextiles and Geomembranes 4 (1), 21-30
- Koutsourais, M.M., Sprague, C.J. & Pucetas., 1991, Interface Frictional Study of Cap and Liner Components for Landfill Design, Geotextiles and Geomembranes 10 (5), 531-548
- Lauwers, D.C., 1991, PVC Geocomposite for Improved Friction and Performance Properties, Geosynthetics '91, Atlanta, GA, USA
- Lefleur, J, Sall, M.S., & Ducharme, A., 1987, Frictional Characteristics of Geotextiles with Compacted Lateritic Gravels and Clays, Geosynthetics '87, New Orleans, LA, USA
- Li, Ming-Han, Gilbert, R.B., 1999, Shear Strength of Textured Geomembrane and Non-woven Geotextiles Interfaces. Conf. Proc. Boston, 7th International Conference on Geosynthetics
- Littlemore, D.S., Rogers, K.S., 1997, The slope stability of Geomembranes in Landfill Facilities. Geoenvironmental engineering. Thomas Telford, London, 1997.
- Lopes, R.F., Smolkin, P.A. & Lefebvre, P.J., 1993, Geosynthetic Interface Friction: A Challenge for Generic Design & Specification, Geosynthetics '93, Vancouver, Canada
- Luellen, J.R., Dove, J.E., Swan, R.H., Johnson, JR., M.L., 1999, The Design of A Reduced Strength Landfill Liner Interface For Seismic Loading Conditions. Conf. Proc. Boston, 7th International Conference on Geosynthetics
- Lydick, L.D. & Zagorski, G.A., 1991, Interface Friction of Geonets: A Literature Survey, Geotextiles & Geomembranes 2 (1991) 549-558
- Martichard, Y., Delmas, Ph., Soyez, B., Girard, H. & Mathieu, M., 1991, Stability of Lining Systems on Slopes, Proc. Sardinia '91, 3rd. Int. Landfill Symposium, Cagliari, Italy
- Martin, J.P. & Koerner, R.M., 1985, Geotechnical Design Considerations for Geomembrane Lined Slopes: Slope Stability, Geotextiles and Geomembranes, 2, 229-321

- Martin, J.P, Koerner, R.M. & Whitty, J.E., 1984, Experimental Friction Evaluation of Slippage Between Geomembranes, Geotextiles and Soils, Proc. International Conference on Geomembranes, Denver, CO, USA
- Mitchell, D.H., Gates, T.E., & McLean, M.A., 1990, Stability of Lined Slopes at Landfills and Surface Impoundments, US Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA
- Miyamori, T., Iawi, S., & Makiuchi, K., 1986, Frictional Characteristics of Non-Woven Fabrics, Third International Conference on Geotextiles, Vienna, Austria
- Myles, B., 1985, Review of Existing Geotextile Testing Methods, Proc. Geotextile Testing and the Design Engineer, Los Angeles, CA, USA
- Myles, B., 1982, Assessment of Soil Fabric Friction by Means of Shear, Proc. 2nd. Int. Conf. on Geotextiles, Las Vegas, USA
- Nataraj, M.S., Maganti, R.S., McManis., K.L., 1995, Interface Frictional Characteristics of Geosynthetics. Conf Proc, Tennessee, Geosynthetics '95. p1057
- Negussey, D Wijewickreme, W.K.D. & Vaid., 1989, Geomembrane Interface Friction, Canadian Geotechnical Journal, 26 (1), 165-169
- O.Del Greco and Oggeri, C., 1997, Shear Strength Characteristics at Geosynthetic Interfaces. Proc. Sardinia 97, 6th International Landfill Symposium p443.
- O'Rourke, T.D., Druschel, S.J., & Netravali, A.N., 1990, Shear Strength Characteristics of Sand-Polymer Interfaces, Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, Vol. 116, No. 3, March 1990, ASCE
- Pasqualini, E., Roccato, M & Sani, D., 1993, Shear Resistance at the Interfaces of Composite Liners, Proc. Sardinia '93, 4th. Int. Landfill Symposium, Cagliari, Italy
- Pavlik, K.L., 1997, Corps of Engineers Geosynthetic Clay Liner Interface Test Program. Conf Proc. California, Geosynthetics '97 p877

- Peggs, I.D., Lewis, S. & Riegl, P., 1993, Evaluation of a Friction/Drainage Structured Geomembrane, Geosynthetics '93, Vancouver, Canada
- Richards, E.A. & Scott, J.D., 1985, Soil Geotextile Frictional Properties, Second Canadian Symposium on Geotextiles and Geomembranes, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada
- Rimoldi, P. & Togni, S., 1991, Soil-Geosynthetic Interaction through Direct Shear and Pull-out Tests, Proc. Sardinia '91, 3rd. Int. Landfill Symposium, Cagliari, Italy
- Rowe, R.K., Ho, S.K. & Fisher, D.G., 1985, Determination of Soil-Geotextile Interface Strength Properties, Second Canadian Symposium on Geotextiles and Geomembranes, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada
- Saathoff, F., Kohlhase, S. & Zitscher, F-F., 1990, Sealing Systems Tests on Friction and Punctiform Loading, Geotextiles, Geomembranes and Related Products, Den Hoedt (ed.), Balkema, Rotterdam
- Saxena, S.K. & Budiman, J.S., 1985, Interface Response of Geotextiles, Proc. 11th International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering
- Saxena, S.K. & Wong, Y.T., 1984, Frictional Characteristics of a Geomembrane, Proc. International Conference on Geomembranes, Denver, CO, USA
- Seed, R.B. & Boulanger, R.W., 1991, Smooth HDPE-Clay Liner Interface Shear Strengths: Compaction Effects, Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, ASCE, 117 (4), 686-693
- Seed, R.B., Mitchell, J.K. & Seed, H.B., 1988, Slope Stability Failure Investigation: Landfill Unit B-19, Phase 1-A, Kettleman Hills, California, Report No. UCB/GT/88-01, Dept. of Civil Engineering, University of California, Berkeley, July
- Sharma, H.D. & Hullings, D.E., 1993, Direct Shear Testing for HDPE/Amended Soil Composites, Geosynthetics '93, Vancouver, Canada
- Somasundaram, S & Khilnani, K., 1991, Stability of High Refuse Slopes on Synthetic Lining Systems at the Bea Canyon Landfill, Geosynthetics '91, Atlanta, GA, USA

- Stark, T.D. & Poeppel, A.R., 1994, Landfill Liner Interface Strengths from Torsional Ring Shear Tests, Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, ASCE, 120 (3)
- Stark, T.D., Williamson, T.A. & Eid, H.T., 1996, HDPE Geomembrane/Geotextile Interface Shear Strength, Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, ASCE, Vol. 122, No. 3, pp. 197-203.
- Swan, R.H., Bonaparte, R., Bachus, R.C., Rivette, C.A. & Spikula, D.R., 1990, Effects of Soil Compaction Conditions on Geomembrane-Soil Interface Strength, Geotextiles and Geomembranes, 10 (5)
- Swyka, M., Olsta, J. Cotton, R., 2001, Geomembrane/GCL Composite Final Cover For A Hazardous Waste Landfill. Conf. Proc. Oregon, Geosynthetics Conference 2001
- University of Loughborough (2004) Direct Shear testing results. Confidential in house reports
- Westinghouse Environmental Services 1989 Test data reported to Golder Associates, January, In house Data
- Westinghouse Environmental Services 1990 Test data reported to Golder Associates, January, In house Data
- Whitty, J.E., 1984, Frictional Evaluation of Soil, Flexible Membrane Liner and Geotextile Systems, M.S. Thesis, Dept. of Civil Engineering Drexel University, Philadelphia, USA
- Williams, N.D. and Houlihan, M.F., 1986, Evaluation of Friction Coefficients between Geomembranes, Geotextiles and Related Products, Third International Conference on Geotextiles, Vienna, Austria
- Williams, N.D. and Houlihan, M.F., 1987, Evaluation of Friction Coefficients between Geosynthetics and Soils, Geosynthetics '87, New Orleans, LA, USA
- Yegian, M.K. & Lahlaf, A.M., 1992, Dynamic Interface Shear Strength Properties of Geomembranes and Geotextiles, Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, Vol. 118, No. 5, May 1992, ASCE

Paper 3: Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system

G.J. Fowmes, D.R.V. Jones and N. Dixon

Full Ref:

Fowmes, G.J., Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005). Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. *Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium*, Sardinia. pp369.

Abstract

The design of landfill barriers requires the assessment of stability and integrity of the lining system. The Landfill Directive requirement for a geological barrier makes the design and assessment of steepwall lining systems extremely complex. A numerical method using the finite difference modelling code, FLAC, is proposed for assessing the stability, in terms of deformations, and integrity of both artificial sealing liners and geological barriers. Staged construction and non linear interface logic is applied to the model. Output data includes axial strain in geosynthetics, relative shear displacements and deformations. Limitations of the model are the constitutive model applied to the waste and the availability of accurate input data.

Paper 3, p2

1. Introduction

The increased demand for waste disposal facilities in the UK requires the use of steep sided voids such as disused quarries. These voids require lining systems, which must remain stable on the steep perimeter side slopes. Following the introduction of the EC Landfill Directive (1999), enforced in the UK through the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002, a geological barrier, with properties equivalent to a thickness of 1m and hydraulic conductivity of $1.0 \times 10P^{-9}$ ms⁻¹, is required along the base and up the sides of landfill sites. In addition, geosynthetic artificial sealing liners are often required to limit the lateral migration of landfill gas. Guidance on landfill stability assessment published by the UK Environment Agency (Dixon & Jones, 2003) requires an assessment of both landfill stability and lining system integrity.

Jones and Dixon (2005) consider stability failure as the ultimate limit state, where large scale movements occur with complete loss of function. Integrity, the serviceability limit state, may involve small scale movements, resulting in overstressing, and hence loss of function, in geosynthetic and geological barriers. Maintaining stability of a lining system, especially on a steep slope, becomes increasingly difficult with the inclusion of a geological barrier. In addition to stability, the integrity of the geological barrier must be assessed to ensure that excessive shear strains and hence increased hydraulic conductivity do not occur.

Stability assessment of lining systems containing geosynthetic elements are traditionally carried out by limit equilibrium techniques. It is believed that this method is over simplistic and does not accurately demonstrate the application of forces to the geosynthetic components and the resultant strains. The forces applied to the geosynthetic components, due to waste settlements, are often overlooked in the design process. A model needs to accurately represent the horizontal forces applied by the waste body and the down drag on the lining system due to waste settlement. The down drag component of the waste body is expected to primarily affect the tensile forces acting on the geosynthetics, whilst the horizontal support component is expected to primarily affect the stability of the lining system and the deformations that occur (Fowmes *et al* 2005).

A benched quarry side slope geometry is analysed in this paper comprising of a reinforced sand structure constructed in order to provide a smooth and stable subgrade for the geosynthetic elements. A geological barrier and artificial geosynthetic sealing liner are included in the design. A numerical analysis has been carried out to assess the stability and integrity. The model has been run without waste present and with waste present. Waste properties have been selected to allow for short term compression under overburden pressure resulting in settlements of approximately 15%. Long term time dependant settlements due to degradation have not been considered in the present study.

2. Numerical Modelling

The finite difference numerical code FLAC (version 4.00) has been chosen to analyse steep wall lining systems primarily due to its ability to model large strains. In "large strain" mode, as displacement occurs within the defined problem, the code updates the positions of the gridpoints within the mesh to account for the displacement. In many numerical codes, and in "small strain" mode in FLAC, the grid points are not updated as deformation occurs and displacements are calculated from the initial grid positions. It is of particular importance that large strains are modelled accurately due to the extremely large settlements that can occur in the waste mass.

2.1 Lining system geometry

The lining system analysed in this investigation was a reinforced sand body on a benched hard rock quarry slope. The 0.5m thick geological barrier was placed in direct contact with an incompressible stable rock subgrade, and then an engineered reinforced sand body was placed on the clay in an attempt to ensure the stability of the clay. An expanded polystyrene facing sheet was modelled above the reinforced sand used to provide a flat surface for placement of a geomembrane. A non woven needle punched geotextile is modelled between the geomembrane and the waste. Figure 1 shows the system geometry.

2.2 Multilayer geosynthetic liners

Previous analyses carried out by Byrne (1994), Jones (1999), and Jones & Dixon (2005), have used FLAC to analyse waste barrier interaction along a single interface. In these investigations two mesh segments, one representing the lining subgrade and the other the waste, were separated by a single interface. The properties of this interface were given values to represent the critical slip plane.

In the current study a two geosynthetic layer lining system is analysed. Beam elements are used to represent the geosynthetic elements (Itasca 2002) and interfaces defined between them. As beam elements can only interact with the model via interfaces, multiple beam layers can be placed between two meshes. Correct definition of the interfaces is imperative to the correct behaviour of the model. As individual geosynthetic elements are defined by individual beam elements, each can be given individual tensile strength properties. In this investigation two geosynthetics and hence three interfaces are defined. A geomembrane overlies the expanded polystyrene on the side slope, and forms a composite lining system with the clay along the base. Overlying the geomembrane is a geotextile protection layer. The waste is then placed directly in contact with the geotextile protection layer. It will be possible in future to add additional complexity to the system with additional slip surface geotextiles and a drainage layer.



Figure 1. Lining system materials.

2.3 Construction sequence

Test models have shown that accurate representation of the construction sequence is necessary as this controls the sequence and magnitudes of the applied forces. For the analysis reported here the model was built in lifts of approximately 2.5m in height. Where waste has been modelled, the waste was also placed in 2.5m lifts following the placement of the lining system.

2.4 Non-Liner stress strain behaviour for interfaces

The use of strain softening interfaces was discussed by Jones & Dixon (2005). When using limit equilibrium techniques, the designer must chose a single set of shear strength parameters that can be peak, residual or factored values. Use of peak values can over estimate the strength of an interface, especially if large strains occur; however, use of residual parameters may give an unrealistically conservative design. The basic FLAC code allows linear elastic interface properties to be entered and a subroutine provided by Itasca (2002) allows strain softening interfaces, but only between grid elements. A routine has been developed by the authors within the FLAC sub-code, FISH, which allows a non linear stress strain response to be entered for the interfaces between geosynthetic (beam) elements. As such, peak strength can be mobilised at a given displacement, and this value is subsequently reduced towards residual if further slip occurs along the interface.

2.5 Engineering detail

In order for the model to represent the realistic situation, engineering detail such as anchorage and attachments of reinforcements must be considered. However, simplifications of such details are necessary, but realistic behaviour must still be maintained. Modelling of the geomembrane was initially carried out without anchoring throughout the construction sequence. This may have resulted in slippage of the geomembrane rather than development of tension. As the geomembrane would be temporarily anchored and hence restrained from movement during placement of the waste, this model is over simplistic. The same model was run again with the top of the geomembrane anchored for each lift. This resulted in a tensile stress in the upper section of the geomembrane. The tensile forces transferred to the geomembrane were a function of the interface shear strength between the geosynthetic layers, as discussed below. Following this investigation temporary anchoring of the geomembrane has been used in subsequent analyses.

Another area of concern is the attachment of the geosynthetic reinforcing layers, within the sand structure, to the expanded polystyrene facing layer. Alterations to the model were carried out in order to investigate the deformations with and without attachment to the face. It was found that fixing the reinforcements reduced the deformations in the outer wall by on average 5%, and up to 17% in places. In the following investigation this has been modelled as not fixed, but further research into this area of the model is required.

3. Self Supporting Lining Systems

Dixon *et al* (2004) identified that current municipal solid waste placed using common practice provides insufficient lateral support to ensure the stability and integrity of a mineral only steep walled lining system. Waste adjacent to the wall provides low and variable lateral support, and due to the unwillingness to compact waste near to the geosynthetic lining system, waste material has low stiffness adjacent to the lining system.

As there is uncertainty about the amount of horizontal support derived from the waste body the model was run with no waste present. This area of the analysis primarily looks at the overall stability and local deformations that occur within the lining system. Integrity is considered in terms of shear strains within the compacted clay geological barrier. As there is no waste mass present and hence no down drag, the geosynthetic lining component is omitted for this area of the analysis as it has very limited effect on the behaviour of the underlying lining system. Additional calculations would be required to assess the integrity of the geosynthetics under self weight.

3.1 Influence of soil reinforcements

Models were run with different tensile yield properties of the geosynthetic reinforcement. Table 1 shows the input parameters used in the analyses. Figure 2 shows the deformations at the outer wall of the expanded polystyrene layer; this would represent the surface on which the membrane is laid.

Run code	Yield Strength (kN)
NoWaste3	20
NoWaste4	10
NoWaste8	0.5

Table 1 – Tensile yield of geotextile reinforcement

With tensile yield strength of 20kN, the maximum predicted horizontal displacements were less than 100mm, however, when the tensile was reduced to 10kN, stability failure occurred following the 6th lift, at a height of 15m. When looking at this failure in terms of horizontal deformations, the maximum deformations coincided with the base of each bench, with movements up to 600mm occurring before the model was stopped. When the tensile yield properties were reduced to a nominally low value of 500N, the model failed after 2 lifts, at a height of 5m. Figure 2 shows large horizontal deformations at the base of the lining structure as the reinforcement is unable to prevent a close to circular shear failure forming. In addition to the deformations in the outer surface of the expanded polystyrene, strains in the geological barrier are also

considered. Figure 3 shows the shear strain occurring within the reinforced soil geological barrier.



Figure 2.Horizontal Deformations at outer face of expanded polystyrene for different reinforcement yield strengths



Figure 3. Shear strains in lining system constructed in the absence of waste a) Tensile yield of reinforcements 10kN Shear Strain >50% b) Tensile yield of reinforcements 20kN Shear Strain >10%

Figure 3a shows the lining system constructed using reinforcement with tensile strength of 10kN. The maximum strains are in excess of 50% and the failure plane can be seen to propagate down from the geological barrier, through the reinforced sand and through the toe at the first bench. Figure 3b show the shear strains with reinforcement strengths of 20kN. The reinforced sand mass shows much less deformation, however, the geological barrier still displays shear strains in excess of 10%, which would still be considered unacceptable in design. A linear elastic perfectly plastic Mohr Coulomb model is applied to the clay and this is an area that requires further consideration in the modelling process, both in terms of constitutive model and input parameters.

3.2 Arguments against "stability only" analyses

It is unreasonable to only assess a self supporting lining system in the absence of waste. The effect of down drag on the lining system needs to be assessed in terms of axial strains in the geosynthetics and the forces transferred into the remainder of the lining system due to waste settlements. In addition to the effect of down drag, the weight of the waste acting on a lining system will cause compression of the reinforced soil body. In the lining system analysed in this paper, compression of the reinforced sand and compacted clay layers is induced by the self weight of the waste.

4. Waste Supported Lining Systems

The waste was modelled as a linear elastic perfectly plastic material with a Mohr Coulomb failure envelope. It is acknowledged that this model is over simplistic for representation of a complex heterogeneous material. However, even with a simplistic model finding meaningful input parameters is problematic. More advanced models are under development, Machado *et al* 2002, Dixon & Zhang (2005), and it is envisaged that these will ultimately be included in the analysis. The input parameters used in this investigation are displayed in Table 2. These parameters allow for settlements of approximately 15% representing compaction under overburden pressure. Long term time dependant settlement processes, caused by waste degradation, have not been considered in this study.

Property	Value
Young's Modulus	500kPa
Poisson's ratio	0.3
Unit Weight	12 kN/m3
Friction Angle	25°
Cohesion	5kPa

Table 2 - Parameters of the waste body (after Jones & Dixon, 2005)

4.1 Influence of horizontal support

With a self supporting lining system stability is ensured without the need for horizontal support from the waste body. If however the design relies on a degree of support from the waste body for stability, the initial horizontal stresses in the waste control behaviour. If movement of the lining system into the waste occurs, stiffness of the waste controls the magnitude of lining deformation Even in self supporting designs, horizontal forces exerted on the lining system by the waste body must be considered as they control the interface confining pressures and hence mobilised shear strengths, and they may result in compression of the sub-grade support.

4.2 Influence of down drag

As waste settles, stresses are transferred into the geosynthetic liners. An investigation was carried out into the effect of waste down drag on the geosynthetic tensile strain. Waste stiffness was altered in order to generate different down drag magnitude of the waste body. Table 3 shows the modulus properties used in each of the model runs.

To compare the effect of down drag, Figure 4 show the axial strains developed in the geotextile. Only the protection geotextile is considered here as the transfer of force into the geomembrane is discussed in the next section. The results show a large reduction in the axial strains transferred into the geosynthetic lining system as a result of stiffer waste. This is primarily attributed to the reduction in waste settlements. An

assumption is made in this analysis that the geotextile remains continuous from the top to the bottom of the slope.

Run Code	Waste Properties	
	Young's modulus	Poisson's Ratio
AltWaste11	0.5MPa	0.3
AltWaste9	1MPa	0.3
AltWaste10	2MPa	0.3

Table 3 - Waste modulus characteristics.



Figure 4. Influence of waste stiffness properties on geotextile axial strain. (N.B. Tensile strain is positive)

4.3 Influence of interface behaviour

The behaviour of the interfaces is fundamental to both the stability and integrity of the lining system. In this analysis, the influence of the interface between the geosynthetics on the transfer of stress, and hence strain from the geotextile to the geomembrane, is assessed.

The first part of the analysis was simplified to give at a linear stress strain relationship for the interface allowing easier comparison. The input parameters and resulting strains in the geomembrane are given in Table 4. Run "IntProp5b" used a linear friction angle of 9°, except for lift 5, where a friction angle of 45° was applied. This high friction region could represent a geometric or constructional irregularity, for example a fold in the geosynthetics, restricting the slippage of one geosynthetic layer past the other.

The results show that an increase in the interface friction between the geosynthetic layers results in an increased axial strain within the geomembrane. The affect of the high friction section in run IntProp5b caused significant increase in the axial strain experienced in the geomembrane layer. This shows the consideration that must be given in addressing the construction detail and the likely heterogeneity in the surface between the geosynthetics. Three dimensional effects such as slope angle change will also have an impact on the slip surface and should also be considered. It is recommended that sensitivity analysis also be carried out at the other interfaces. The interface between the geomembrane and the expanded polystyrene will also have an influence on the tensile strength developed in the geomembrane.

Run Code	Interface Friction	Maximum axial tensile
	Angle (Degrees)	strain in geomembrane
IntProp3b	9	1.6%
IntProp6b	12	2.6%
IntProp7b	15	4.4%
IntProp1b	18	5.1%
IntProp2b	27	11.4%
IntProp4b	36	12.7%
IntProp5b	9 (45 on lift 5)	9.9%

Table 4 - Parameters of the geomembrane to geotextile Interface

4.3.1 Strain softening interfaces

The effect of strain softening behaviour was addressed along the interface between the geosynthetic elements. The interface friction angle was altered but instead of a single

value being varied as in the analysis above, various parts of the interface friction/displacement curve were altered. Figure 5 shows the friction angle/displacement relationships for the interface between the geomembrane and geotextile used in the three of the analyses reported here. In the first instance, run PP_ssint5, shear strength is mobilised, then minimal post peak shear strength reduction is observed. The effect of increasing the peak shear strength and the residual shear strength were then analysed in runs PP_ssint6 and 7 respectively. Table 5 shows the axial strain and displacement data derived from these analyses.



Figure 5. Curves of friction angle against displacement used in the analysis.

Due to the large displacements, an increase in peak shear strength along the interface has a much smaller effect than a residual shear strength increase. The increase in residual strength in run PP_ssint7 resulted in an increase in transferred stress from the geomembrane to the geotextile and a maximum axial stain increase of 80% in the geomembrane. Where the displacements at the interface are small, more shear stress is transferred to the geomembrane and hence more axial strain is developed. When evaluating an actual design it is suggested that the complete strain curve is analysed. Figure 6 shows the axial strain in the geomembrane from analysis PP_ssint7 above. If significant strains are predicted in a geomembrane, inclusion of a secondary slip surface geotextile between the existing geotextile and the waste can provides an additional slip plane.

Run Code	Maximum Axial	Minimum	Maximum
	Strain in	Displacement along	Displacement along
	geomembrane	interface	interface
PP_ssint5	2.47%	39mm	214mm
PP_ssin6	2.47%	39mm	228mm
PP_ssint7	4.47%	32mm	200mm

Table 5 - Strain softening interfaces



Figure 6. Axial strains in the geomembrane (maximum tensile value 4.47%)

5. Implications For Further Designs

The technique proposed in this paper can be used to assess the behaviour of a proposed lining system, in terms of strains, relative displacements between components and stresses. It is not suggested at this stage that this tool be used to give exact values for use in design, primarily due to limitations of the input data. However, the model can be used to investigate possible modes of failure and identify areas within a design that may require improving.

5.1 Further investigation

In order to represent the effects of down drag caused by waste settlement and horizontal support from the waste body, an appropriate waste constitutive model is
required. It is of great importance to the waste barrier interactions that the forces and displacements acting on the lining system due to the waste body are known. Waste models such as those under development (Dixon & Zhang, 2005) may ultimately be integrated in to this design methodology. The effects of time dependant settlement caused by degradation of the waste will need to be addressed by the model in order to assess long term stability and integrity of the lining system.

Modelling of this lining system, although subject to the limitations described above, has identified that the geological barrier could experience areas of high shear strain. Further work is required here in order to both accurately model the clay liner and to implement and develop materials for the geological barrier which will reduce this deformation. Validation of this model is required to ensure that response of the model is correct. Three methods of validation are proposed; back analysis of published data, centrifuge testing and full scale site instrumentation.

6. Conclusions

A method is proposed for assessing the integrity and stability of a Landfill Directive compliant lining system. The FLAC modelling code allows simulation of large strain problems and can be used to represent settlement in a waste body. Modelling of multilayered lining systems has been carried out using individual components to model the artificial sealing liner and a protection geotextile. This approach allows the transfer of stress, and hence strain, in the geosynthetic liners to be assessed. Stains in the geological barrier can also be predicted.

Limitations in the constitutive models and input parameters, in particular for the highly heterogeneous waste body, mean that at the current stage of development this technique should be used as an indication of processes occurring and likely areas of instability and integrity failure. Further work will investigate issues of degradation controlled waste settlements, material and geometry variability along with construction processes and engineering detail.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the EPSRC who provided funding through the Centre for

Innovative Construction Engineering (CICE) at Loughborough University and Golder Associates (UK) Ltd for funding and support of this research project.

References

- Byrne, R.J., 1994. Design issues with strain-softening interfaces in landfill liners, Proc. Waste Tech 94, Charleston, South Carolina, January 1994.
- Dixon, N. & Jones, D.R.V., 2003. Stability of Landfill Lining Systems: Report No. 2, Guidance, R&D Technical Report P1-385/TR2, Environment Agency, January 2003.
- Dixon, N., Ng'ambi, S., and Jones, D.R.V., 2004, Structural performance of a steep slope landfill lining system, Geotechnical Engineering (157) pp 115-125.
- Dixon, N. and Zhang, B., 2005, Constitutive modelling of MSW, Submitted for publication, Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, Sardinia.
- Fowmes, G.J., Zhang, B., Dixon, N., El-Hamalawi, A., & Jones, D.R.V., 2005 Modelling of Waste Barrier Interaction. International Workshop "Hydro-Physico-Mechanics of Landfills" Grenoble, France, March 2005.
- Itasca Consulting Group Inc. 2002, FLAC version 4.00 user's guide, Second revision.
- Jones, D.R.V., 1999. The stability of geosynthetics in landfill lining systems, PhD thesis, Nottingham Trent University, July 1999.
- Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005). Landfill lining stability and integrity: the role of waste settlement, Geotextiles and Geomembranes, 23, pp 27-53.
- Machado, S.L., Carvalho, M.F. and Vilar, O.M., 2002. Constitutive model for municipal solid waste. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, ASCE, vol.128 (11), pp. 940-951.

Paper 4: Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems

G.J. Fowmes, N. Dixon and D.R.V. Jones

Full Ref:

Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. (2006) Use of randomly reinforced soils in barrier systems. *Proc.* 5th *International Congress on Environmental Geotechnics*, Cardiff, UK, June 2006. 709 – 716.

Abstract

This paper investigates the use of fibre reinforcement as a means of increasing the shear strength in a low permeability soil barrier system, whilst maintaining the required hydraulic properties. Bentonite enhanced soil (BES) has been used as a host material since fibres can be added during the existing mixing process, thus requires minimal additional mixing plant. Results have shown that fibre reinforcement can provide both peak and post peak shear strength improvements. Behaviour of the soil fibre composite is improved by increasing fibre content to at least 0.5% (by weight) and fibres of 20mm in length are shown to give greater strength increases than fibres of 10mm. Preliminary permeability tests have shown that the fibre reinforcement has little effect on the hydraulic performance and a typical target permeability for use in landfill applications of $1 \times 10^{-10} \text{ms}^{-1}$ can still be achieved.

1. Introduction

Low permeability liners are required in many containment applications. Geosynthetic liners can be used in a range of situations, including on steep side slopes, where the use of mineral liners can be problematic. However, in landfill applications, following the introduction of the EC Landfill Directive (1999), enforced in the UK through the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002, a geological barrier must be included in the lining system, even on steep slopes. The finite difference numerical modelling code, FLAC, has been used to assess the stability and integrity of landfill lining systems (Fowmes *et al.*, 2005) and it has been shown that low permeability geological materials such as compacted clay and bentonite enhanced soils (BES) can experience large strains, particularly on steep side slopes. Figure 1 shows predicted high shear strains in a low permeability mineral liner on a benched quarry side slope. The mineral liner is located behind a reinforced soil support system against the stable quarry wall. This demonstrates that a method of controlling strains in such layers is required.

Continuous reinforcements may not be a viable option in low permeability barrier layers as they could provide a preferential flow path for the migration of fluids and gasses. It is therefore proposed that discrete fibre reinforcements can be implemented to improve stress strain behaviour whilst not compromising the permeability. Fibre reinforcement gives improved strength and stiffness characteristics by the mobilisation of tensile forces within the fibres. The tensile forces help to bind the sample together and resist deformation. Two failure modes are identified resulting in a bilinear failure envelope (AI-Refeai, 1991). Below a critical confining pressure the fibres will fail by pullout, above the critical confining pressure the dominant failure mechanism is by tensile yield. Dhillon (1999) identified two types of fibre reinforcement, extensible and inextensible. Inextensible fibres allow much higher strains before failure. It is not appropriate to just present single values for the shear strength of discrete fibre reinforced soils as the effect on the complete stress strain behaviour of the soil needs to be assessed.



Figure 1. Predicted shear strains in a low permeability landfill lining system.

The effect of fibres on soil mass behaviour is material specific, for example Gray and Ohashi (1983) identity that low modulus fibres increased both peak and post peak strength, whereas Maher and Gray (1990) found only improvements in post peak behaviour. Hence it is believed that fibre and soil specific testing is required to determine the loading response and hydraulic behaviour of a soil fibre composite.

Fine grained plastic soils are usually used as mineral barriers, however, introducing fibres to form a well mixed relatively uniform material is problematic. Although the use of fibre reinforced clay has been reported by other authors (Miller and Rifai, 2004) the experience in this investigation was that mixing of fibres into stiff clays was very difficult, especially when trying to represent a mixing process that could be reproduced on site at a commercial scale. The only feasible way that was found to mix the fibres was to increase the moisture content of the clays, and this would be expensive and counterproductive, due to reduced shear strength, on site.

In regions where there is not a supply of an appropriate natural fine grained material, bentonite enhanced soil (BES) is often used. BES is a low permeability material which utilises the swelling properties of bentonite to fill the voids between sand particles (Jefferis, 1998). Mixing of fibres into the composite is easier than in fine grained plastic soil due to the dominant granular sand component and relatively dry mix. Mixing plant is already required on site hence the fibres could be added without the need for additional plant mobilisation.

2. Laboratory Testing

2.1 Material selection and mixing

Samples of bentonite enhanced soils were produced in the laboratory using a z-blade mixer. Mixing was not found to be problematic, except when fibre content exceeded 0.5% by weight, although this finding may be specific to the particular mixing equipment used in this study. Hand operations were required to achieve an even distribution of fibres in the BES prior to the mixing. However, commercial scale belt fed mixers with fibres added in the appropriate proportions to the other materials prior to entering the mixer should produce appropriate initial fibre distribution.

Tests were conducted using a range of fibre lengths. 10mm and 20mm long uncrimped polypropylene monofilament fibre, with 0.1mm diameter, and a commercially available 35mm length polypropylene crimped fibre were used in this investigation. Polypropylene fibres are suitable in waste containment applications as they have a proven track record in resistance to common leachates. The behaviour of fibre reinforced bentonite enhanced soil is affected by a wide range of variables, some of which are as follows:

- Fibre dosage
- Fibre length
- Fibre diameter
- Fibre crimping
- Bentonite content

- Fibre modulus
- Fibre yield point
- Fibre-soil surface friction angle
- Stress State
- Moisture content at mixing

A laboratory investigation has been conducted to assess the viability of fibre reinforcements for use in low permeability barriers. Compaction tests, 38mm and 100mm diameter unconsolidated undrained triaxial tests and falling head permeability tests have been carried out. The aim of the investigation was to assess if a strength increase could be achieved while retaining the required low permeability with fibre inclusions. Fibre length, fibre content (defined as fibre weight/dry soil weight), fibre type and moisture content were all studied in this investigation. For all of the testing described in this paper a nominal bentonite content of 10% (by dry weight) was used with Leighton Buzzard sand as the host soil. Although the affect of fibre reinforcement is material dependent on the host material, this sand and bentonite content represent those which are typically used on site.

2.2 Compaction tests

Compaction tests were carried out in accordance with BS 1377, Part 4: 1990 using a 4.5kg rammer. The compaction tests gave the same optimum moisture content for unreinforced and fibre reinforced BES, however, the compacted dry density was lower with the fibres present. Although there is a difference in the mass of the fibres compared to the soil component, this does not account for the total reduction in dry density. Based on the observed behaviour all subsequent investigations use an overall moisture content of 12.5% unless otherwise stated.



Figure 2. Dry density against moisture content for both unreinforced and fibre reinforced BES.

Prabakar and Sridhar (2002) reported reduction in dry density and optimum moisture content with increasing fibre content. However, Fletcher and Humphries (1991) reported increases in maximum dry density with fibre addition. These conflicting findings are probably a result of material variations and show the importance of material specific testing.

2.3 Strength tests

In order to compare the strength behaviour of the fibre BES composites, unconsolidated undrained triaxial tests were carried out in accordance with BS 1377, Part 7:1990. It was decided to use 32mm diameter samples to allow a greater number of tests to be carried out.

As the fibres are long relative to the sample diameter results may be affected by trapping of fibres between the sides of the sample and the membrane and also the samples may not undergo sufficient deformation to mobilise fibre reinforcement. It should also be noted that samples may not have been fully saturated. Despite these limitations, tests provided a comparative tool to assess the strength performance of unreinforced and fibre reinforced BES.

2.4 Fibre reinforcement and fibre length

A comparison was carried out between unreinforced BES and BES reinforced with 10mm and 20mm uncrimped fibres. Fibre reinforced BES is shown in Figure 3 to give improved stress strain behaviour over unreinforced samples. 20mm fibres give the greatest performance improvement over unreinforced BES. Although an improvement in the stress strain characteristics is observed with 10mm fibres, it is much less pronounced than with longer fibres. Shear strength parameters for linear best fit lines through peak strengths are also given. Both reinforced and unreinforced samples deformed by barrelling.



Figure 3. Stress strain curves and derived peak shear strength parameters showing the influence of fibre inclusion and length.

Santoni *et al.* (2001) found that monofilament fibres 51mm in length significantly outperformed those of 25mm in length. These longer fibres were not considered here as they may induce preferential fluid migration, however, they will be considered in future studies. Prabakar and Sridhar (2002) found in tests on silty soils that the shear strength of the soil sample increased up to a maximum fibre length of 20mm, above this length the fewer number

of fibres resulted in the fibres failing to bind the soil in a single interlocking matrix. Fewer numbers of fibres are present at longer fibre lengths as the total fibre mass remains the same and the mass of each individual fibre increases.

2.5 Fibre content

Fibre content comparisons were carried out for two fibre types; 20mm uncrimped fibres and 35mm crimped fibres. Fibre content of 0, 0.25% and 0.5% are compared and the results shown in Figure 4. A clear increase in shear stress at a given strain can be seen with fibre content of 0.5% at both fibre lengths and at all normal stresses. For 0.25% content of 20mm fibres shear stress increases are observed at 200kPa, little stress gain is achieved at 100kPa and a decrease in stress at a given strain is seen at 50kPa. It is suggested that this could be due to the failure mode of the fibres with pullout and sliding along the fibres at low confining stresses, and mobilisation of tensile stress at higher confining stresses. The peak strength parameters show the strength increase due to the fibre inclusion. The low apparent cohesion values at 0.25% with uncrimped fibres and 0.5% with crimped fibres are a function of a relatively large strength increase at 200kPa rather than a poor performance at lower normal stress, and therefore a high friction angle is derived.

With 0.25% addition of 35mm crimped fibre a modest strength increase is seen at 50, 100 and 200kPa confining stresses, with the strength increase much smaller than with 0.5% fibre content. It is believed that due to the crimped nature of the fibres, pullout is restricted. It must be noted that the crimp dimensions of the fibre should be proportional to the grain size; thus if the distance between the crimp is too small, the fibre may have to "uncoil" before any tension can be mobilised.



Figure 4. Stress strain curves and derived peak shear strength parameters showing the influence of fibre content (weight %) using a) 20mm uncrimped and b) 35mm crimped fibres.

2.6 Moisture content

Moisture content was varied to investigate the effects of hydration of the BES. The effects on the fibres of doubling the overall soil moisture content from 12.5% to 25% were investigated and the results are shown in Figure 5. A large drop in shear strength of the unreinforced BES occurs at the higher moisture content. The shear strength was improved by the presence of both 35mm crimped and 20mm uncrimped fibres, however, was still significantly lower than unreinforced BES at 12.5% moisture content. The shorter 10mm fibres were found to have a detrimental effect of the shear strength of the BES as they easily pulled out and provided a preferential slip surfaces in the shear zone during the observed barrelling of the sample. Deconstructed samples showed no failure or elongation of fibres indicating slip had occurred. It must be noted that the additional moisture content was added to the mixture prior to

compaction, so in addition to strength drop due to the presence of moisture, strength will may also occur due to the lower dry density achieved during compaction (see Figure 2).



Axial Strain

Figure 5. Stress strain curves and derived peak shear strength parameters (based on 20% axial strain) showing the influence of fibre reinforcement in BES with 25% overall moisture content.

2.7 100mm diameter triaxial tests

Due to the fibre lengths being large relative to the 32mm diameter triaxial sample, the sample size may have influenced the results. Therefore, 100mm diameter triaxial tests were conducted to investigate this aspect. The samples were all compacted and tested with a moisture content of 12.5% and bentonite content 10%. The three samples tested were; unreinforced BES, BES with 0.5% 20mm uncrimped fibres and BES with 0.5% 35mm crimped fibres. The results are shown in Figure 6. The unreinforced BES gave a peak strength value at 9.1% axial strain. The 35mm crimped fibres gave a peak value at 8.1% axial strain with shear stress increases, compared to the unreinforced BES, at all comparable axial strains. These samples failed with a distinct shear plane, and deconstructing the samples showed pullout failure had occurred. The sample reinforced sample until 3% strain, but gave a strain hardening effect up to 10%. After 10% strain the material behaved in a perfectly plastic manner, with no post peak strength loss, barrelling of this sample occurred but no shear plane formed.

When comparing the results from the 32mm and the 100mm triaxial samples the results appear quite different when measured in terms of axial strain, however, the stress vs displacement curves are a much closer match, with similar peak strength values mobilised at comparable displacements. It is believed that the displacements occurring along the shear zone, which mobilise tensile reinforcements, are critical and not the overall strains. Displacements in the order of 15mm to 20mm were typically required to mobilise peak strengths in the 32 and 100mm diameter samples.



Figure 6. Influence of fibre reinforcement in 100mm triaxial samples.

3. Permeability tests

Preliminary falling head permeability tests have been carried out on samples of fibre unreinforced and reinforced BES containing 0.5% of 35mm crimped fibres and compacted with a moisture content of 12.5%. The material was left for 48 hours prior to testing in order to allow the bentonite to hydrate. Results showed little variation between the fibre reinforced and the unreinforced BES samples. Permeability values of less than 1×10^{-10} ms⁻¹ were measured. It is known that in needle punched Geosynthetic Clay Liners (GCL) the swelling nature of the bentonite means that despite continuous inclusions through the bentonite core, low permeability is still achieved. The principle is the same in fibre reinforcements; as the bentonite swells it closes any paths along the sides of the fibres thus retarding fluid migration.

Paper 4, p11

4. Discussion and Further Research

On examining deconstructed samples following compaction most of the fibres were oriented between approximately 0 and 65 degrees of horizontal. McGown *et al.* (1978) identified that as the reinforcement orientation moves away from the plane of maximum tensile stress, their influence diminishes. Compaction and deformation will align the fibres from random towards the maximum tensile stress plane. The aligned fibres induce a greater reinforcing effect, when subjected to loads in the same axis as the compaction, thus giving the fibre reinforced soil strain hardening behaviour. Santoni *et al.* (2001) describe that strain hardening characteristics were seen up to strains of 25%. A possible negative effect of this process to be considered with the orientation of fibres is that this will increase the likelihood of preferential flow paths forming. This is of particular concern on steep side slopes as the aligned fibres could form preferential paths allowing lateral flow through the liner. Further investigations should assess anisotropic hydraulic conductivity. Additional permeability tests are planned using flexible wall equipment in order to reduce potential fluid transport at the sample sides.

In all deconstructed samples pullout was the predominate mode of failure. It may be necessary to select fibres with higher fibre soil interface friction angle to allow greater mobilisation of tensile stress. If fibres are under tension extensibility can be controlled in BES-fibre composites by the selection of polymer varieties. The nature of the fibres should be selected to provide the desired composite properties.

Further work is required on large diameter drained triaxial tests, in order to derive parameters for use in numerical modelling of mineral lining systems. Additional combinations of fibre type and length should be considered, in addition to different host sands. One area of concern is the lower shear strength when the bentonite becomes hydrated, although fibres have been shown to improve shear behaviour. Further work is required to assess whether this is sufficient to enable the use of these products on steep side slopes.

5. Conclusions

Strength increases can be achieved in low permeability BES liners using fibre reinforcement. The magnitude of shear strength increase and strains at which the improvements occur is dependent on the fibre type, length and dosage. Fibre pullout is increased by the lubricating effect of hydrated bentonite. This must be considered, and fibre types and concentrations selected, such that they do not have an adverse effect when samples contain hydrated bentonite. Initial permeability results have shown no adverse effect from fibre inclusions, however, more detailed analysis of permeability and compaction induced anisotropy is required. This study indicates that reinforced BES has improved strength and deformation behaviour and warrants further investigation for use as a geological barrier on steep slopes.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Hahl Extrusions Ltd, David Shercliff of GEOfabrics Ltd, and Simon Senior of Drake Extrusion Ltd for supplying the fibres used in this investigation.

References

- Al-Refeai, T. (1991) Behaviour of granular soils reinforced with discrete randomly oriented inclusions. J. Geotextiles and Geomembranes. 10, 319-333.
- BS 1377:1990 Methods of test for soils for civil engineering purposes. British Standards Institution.
- Dhillon, G.S. (1999) Fibre reinforced soil. Science Tribune, Chandigarh, Feb 25th 1999.
- Fletcher, C.S. and Humphries, W.K., (1991) California bearing ratio improvement of remoulded soils by the addition of polypropylene reinforcement. Proceeding of seventieth annual meeting, Transportation Research Board, Washington DC. pp. 80-86.
- Fowmes, G.J. Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. (2005) Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. 10th Int. Waste Management and Landfill Symposium, Sardinia.
- Gray, D.H. & Ohashi, H. (1983). Mechanics of fibre-reinforcement in sand. ASCE J. Geotech Engng 109, No. 3, 335-353.
- Gray, D.H. & Al-Refeai, T. (1986). Behaviour of fabric versus fibre-reinforced sand. ASCEJ. Geotech Engng 112, No 8, 804-820.

- Jefferis, S.A. (1998) The design and control of bentonite enriched soils. *Geotechnical* engineering of landfills. Thomas Telford, London, 1998.
- Maher, M.H. & Gray, D.H. (1990). Static Response of sand reinforced with randomly distributed fibers. ASCE J. Geotech Engng 116, No. 11, 1661-1667.
- McGown, A., Andrawes, K.Z. and Al-Hasani, M.M. (1978) Effect of inclusion properties on the behaviour of sand. Geotechnique 28, No. 3, 327-346.
- Miller, C.J., and Rifai, S. (2004) Fibre Reinforcement for Waste Containment Soil Liners, ASCE Journal of Environmental Engineering, Vol.130, No.8, August 1, 2004, 891-895.
- Prabakar, J. & Sridhar, R.S. (2002) Effect of random inclusion of sisal fibre on strength behaviour of soil. Construction and Building Materials 16 (2002) 123-131.
- Santoni, R.L., Tingle, J.S. & Webster, S.L. (2001). Engineering Properties of Sand-Fibre Mixtures For Road Construction. ASCE J. of Geotech and Geoenv Engng, Vol. 127, No. 3, pp 258-268.

Paper 5: Validation of a numerical modelling technique for multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems

G.J. Fowmes, N. Dixon, and D.R.V. Jones

Full Ref:

Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N. and Jones, D.R.V. (2007) Validation of a numerical modelling technique for multilayered geosynthetic landfill lining systems. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*. 26 (2008) 109–121.

Abstract

It has become common practice to conduct numerical analyses to assess the stability and integrity of side slope landfill lining systems, however, information that can be used to validate such models is extremely limited. This paper contains data from a series of large scale laboratory tests containing geosynthetic elements of a multilayered lining system exposed to downdrag forces from a compressible synthetic waste material (rubber crumb). These data are compared to the results from numerical analysis of the same problem. The numerical results are from initial best estimate analyses, with interface and synthetic waste properties derived from a laboratory testing programme and geosynthetic material properties from manufacturers. The observed trends of tensile stresses in the geosynthetics and relative displacements at interfaces in the laboratory testing are reproduced by the numerical models to an acceptable degree of accuracy that would be appropriate, using site specific input data, for use in commercial design.

Keywords

Landfill design, numerical analysis, geomembrane tension, multiple layer lining systems, interface displacements.

Paper 5. p2

1.0Introduction

Guidance on landfill stability assessment published by the UK Environment Agency (Dixon & Jones, 2003) requires an assessment of both landfill stability and lining system integrity. Stability assessments of landfill lining systems are traditionally carried out by limit equilibrium techniques. However, such techniques cannot assess integrity (Long *et al.* 1994). The forces applied to the geosynthetic components, due to waste compression and degradation, are often overlooked in the design process. In order to represent compression and degradation controlled settlement induced downdrag, a model needs to represent the horizontal forces applied by the waste body and down drag on the lining system due to waste settlement. Previous studies by Fowmes *et al.* (2005 and 2006) have used the FLAC modelling code to assess the integrity of geosynthetics in multilayered lining systems. Whilst attention has been paid to accuracy of input parameters, it has been assumed that the model, including the implementation of multiple layered geosynthetic interface interaction, is correct.

Limited data is available for comparing measured behaviour of multiple layered geosynthetic lining systems to that predicted by numerical modelling techniques. Villard *et al.* (1999) present a model using Finite element modelling techniques, of a landfill lining system during construction and compare predicted behaviour to field measurements. This study showed a good correlation, however, the post waste placement data is not presented for either the field or numerical models due to a poor match between the data sets. The study reported in this paper aims to validate a numerical modelling technique by comparing interaction of geosynthetic landfill lining system components subjected to downdrag forces in a large scale laboratory model with the results of a numerical analysis of the same system.

2.0Laboratory Testing

Large scale laboratory testing was carried out so that measured behaviour could be compared to a numerical model of the same system. It must be emphasised that the physical model is not intended to directly represent behaviour of a landfill lining system; it was designed to represent the interaction of lining system components when exposed to downdrag forces and hence generate post-peak interface displacements experienced in side slope landfill lining systems. Thusyanthan *et al.*, (2004) investigated tension in a scaled geomembrane on a shallow side slope in a centrifuge model, including dynamic loading, however, only a single geosynthetic was included in the lining system. A test without increased gravitational acceleration was adopted in this investigation as it allowed full scale geosynthetics to be used, and thus interface behaviour could be characterised using standard direct shear apparatus. A compacted clay barrier layer was not included in the laboratory model. Formation of a planar vertical face would have been problematic, as it would have introduced a number of additional variables (i.e. related to moisture content and density) and it is not routinely present directly beneath the geomembrane in steep slope lining systems in UK practice. A wood subgrade was employed, which could be readily characterised and used to represent geomembrane support systems on steep slopes.

2.1 Test chamber design

The test chamber consisted of a 1m x 1m x 1m void that was filled with compressible rubber crumb. One side of the test chamber was formed of a vertical wooden wall supported by a frame on which samples of geomembrane covered with a geotextile were placed (Figure 1). The front of the test chamber consisted of a 25 mm thick glass panel to allow movements in the system to be observed. The remaining two walls were sheet steel. The wooden subgrade was selected as it would provide a low friction interface beneath the geomembrane thus allowing measurable tensile strains in the geomembrane.

The sheet steel and glass walls of the test chamber were lined with a 0.1 mm thick sacrificial plastic sheet (shown in Figure 1) which reduced the friction between the box side and the compressible synthetic waste (rubber crumb) in order to lessen the edge effects imposed by the test chamber dimensions. The plastic sheet moved with the synthetic waste, allowing slip of the interface between the box side and sacrificial plastic layer. Direct shear testing showed that the interface friction angle between the rubber crumb and test chamber was 7° when a sacrificial sheet was included. The low friction on the side wall, resulted in an observed compression in the lower 200 mm of the synthetic waste being equal to 91% of the settlement in the top 200 mm of the

synthetic waste. Based on these measurements it was considered valid to model the experiment as a plane strain problem subjected to one dimensional compression.



Figure 1 Schematic of measuring box

A vertical slope was adopted to simplify load application, as a rigid plate of fixed dimensions was used for load application. This meant that the load application area could be kept constant, which reduced uncertainty in calculating the horizontal stress applied to the lining system.

2.2 Synthetic waste

Rubber crumb, with a grain size ranging from 2 to 8 mm, was selected as a synthetic waste material as it has similar compression behaviour, shear strength and mobilised horizontal stresses to municipal solid waste. However, unlike waste it does not exhibit large heterogeneity which would be problematic in tests of this scale. As the rubber particles do not yield during compression (i.e. elastic particle compression and particle reorganisation occurs representing recoverable and non recoverable settlement respectively), the rubber can be reused.

The compressive behaviour of the rubber crumb was tested at different scales using a CBR mould, a $0.125m^3$ test chamber and in the $1m^3$ test chamber. The shear strength of the rubber crumb was measured using a 100 x 100 mm shear box. The material was sheared at 1 mm/min in the first series of tests and 0.1 mm/min in the second series of tests, with no perceptible difference in the behaviour under the more rapid shearing. The shear strength of the rubber crumb under direct shear can be defined by a friction angle of 29.3° and an apparent cohesion of 3 kPa.

2.3 Geosynthetic materials

A non-woven geotextile was used with tensile strength (in the machine direction) of 20 kN/m, a thickness (at 2 kPa) of 3.9 mm, and tangential tensile modulus (at 50% strain) of 1.2×10^4 kPa. The geotextile was not anchored at the top and therefore did not develop tension at the top.

Three geomembranes were used in the investigation; two textured linear low density polyethylene (LLDPE) (one blown film, one impinged) geomembranes and one mono textured (impinged texturing) high density polyethylene (HDPE) geomembrane (tested both textured and smooth side up). The geomembrane properties are summarised in Table 1. The geomembrane was anchored at the top and therefore tension was able to develop.

	Type G LLDPE	Type S LLDPE	Type G HDPE	
Polymer Type	LLDPE	LLDPE	HDPE	
Manufacturer	Manufacturer G	Manufacturer S	Manufacturer G	
Texturing	Double	Double	Mono	
Texturing Type	Impinged	Blown film	Impinged	
2% modulus	4.2x10 ⁵ kPa	$4x10^5$ kPa	7x10 ⁵ kPa	
Compressive modulus (assumed)	$4.2 \mathrm{x} 10^4 \mathrm{kPa}$	$4x10^4$ kPa	$7x10^4$ kPa	
Thickness	1 mm	1 mm	1 mm	
Yield strength			16 kN/m	
Yield Elongation			9 %	
Break Strength	12 kN/m	17.5 kN/m	10 kN/m	
Break Elongation	250 %	400 %	100 %	

2.4 Load application

A total of 75 kN (7 x 10kN hydraulic loading increments, and 5 kN kentledge) of load was applied to the upper surface of the compressible synthetic waste. A hydraulic four point loading system was used to apply up to 70 kN to a rigid steel load plate (Figure 2). Due to the presence of the glass front to the test chamber the pressure application was limited to the 80 kPa exerted at the base of the chamber (75 kN applied load and 5 kN from the self weight of the material). Vertical strains of 28% were generated in the synthetic waste using this loading arrangement, which compare with total waste settlements in the range 20% to 30% (Jones and Dixon, 2003)



Figure 2 Photograph showing loading equipment

2.5 Instrumentation

2.5.1 Geosynthetic displacement

The relative displacement of five points on each of the geomembrane and geotextile were measured by attaching 1 mm diameter wires to the geosynthetics. The extensometer wires were attached at distances of 200 mm, 400 mm, 600 mm, 800 mm and 1000 mm from the base of each geosynthetic and were attached by passing them through a preformed hole in the geosynthetic and securing them with a brass swage to prevent deformation of the attachment and the geosynthetic. Although it is acknowledged that creating a hole in the geomembrane would not be acceptable on

site, this technique was used in the laboratory experiment as it created a smaller inclusion on the interface than the alternative if using a welded lug attachment. To prevent additional interaction with the geosynthetics, the wires were contained within brass tubing, 3 mm internal and 4 mm external diameter. This isolated the wires from the interface (i.e. so they could move freely) while providing adequate crushing resistance to avoid "pinching" of the wires. The wires were run, via pulley wheels, over displacement measuring boards (Figure 3) with each tensioned using a 200g static weight.



Figure 3 Geosynthetic instrumentation

2.5.2 Geomembrane tensile stress

The geomembrane samples were restrained in the vertical direction using a clamp attached to a fixed steel frame using two, 12 kN limit and 1 N resolution, tensile load cells (Figure 3). The cells were attached to the aluminium flat bar geomembrane clamp to through a two plane articulated joint to allow the cells to remain parallel to the load even if small movements in the clamp alignment occurred. No movement of the clamp arrangement was observed during the tests. A rigid frame, constructed from steel box section with welded joints, was assembled from which the tensile load cells were hung. Preliminary load tests were carried out with linear variable displacement transducer (LVDT) attached to ensure that deformations in the load cell support structure would not influence the readings.

2.5.3 Load plate displacement

An MTS Temposonics position sensor was used to measure the vertical displacement of the rigid loading plate. Vertical displacement of the load plate was measured a distance of 50 mm from the lining system, and located centrally (Figure 2). A four point loading system was used to retain the horizontal orientation of the loading plate.

2.5.4 Horizontal stress

In a separate series of tests, the horizontal stresses at the synthetic waste - lining system interface were measured using vibrating wire pressure cells. Two 400 mm x 400 mm cells were placed in the test chamber, one placed horizontally at a depth of 650 mm from the rigid and uncompressed lining support surface (350 mm from the base) and the other placed vertically, mounted in the lining support system, located with its centre coinciding with the plane of the horizontal cell. The loading sequence, of 5kPa kentledge and 7 x 10kPa hydraulic load increments, was applied, and readings taken from both pressure cells. To verify the readings taken from the cells, the test was then repeated with the two cells interchanged, and horizontal : vertical stress ratio calculated for each test and each cell. The results showed that the horizontal pressure at the interface increased linearly with increasing vertical pressure and the ratio of the horizontal to vertical pressure (K₀) was 0.55 (with a standard deviation of 0.013 for the 4 readings).

3.0Interface shear strength

Interface shear strength involving geosynthetics can show considerable variability (Koerner & Koerner 2001, Stoewahse *et al.* 2002), therefore, material specific interface shear tests were carried out on the materials used in the laboratory investigation. Three types of interface were tested in a direct shear apparatus with a shear area of 300 x 300 mm designed specifically for measuring geosynthetic interface behaviour:

• Wood subgrade – Geomembrane: The geomembrane was clamped to the lower (moving) box, whilst the load was applied to the wood placed in the (stationary) upper box.

- Geomembrane Geotextile: The geomembrane was clamped to the lower box and the geotextile was attached to the upper box. Load was applied to the geotextile through a 50 mm layer of synthetic waste.
- Geotextile Synthetic waste: The geotextile was clamped to the lower box. The upper box contained a 50 mm thick layer of synthetic waste through which the load was applied.

Normal stresses of 10, 30 and 50 kPa were used to be representative of expected stresses acting normal to the lining system. Tests were carried out at a rate of 1 mm/minute to a displacement of 80 mm. The shear stress displacement curves were then used to assess the interface stiffness and strain dependant interface shear strength properties for each combination of multilayered lining elements. It should be acknowledged that in some cases a true residual value of shear strength was not reached at the 80 mm displacement achieved in the shear box.

Figures 4 and 5 show the direct shear results for lining systems involving LLDPE textured geomembranes Types G and S respectively. The synthetic waste – geotextile interface shear strength is the same in both cases, however, the interface shear strength of the Type G LLDPE geomembrane – geotextile interface is significantly higher than the Type S LLDPE geomembrane – geotextile interface. For lining systems involving mono textured HDPE geomembrane with the textured side up (Figure 6), the shear stress displacement curves are very similar to the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, as they both involve the same texturing type and are produced by the same manufacturer. For lining systems involving mono textured HDPE geomembrane interface strength is clearly much lower than in the other cases. The presence of texturing has little effect on the smooth wood subgrade geomembrane interface as there are no appreciable asperities on the wood with which the texturing can interact. The peak and large displacement shear strengths are summarised in Table 2.



Figure 4 Shear stress displacement curves measured from direct shear tests (Type G textured LLDPE Geomembrane).



Figure 5 Shear stress displacement curves measured from direct shear tests (Type S textured LLDPE geomembrane).



Figure 6 Shear stress displacement curves measured from direct shear tests (Mono textured HDPE geomembrane, textured side up).



Figure 7 Shear stress displacement curves measured from direct shear tests (Mono textured HDPE geomembrane, smooth side up).

Interface	α _{peak} (kPa)	δ _{peak} (°)	α _{LD} (kPa)	δ _{LD} (°)	Test
Synthetic Waste vs. Geotextile	4.4	29.9	3.3	29.8	All
Type G LLDPE GM vs. Geotextile	8.2	27.5	5.6	16.5	T2 & T5
Type G LLDPE GM vs. Wood	1.0	8.9	0.5	8.1	
Type S LLDPE GM vs. Geotextile	1.0	29.0	2.0	18.8	<u> </u>
Type S LLDPE GM vs. Wood	0.7	9.8	0.8	7.7	10 & 19
Type G HDPE (tex) GM vs Geotextile	8.0	29.4	5.4	18.7	Т?
Type G HDPE (smooth) GM vs Wood	0.8	10.1	0.5	10.2	13
Type G HDPE (smooth) GM vs Geotextile	0.4	11.7	0.4	9.0	Τ4
Type G HDPE (tex) GM vs Wood	0.8	9.2	0.4	8.0	14

Table 2 Summary of peak interface shear strengths

LD = Large displacement

4.0Numerical modelling

The finite difference numerical explicit modelling code FLAC (version 4.00) has been selected to analyse side slope lining systems primarily due to its ability to model large strains and previous experience using it to assess multilayered geosynthetic interfaces (Fowmes *et al.* 2005, 2006).

4.1 Modelling grid

The finite difference modelling grid used in the analysis consists of 3 zones of elements, representing the wood subgrade, the compressible synthetic waste and the relatively incompressible steel test chamber side. In the modelling grid, before deformation, each zone represents a 20 mm x 20 mm cube of material under plane strain conditions (Figure 8).



Figure 8 FLAC modelling grid used to assess model with 20 mm grid zones (prior to deformation).

4.2 Constitutive model for synthetic waste

The synthetic waste has been modelled using a linear elastic material model with a Mohr-Coulomb failure criterion, with shear strength parameters of 29.3° friction angle and 3kPa apparent cohesion. By necessity the numerical modeller must simplify the real world problem and in commercial modelling applications, particularly for municipal solid waste, it is common practice to use a linear-elastic constitutive model with a Mohr-Coulomb failure criterion. Hence it is considered appropriate to assess the validity of the modelling process using this commonly applied constitutive material model. A limitation of using a linear elastic Mohr-Coulomb constitutive model is that the volumetric strain hardening of the synthetic waste is simplified to a linear modulus. A model with coupled volumetric and shear behaviour which are interdependent may be more appropriate in the case of synthetic waste. Although with two modes of internal deformation, particle deformation and particle rearrangement occurring, the synthetic waste has complex behaviour that cannot be currently modelled using commercially available material constitutive models. Using data from confined compression testing of the synthetic waste, as described in section 2.2, a secant constrained modulus (at 75 kPa applied stress), was obtained and a Young's

modulus of 189 kPa was calculated. A Poisson's ratio of 0.25 was assumed to generate appropriate settlement and horizontal stress behaviour.

4.3 Modelling of geosynthetics

The geosynthetic elements have been represented in the model using structural beam elements (following Itasca, 2002). Multiple beam elements can be placed in the nulled region between two grid elements, in this case one grid representing the synthetic waste and the other grid representing the wooden subgrade. The beams only interact, with each other and with the grid, through interfaces, which control the interface shear and normal displacement characteristics.

The beams were modelled using a linear elastic law, however, code was written to allow for the material to have a lower modulus in compression than in tension. An arbitrary value of $E_{Tension} = 10$ ($E_{Compression}$) was adopted from experience to ensure that in compression the interface properties control the compression behaviour rather than a rigid beam resisting compression. This is similar to the approach adopted by Villard *et al.* (1999), who used a compressive stiffness of 20 and 10 times lower than the tensile stiffness for the geotextile and geomembrane respectively. Each beam element, prior to deformation, measured 20 mm in length.

Tensile strength data for the geomembranes and geotextiles was acquired from the manufacturers. The data for the LLDPE geomembranes included a 2% strain secant modulus which was considered appropriate for use in the investigations as preliminary calculations predicted strains of this magnitude. Data supplied for the HDPE geomembrane gave yield stress and strain values allowing a secant modulus at yield, however, this greatly underestimates the small strain (<2%) modulus. Giroud (1994) shows the 2% secant modulus of a HDPE to be over 3.5 times greater than a secant modulus at yield. It was thus decided to adopt a small strain tensile modulus (based on a 2% secant modulus), as this represented the appropriate magnitude of strain expected in the analysis. It is not recommended that 2% modulus values be adopted in design as this may result in overestimation of the material stiffness at strains in excess of 2%. In such cases, a conservative secant modulus at yield, or, if sufficient data is available, a strain dependant modulus may be adopted.

Paper 5. p15

4.4 Interface modelling

Each interface represents, prior to deformation, a contact length of 20 mm. Interfaces are given normal and shear stiffness values, and interface shear strength. The normal stiffness is taken as an arbitrarily high value to maintain numerical stability and solution speed, whilst avoiding any appreciable interpenetration. Interpenetration of interfaces, where one side of the interface passes into the other and an overlap of grid zones occurs, can be a particular problem when modelling large strain problems across multilayer lining systems as the interpenetration is cumulative across all of the interfaces in the lining system.

The interface model uses initial stiffness values, measured from the direct interface shear tests, and displacement dependent limiting shear strength values (failure envelope). A user coded piecewise function is used to define the relationship between the failure envelope and the relative interface shear displacements. Input data for this function is derived from direct interface shear tests. Verification of this method is provided by comparing the relative shear displacements calculated by this code and the relative shear displacements (RSD) calculated manually from node and grid position data. The strength parameters were defined as a strain dependant law through piecewise friction angle against displacement and adhesion against displacement functions. The 80 mm shear strength values in the measured direct shear tests were taken as large displacement values which remained constant with further displacement. A simple Mohr-Coulomb linear elastic interface, with a friction angle of 7°, is included between the synthetic waste and test chamber side.

4.5 Modelling of load application

The load was applied using a vertical stress to the upper surface of the grid. It is acknowledged that this allows for some slight deformation in the upper surface of the synthetic waste, whereas in the laboratory experiment, the upper surface of the synthetic waste remains horizontal due to the rigid load plate. Attempts were made to model the rigid load plate; however, this resulted in numerical instability (calculation difficulties) induced by the large stiffness gradient between the load plate and the synthetic waste. It was thus decided to apply the load directly to the upper surface of the synthetic waste.

5.0Results

5.1 Textured LLDPE geomembrane (Type G)

Two tests were carried out, T2 and T5, using Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane. The interface shear stress displacement curves for these tests are shown in Figure 4, whilst the results from the numerical and laboratory modelling are shown in Figure 9 as relative shear displacements at the interfaces. The two laboratory tests show similar results, indicating that behaviour of the test is repeatable. As the peak strength is higher for the geomembrane - geotextile interface than the geotextile – synthetic waste interface (Table 2), the largest relative shear displacements occur between the synthetic waste and geotextile and the displacements measured between the geotextile and geomembrane do not reach post peak values. The FLAC model showed a similar trend, although the constitutive model used did underestimate the displacement, between the synthetic waste and geotextile at depth in the synthetic waste profile.



Figure 9 Relative interface shear displacements between a) synthetic waste vs. geotextile b) Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane vs. geotextile and c) Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane vs. wooden subgrade.

The FLAC model shows a similar trend to the laboratory model for the displacements between the geomembrane and the wood subgrade, however, the model underestimated the displacement (and hence extension of the geomembrane). Most of the discrepancy occurs at the upper sampling point, in the unconfined section of geomembrane above the level of the (undeformed) synthetic waste. It may be the case that the secant modulus used underestimates the tensile strength at the strains developed in this investigation. A comparison between the tensions developed at the geomembrane anchorage in all of the laboratory tests and in the numerical analysis is shown in Figure 10. The maximum values recorded in the laboratory tests are 3.49 and 3.47 kN/m, whilst the FLAC analysis gives a maximum value of 3.93 kN/m. This is considered to be an acceptable correlation.



Figure 10 Tension in the geomembrane, at anchorage, from laboratory tests and FLAC models

5.2 Textured LLDPE geomembrane (Type S)

Unlike the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, which was delivered from the factory, the Type S LLDPE geomembrane was obtained from site and had some clay deposits on the surface. In the first test, T6, the clay was removed using a damp cloth, however, it

was subsequently thought that this may have damaged the texturing on the surface of the material, and as such a second test, T9, was carried out where the geomembrane was cleaned using a water jet.

The interface displacements show significantly greater displacements between the geomembrane and geotextile in T6 than in T9 (Figure 11) indicating that the cleaning process in T6 had damaged the texturing and lowering the interface shear strength. As a result the displacement between the geotextile and synthetic waste were lower in T6. The shear box tests used to derive the numerical input parameters were carried out on water cleaned geomembrane samples as in T9 and the results of the FLAC modelling shows good correlation to T9. The interim displacements between the geotextile and the synthetic waste are underestimated by the FLAC model and this is likely to be because the secant stiffness was chosen for the waste material rather than a volumetric strain hardening model.

The tension developed in the geomembrane during the test is shown in Figure 10. The tensile force at the geomembrane anchorage in T9 (2.36 kN/m) shows a good correlation with the FLAC model (2.57 kN/m), while a lower value is recorded for T6 (1.95 kN/m) due to the lower transferred stress across the geotextile – geomembrane interface. Greater tension was developed when testing the Type G geomembrane compared to Type S LLDPE due to the post peak strength reduction that occurred between the Type S LLDPE geomembrane and the geotextile which allowed increased displacement and lower shear stress transfer to the geomembrane.

5.3 Mono-textured HDPE geomembrane (textured side up) (Type G)

The displacements between the geomembrane – geotextile and the geotextile synthetic waste interfaces (shown in Figure 12) are very similar to those shown in Figure 9 for Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane as they have the same texturing type and are from the same manufacturer, with the only difference being the polymer composition. The change in polymer type does reduce the displacement on the geomembrane – wood subgrade interface, due to the reduction in tensile strain in the geomembrane with the higher modulus HDPE geomembrane.



Figure 11 Relative interface shear displacements between a) synthetic waste vs. geotextile b) Type S textured LLDPE geomembrane vs. geotextile and c) Type S textured LLDPE geomembrane vs. wooden subgrade.



Figure 12 Relative interface shear displacements between a) synthetic waste vs. geotextile b) Type G textured HDPE geomembrane vs. geotextile and c) Type G smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. wooden subgrade.
A comparison between the measured and modelled tension at the geomembrane anchorage is shown in Figure 10. A good correlation is observed between the measured and modelled value. The results show a small increase in measured tension compared to the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, possibly due to greater stress relaxation with increased strain in the LLDPE geomembrane. The behaviour of the FLAC model is very similar in both cases as the interface properties for the two analyses have very similar input parameters (see Table 2)

5.4 Mono-textured HDPE geomembrane (smooth side up) (Type G)

A second test was carried out on mono-textured HDPE geomembrane, in this case with the geomembrane placed smooth side up (i.e. against the geotextile). The effect on interface friction between the geomembrane and the wood was small (<1° change in friction angle, see Table 2) However, there is a large reduction in interface shear strength between the geomembrane and the geotextile compared to the textured geomembrane – geotextile interfaces and this resulted in large (>200 mm) displacements along this interface (Figure 13). As a result, the displacements on the geotextile - synthetic waste interface were reduced, and as less stress was transferred to the geomembrane, the geomembrane strains and geomembrane – wood subgrade displacements, were small. The FLAC analysis shows the same trends that were observed in the laboratory experiment. Although the FLAC analysis predicts more displacement between the geotextile and the synthetic waste and slightly less between the geomembrane and geotextile, the trend with depth of the displacements.



Figure 13 Relative interface shear displacements for a) synthetic waste vs. geotextile b) Type G smooth HDPE geomembrane vs. geotextile and c) Type G textured HDPE geomembrane vs. wooden subgrade.

The recorded maximum tensile force for T3 was 0.65 kN/m (Figure 10). This was much less than where a textured geomembrane – geotextile interface was present as the smooth geomembrane – geotextile interface results in lower stress transfer to the geomembrane. The FLAC model also shows the reduction in shear stress transferred into the geomembrane compared to textured membranes, although the shape of the curves with depth do not fit as well as for previous experiments. The constitutive model used for the synthetic waste may be responsible for this as a Mohr-Coulomb model generates sufficient horizontal stresses on the interfaces to transfer load into the lining system under self weight. However, at small loads the synthetic waste, which volumetrically hardens, does not generate sufficient shear stress in the lining system to cause tension in the geomembrane. Conversely, as the material stiffness increases with compression, there is increased stress transfer as shown at higher applied loads.

6.0 Discussion

The FLAC numerical modelling using multiple strain softening interfaces has been shown to reproduce the behaviour of a two layered geosynthetic lining system subjected to downdrag forces from a compressible material (i.e. synthetic waste body). Some discrepancies between the measured and the modelled results have been observed, however the general trends of displacement and strain magnitudes are represented by the numerical modelling.

The constitutive model used for the synthetic waste in this investigation is not able to reproduce the full observed behaviour of the synthetic waste in compression as it does not account for the volumetric strain hardening, and this may account for some of the discrepancies between the FLAC and laboratory models. However, it was considered appropriate to use the linear elastic Mohr-Coulomb model as it is the most commonly applied in commercial design and reliable input parameters could be readily obtained.

For the Type G textured LLDPE geomembrane and the Type G HDPE geomembrane, textured side up, the FLAC model shows less displacement than the physical model at the synthetic waste geotextile interface. The laboratory results assume displacement of the rubber crumb is a simple function of compression at the upper surface, and measured values within the geosynthetics on the other side, however, the FLAC

results show the relative positions of the grid and the beams (geosynthetics). The difference in these calculations is that the recorded values in the laboratory are omitting shearing of the synthetic waste, which accounts for the difference in the relative displacements compared to the FLAC predictions.

The representation of the geomembrane tensile load response is usually reported by manufacturers as stress and strain values at yield, and this may not be representative of stiffness behaviour at small strains, and can result in overestimation of predicted strain values. In this investigation 2% secant elastic moduli have been selected for the geomembranes and geotextile. This is still a simplification as stress strain response for geosynthetics is typically non linear and strain-rate dependent (Wesseloo *et al.*, 2004) Ideally, a representative geomembrane model would include the full stress strain behaviour, obtained from wide width tensile tests, however, this data was not available for use in this study and is not commonly available for design.

In all of the analyses, but particularly when analysing the mono-textured HDPE geomembrane with the smooth side up, the model must account for compression of the geotextile, and compression of the lower portions of the geomembrane. Geotextile behaviour under compression is very difficult to model, firstly because the geomembrane compressive modulus under confined conditions is difficult to measure and secondly due to buckling failure modes occurring that result in formation of folds under high compressive strains (Villard el al., 1999). Geotextile folding is an extremely complex phenomenon to model numerically and although the modulus was reduced to account for reduced compressive stiffness when folds occur, modelling of actual folds is beyond the scope of continuum modelling techniques, particularly under commercially viable time scales. In the numerical modelling in this study, arbitrarily low compression stiffness was chosen so that compression behaviour was dependant on interface properties. However, at large compressions, where folding occurs this is still likely to underestimate the displacement of the geotextile. It is also observed in displaced samples that once folds form they tend to propagate at a point of focussed stress transfer into the geotextile. Figure 14 shows folding observed during the post test exhumation of Test T4, this resulted in greater geotextile compression in the lower 200 mm than the FLAC model predicted. The authors would suggest that designers consider the likely compressive strains in the system they are

analysing, and if large scale compression of a geosynthetics is predicted they allow for inaccuracies of the modelling procedure when assessing numerical model outputs and deriving design factors of safety.



Figure 14 Geotextile folding in lower 200 mm (Test 4: HDPE Geomembrane: Smooth up)

The FLAC model takes into account the complexities of synthetic waste behaviour, geosynthetic stiffness and interface shear strength mobilisation and post peak shear strength reduction, which is not possible in limit equilibrium analysis. The tension in the geomembrane was predicted by the FLAC model with a good degree of accuracy especially where a textured geomembrane – geotextile interface was present (12% difference at 75 kN applied load, for the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, and 8% difference for the Type G HDPE geomembrane textured side up and for the Type S LLDPE geomembrane). For the mono-texture HDPE geomembrane (smooth side up), the model prediction was less accurate (27% difference at 75 kN applied load) which is believed to be due in part to the simplified modelling of the compressive behaviour of the geomembrane.

The measured shear stress vs. shear displacement behaviour of geosynthetic interfaces is known to exhibit natural variability (Dixon. *et al.* 2006, Criley & Saint John 1997). Between three and five direct shear tests were carried out in this study on each interface to determine the interface shear strength and stiffness characteristics. The interface shear strength values for the geomembrane – geotextile interface from the testing have been compared to those values published by Dixon *et al.* (2006) and to an internal database that includes tests at low normal stresses. The values show good correlation, although it is interesting to note the difference in interface shear strength between the Type S LLDPE geomembrane and the Type G LLDPE geomembrane, (Table 2) despite the fact that both are 1 mm textured LLDPE geomembranes.

The peak interface shear strength for the Type G geomembrane – geotextile interface is greater than that for the geotextile – synthetic waste, hence interface post peak strength reduction, and associated large displacements do not occur on this interface. Despite a lower post peak strength at the Type G LLDPE geomembrane – geotextile interface than at the geotextile - synthetic waste interface, as post peak shear strength reduction does not occur, slip occurs at the interface with the weaker peak strength; the geotextile – synthetic waste interface. This agrees with Gilbert (2001) who states that the peak strengths are required to identify the location of slippage whilst the residual strengths are then needed to establish the residual strength of the system. The Type S geomembrane - geotextile peak interface shear strength is lower than the peak strength for the geotextile – synthetic waste interface, hence, post peak shear strength reduction occurs between the geotextile and geomembrane, with associated larger displacements. This highlights the importance of site specific interface shear strength testing. A designer selecting literature data for this scenario may greatly underestimate interface displacements, or geomembrane tension. It is acknowledged that even when the same tests are carried out by the same operator that interface shear strength variability occurs (Sia and Dixon, 2007) hence the measured strengths carried out in this investigation may have some variability from the actual interface strengths of the materials used in the model tests and this may account for some of the discrepancies between the measured and modelled test results.

The resolution of the displacement measuring equipment was limited to ± 0.5 mm, allowing a strain resolution of 0.5 % over a 200 mm gauge length. It is suggested that for further laboratory investigations that higher resolution displacement gauges would allow greater strain resolution and/or smaller gauge lengths. For field scale instrumentation it is suggested that the resolution used would be appropriate. The casing required to protect the wires would need to be revised for field scale experiments, as although the brass tubing was effective at laboratory scale, cost would likely inhibit its use at field scale. Under sloping lining systems, where a component of the self weight of the waste mass is also on the lining system, crushing resistance of the wire casing would become more important.

7.0Future work

The authors acknowledge that this investigation was to model the behaviour of a multilayered geosynthetic system subjected to downdrag forces and may not be representative of an actual landfill lining system. In particular, inclusion of a compacted clay liner underlying the lining system will make the model conditions representative of commonly used composite lining systems on shallow slopes but at the cost of significantly increased complexity. In order to further validate numerical models being used by designers and assess lining system behaviour, in addition to laboratory investigations on other material combinations, full scale field instrumentation of a landfill site should be carried out to assess model accuracy under real world conditions. The models reported here are focussed on waste like compression behaviour under self weight, and loading that would be applied by subsequent lifts of waste (i.e. only short-term construction, filling, behaviour is considered). It would be beneficial to measure lining system behaviour in response to degradation induced settlement, and the stress and stiffness changes induced by this.

Stress transfer through overlying drainage (i.e. gravel) and protection layers plays an important role in waste barrier interaction. It is suggested that future work be carried out to assess the stability and integrity of drainage layers, to determine the stress transfer through such layers and the effect of draining layer instability on behaviour of underlying geosynthetic lining systems.

Development of new geomembrane instrumentation techniques such as fibre optics and thin film pressure gauges would allow less intrusive measurements and a potential higher degree of precision at both laboratory and field scale. Development of instrumentation under controlled laboratory conditions as described herein would allow calibration and assessment of instrument performance and durability under loading conditions prior to being used in field applications. Further work to estimate the effects of geosynthetic compression on numerical results should also be considered.

8.0Conclusions

The paper has shown that laboratory scale behaviour of multilayered geosynthetic lining system subject to downdrag forces can be represented, to a reasonable degree of accuracy using the large strain FLAC finite difference modelling techniques incorporating strain softening interfaces. There are some discrepancies between the modelled values and the measured behaviour, which the authors believe are due to simplifications in modelling geosynthetic axial stress response (both tension and compression) and in the constitutive model used to represent the synthetic waste (rubber crumb). However, it is concluded that the modelling code and application methodology are appropriate.

The numerical model represents geosynthetic materials in tension with far greater precision than in compression, as compressive moduli of geosynthetics in confined conditions are not available and are very difficult to measure. The complexity, from a numerical analysis perspective, is greatly increased by the presence of folding in the geotextile, which occurs at large compressive strains. It is beyond the scope of the FLAC numerical modelling code to analyse this process or to predict where it may occur.

The use of numerical modelling techniques allows prediction of displacements, stresses and strains in multilayer geosynthetic lining systems with non linear interface behaviour. However, the outputs are always limited by the accuracy of the input parameters, the constitutive equations and the application of the numerical calculation technique and this must be considered by the design engineer. The scope of this analysis was to assess the comparison between the laboratory model and the FLAC predictions and not to assess or predict the performance of a landfill lining system. Whilst it is believed that this project represents a significant step in the validation of the numerical model behaviour, full scale field instrumentation of a landfill site would allow for assessment of model accuracy under in service conditions.

9.0Acknowledgements

Many thanks to GEOfabrics, Golder Associates and GSE Lining Technology Ltd. for supply of materials, and the EPSRC, CICE at Loughborough University, and Golder Associates for project funding.

References

Criley, K.R. & Saint John, D. (1997). Variability analysis of soil vs. geosynthetic interface friction characteristics by multiple direct shear testing. *Proc. of Geosynthetics 1997*, Long Beach, CA, 885-897.

Dixon, N. & Jones, D.R.V. (2003). *Stability of landfill lining systems: Guidance, Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385*, Report 2.

Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. and Fowmes, G.J. 2006. Interface shear strength variability and its use in reliability-based landfill stability analysis. *Geosynthetics International*, 2006, (13) No1 p 1.

Fowmes, G.J., Jones, D.R.V. and Dixon, N. 2005. Analysis of a landfill directive compliant steepwall lining system. *Proceedings 10th International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium*, Sardinia.

Fowmes, G.J., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V. 2006 and Cowland, J. Modelling of Lining System Integrity. *Proceedings 8th International Conference on Geosynthetics*, Yokohama, Japan, pp207.

Gilbert, R.B. (2001) Peak versus residual strength for waste containment systems. *Proc. GRI 15, Hot Topics in Geosynthetics II.* pp29-39.

Giroud, J.P. (1994) Mathematical Model of Geomembrane Stress-Strain Curves with a Yield Peak. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*. 13 (1994), 1-22.

Itasca Consulting Group Inc. 2002, FLAC version 4.00 user's guide, Second revision, April 2002.

Jones, D.R.V. & Dixon, N. (2003). *Stability of landfill lining systems: Literature review, Environment Agency Research and Development Project P1-385*, Report 1, pp 219.

Koerner, R.M. & Koerner, G.R. (2001). Geosynthetics design beyond factor of safety; risk assessment using probability of failure analysis. *Proc. GRI-15, Hot Topics in Geosynthetics-II*, December 2001, Houston, 235-253.

Long, J.H., Gilbert, R.B. and Daly, J.J. (1994) Geosynthetic Loads in Landfill Slopes: Displacement Compatibility. *Journal of Geotechnical Engineering*, Vol 120 No. 11 pp 2009. ASCE press.

Sia, A. H. I. and Dixon, N. (2007) Distribution and variability of interface shear strength and derived parameters. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes* 25 (2007) 139–154.

Stoewahse, C., Dixon, N., Jones, D.R.V., Blümel, W. & Kamugisha, P. (2002).Geosynthetic interface shear behaviour: Part 1 test methods, *Ground Engineering*, 35, 2, 35-41.

Thusyanthan, N.I., Madabhushi, S.P.G. and Singh, S. (2005) Tension in geomembranes on landfill slopes under static and earthquake loading – Centrifuge study. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes* 25 (2007) 78-95.

Villard, P., Gourc, J.P. and Feki, N. (1999) Analysis of geosynthetic lining systems
(GLS) undergoing large deformations. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, 17 (1999) 17
- 32

Wesseloo, J., Visser, A.T. and Rust, E. (2004) A mathematical model for the strainrate dependent stress-strain response of HDPE geomembranes. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes* 22 (2004) 273 – 295.